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The GEO Group has restated its financial statements

for the fiscal years 2002, 2003 and 2004. As a result,

the financial information contained in this Annual

Report for those years may not be relied upon.

The restated financial statements as filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission on August 17,

2005 on Form 10-K/A can be found under the SEC

Filings Section of The GEO Group's Investor Relations

webpage at , or at the

Securities and Exchange Commission's website at

www.thegeogroupinc.com

www.sec.gov.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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(In thousands, except per share data) 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000

Total Revenues $ 614,548 $ 567,441 $ 517,162 $ 502,733 $ 470,761 

Income before taxes, equity in earnings 
of affiliates, discontinued operations
and minority interest $  26,453 $ 78,163 $ 24,968 $ 18,843 $ 8,722 

Net Income $ 16,815 $ 44,761 $ 21,120 $ 18,894 $ 16,661 

Diluted Earnings Per Share $ 1.73 $ 2.83 $ 0.99 $ 0.89 $ 0.78 

Working Capital $ 104,950 $ 73,149 $ 63,659 $ 66,562 $ 55,038 

Total Assets $ 480,146 $ 510,533 $ 405,258 $ 242,565 $ 224,064

Shareholders’ Equity $ 106,848 $ 84,074 $ 150,616 $ 128,708 $ 126,201 

Diluted Weighted Average Common
Shares Outstanding 9,738 15,829 21,364 21,261 21,251 

"The strides we have made internally in 2004 to fortify our organizational and capital structures have

placed our company in an enviable position to fully achieve its growth potential. We are poised to take full

advantage of future business opportunities by leveraging our current organizational overhead structure."

George C. Zoley
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The GEO Group, Inc.

The GEO Group, Inc. is a world leader in the delivery of correctional and detention management services, health and men-

tal health services, and other diversified services to government agencies around the globe. Through its team of approxi-

mately 9,000 professionals, The GEO Group develops and implements tailored business solutions that meet the needs of

government clients throughout the world.

The GEO Group provides innovative, turnkey programs for the design, construction, financing and management of state-

of-the-art correctional and detention centers, including those focused on education, substance abuse treatment, counsel-

ing, work programs and community corrections services. In addition, The GEO Group designs, constructs, finances and

manages medical and mental health rehabilitation facilities that provide comprehensive services to patients in partnership

with state and local government agencies.

The GEO Group currently provides services in the United States, Canada, Australia, New Zealand, South Africa, and the

United Kingdom, managing 41 facilities with a total design capacity of approximately 36,000 beds. The GEO Group holds

a 21 percent share of the U.S. private correctional market and a 24 percent share of the international private correctional

market, for a global market share of 22 percent.

The GEO Group, Inc. is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "GGI."  For more information on The GEO

Group, Inc., please visit the Company's web site at www.thegeogroupinc.com

COMPCOMPANY PROFILEANY PROFILE



2 | GEO 2004 GEO 2004 | 3

To Our Shareholders

One of the true measures of success in business is a company's ability

to not only meet, but to find advantage in, unforeseen challenges.

Throughout our corporate history, we have demonstrated the ability to adapt

to changing circumstances and to be innovative in our pursuit of growth.

The year 2004 marked the completion of our company's evolution from a

corporate subsidiary into a truly independent company. This remarkable

transformation has been accompanied by several organizational challenges. 

Since our founding in 1984, we had always relied on an outside struc-

ture to perform our essential corporate support functions. As a result of

our new independence, our Information Systems, as well as our Legal, Tax,

Payroll, Human Resources and Risk Management Departments had to be

created from the ground up. During the year, we dedicated significant

amounts of time, energy and resources to solidify our newly created in-

house infrastructure. At the same time, we have taken steps to strength-

en our capital structure, which had always been constrained by our inabil-

ity to adequately access the capital markets due to the presence of a

majority shareholder. 

The strides we have made internally during the year to fortify our orga-

nizational and capital structures have placed our company in an enviable

position to fully achieve its growth potential. 

BUILDING A SOLID FOUNDATION

Understanding that a strong organizational structure is an indispensa-

ble key to our future growth success, we endeavored during the year to

intensify our efforts to strengthen our internal corporate support functions.

Our Information Systems Department made important strides in 2004 with

the implementation of a new and improved intranet and a 24-hour help desk

which provide critical and timely assistance to our personnel at our corpo-

rate and regional offices as well as in the field. Our Human Resources

Department launched the GEO Service Awards Program, designed to rec-

ognize the valuable contributions made by our professional staff through-

out the world, in addition to several other key initiatives which have

enhanced our employee benefits package. Our Legal, Tax, Payroll and Risk

Management departments have all taken steps to enhance and maximize

their contributions to our company's key support functions. We have

expanded and enhanced our corporate and regional resources to serve our

current client base more efficiently, as well as to better meet the needs of

future clients. We are poised to take full advantage of future business

opportunities by leveraging our current organizational overhead structure.

In addition to ensuring that our company has a strong organizational

structure, we have taken steps to make certain that we have a sound cap-

ital structure. To this end, in 2004 we used $43 million of the $80 million

in pre-tax proceeds from the 2003 sale of our 50 percent interest in our for-

mer joint venture in the United Kingdom, Premier Custodial Group Limited,

to reduce the $100 million term loan under our senior secured credit facil-

ity. This transaction has enhanced our ability to access the senior debt and

equity markets in the future which, along with our $92.8 million of cash-

on-hand, will enable us to achieve our strategic growth and expansion goals.

STRONG FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
INCREASING SHAREHOLDER VALUE

Our day-to-day operations, both in the U.S. and overseas, performed

remarkably well in 2004, setting higher standards in our industry and

achieving exceptional financial results. Revenues from continuing operations

in 2004 increased to $614.5 million, compared with $567.4 million in

2003. Pro-forma net income in 2004 was $14.4 million, compared with

$15.2 million in 2003. Pro-forma earnings per share in 2004 increased to

$1.48 compared with $0.97 in 2003.

Our outstanding 2004 financial achievements were driven by our con-

tinuing ability to meet the needs of our clients around the globe and by

Wayne H. Calabrese
Vice Chairman of the Board

President and Chief Operating Officer

George C. Zoley
Chairman of the Board
Chief Executive Officer
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strong industry fundamentals. An increased demand from government

agencies for detention bed space has continued to push our company-wide

occupancy rates to very high levels. These factors combined with a rise in

industry awareness within the investment community drove our stock price

to a 16.6 percent increase year over year, from $22.80 on December 31,

2003 to $26.58 on December 31, 2004.

THE GROWTH AHEAD

Since our inception, we have relied entirely on organic opportunities and

projects to grow our company. Because of our past constraints to adequate-

ly access the capital markets due to the majority control of our corporate

parent company, our remarkable growth was driven exclusively by our abil-

ity to win competitive procurements. Our historic success rate in this

respect has been notable. We have achieved significant growth milestones

over the past 20 years by developing the essential expertise required to deliv-

er unique and innovative services, while providing our clients with superi-

or value.

As we go forward, our company's core growth must continue to be driv-

en by a vigorous pursuit of organic growth opportunities and projects in

the areas of correctional and detention management and mental health

services, both on our domestic front as well as internationally. The organ-

ic growth pipeline for the private corrections industry currently is as robust

as it has been in many years. We have presently submitted proposals in

response to government procurements or on an unsolicited basis for

approximately 18,000 beds, both domestically and internationally.

Furthermore, we are in the process of submitting additional proposals in

response to government procurements or on an unsolicited basis for

approximately 2,300 beds. In addition, we expect to be competing with-

in the next 12 to 18 months for future procurements totaling approximate-

ly 22,000 beds.

Our efforts to capitalize on current industry trends and growth oppor-

tunities started to pay dividends at the end of 2004 when, after a very com-

petitive procurement process, we were selected to negotiate a contract with

Montgomery County, Texas for the management and operation of the

1,150-bed Montgomery County Jail. This momentum continued into early

2005 with the signing of a management contract with the California

Department of Corrections to reopen our 224-bed McFarland Community

Correctional Facility. We believe that these two important awards represent

a prelude to several other awards scheduled to be made during 2005. We

are committed to putting forth our best effort to make the most of these

growth prospects. 

To this end, and to take full advantage of the many international oppor-

tunities that we intend to pursue, we have re-established our once domi-

nant business presence in the United Kingdom with the opening of a Head

Office near London, England, and we have recruited very experienced local

professionals to lead our venture in this expanding marketplace.

The Mental Health Services area also presents significant upside poten-

tial. Our corporate subsidiary, Atlantic Shores Healthcare, has developed a

model for success in the delivery of mental health services through its part-

nership with the State of Florida since 1998 for the management of the

South Florida State Hospital. During 2004, we re-invigorated our mental

health business development efforts with the hiring of a new Senior Vice

President of Mental Health Services who is leading a team of talented pro-

fessionals to promote and market our mental health services to other gov-

ernment agencies around the country. 

While domestic and international organic project opportunities will con-

tinue to drive our growth and will allow us to create significant critical mass

in our core business areas of corrections and mental health, we now have,

for the first time in our corporate history, the ability to explore other

avenues for growth through the acquisition of selective companies that will

"Our compan"Our company’y’s cors coree

ggrroowth mwth must continust continue toue to
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complement our overall strategic goals and will contribute accretively to our

financial performance. Our approach in this respect will always be disciplined

and diligent, and we will make every effort to ensure that any prospects to

grow our company through acquisitions limit risks as well as enhance value

for our shareholders.

Additionally, given our high occupancy rates which approached 100 per-

cent for the entire year, we are presented with the possibility of expanding

a select number of our existing facilities. These expansion opportunities rep-

resent incremental growth for our company and are indicative of the con-

fidence that our government clients place in us when faced with increas-

ing correctional needs. These prospects are best exemplified by the current

543-bed expansion to our 1,318-bed South Bay Correctional Facility in

Florida, scheduled to be completed in the second quarter of 2005, and by

the recently announced 600-bed expansion to our 1,918-bed Lawton

Correctional Facility in Oklahoma, scheduled to become operational during

the second quarter of 2006.

In essence, we will continue to pursue growth opportunities in many

ways. Whether through organic competitive procurement processes in our

core correctional and mental health services, through the smooth execution

of accretive acquisitions of companies that complement our strategic goals,

or through the expansion of select existing facilities, our company is well

prepared, with solid organizational and capital structures, to take full

advantage of the opportunities that lie ahead.

.

George C. Zoley
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Wayne H. Calabrese
Vice Chairman, President and Chief Operating Officer
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George C. Zoley
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
The GEO Group, Inc.
George C. Zoley serves as Chairman of the
Board and Chief Executive Officer of The GEO
Group, Inc. Mr. Zoley founded the Company in
1984 and continues to play a major role in the
Company's worldwide operations and devel-
opment of new business opportunities. Prior to
founding the Company, Mr. Zoley served as
Manager, Director, and then Vice President of
Government Services at Wackenhut Services,
Inc. Mr. Zoley received his Bachelor's and
Master's Degrees in Public Administration from
Florida Atlantic University and his Doctorate
Degree in Public Administration from Nova
Southeastern University.

Wayne H. Calabrese
Vice Chairman, President and
Chief Operating Officer
The GEO Group, Inc.
Wayne H. Calabrese serves as Vice Chairman
of the Board, President and Chief Operating
Officer of The GEO Group, Inc. Mr. Calabrese
joined the Company as Vice President of
Business Development in 1989 and has served
in a range of increasingly senior operating posi-
tions since then. Prior to joining the Company,
Mr. Calabrese was a partner in the Akron, Ohio
law firm of Calabrese, Dobbins and Kepple. Mr.
Calabrese received his Bachelor's Degree in
Secondary Education from the University of
Akron and his Juris Doctor from the University
of Akron School of Law.

Norman A. Carlson 
Former Director
Federal Bureau of Prisons
Norman A. Carlson has served as a Director of
The GEO Group, Inc. since April 1994. Mr.
Carlson retired from the Department of Justice
in 1987 after serving as the Director of the
Federal Bureau of Prisons for 17 years. During
his 30-year career, Mr. Carlson worked at the
United States Penitentiary, Leavenworth,
Kansas, and at the Federal Correctional
Institution, Ashland, Kentucky. Mr. Carlson was
President of the American Correctional
Association from 1978 to 1980. Mr. Carlson is
a Fellow in the National Academy of Public
Administration.

The GEO Group’s Board of Directors (L-R): John M. Perzel, William M. Murphy, Wayne H. Calabrese,
George C. Zoley, Richard H. Glanton, Anne N. Foreman, Norman A. Carlson.

Anne N. Foreman
Former Under Secretary
United States Air Force 
Anne N. Foreman served as Under Secretary
of the United States Air Force from September
1989 until January 1993. Ms. Foreman also
served as General Counsel of the Department
of the Air Force and as Associate Director of
Presidential Personnel for National Security in
the White House. Ms. Foreman earned a
Bachelor's Degree, Magna Cum Laude, in
History and French, and a Master's Degree in
History from the University of Southern
California. She received her Juris Doctor from
American University and was awarded an
Honorary Doctorate of Law from Troy State
University.

Richard H. Glanton
Senior Vice President
Exelon Corporation
Richard H. Glanton serves as Senior Vice
President of Exelon Corporation. Mr. Glanton
had been a member of the Exelon Corporation
Board of Directors since its inception in October
2002. Prior to joining Exelon Corporation, Mr.
Glanton was a Partner in the General Corporate
Group of the law firm of Reed, Smith, Shaw and
McClay, LLP in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. He
received his Bachelor's Degree in English from
West Georgia College (renamed State
University of West Georgia) and his Juris Doctor
from the University of Virginia School of Law.

John M. Perzel 
Speaker
Pennsylvania House of Representatives
The Honorable John M. Perzel was sworn in as
Pennsylvania's Speaker of the House of
Representatives on April 15, 2003. Prior to
being elected Speaker, Mr. Perzel served four
consecutive terms as House Majority Leader.
Before being elected Majority Leader in 1994,
he held the offices of Republican Whip, Policy
Committee Chairman, and head of the House
Republican Campaign Committee. Mr. Perzel
was first elected to the Pennsylvania House of
Representatives in 1978. Mr. Perzel earned a
Bachelor's Degree from Troy State University in
1975.

William M. Murphy 
President
Douglas Management & Realty
William M. Murphy serves as President of
Douglas Management & Realty. Mr. Murphy
previously served as Vice President of Chase
Manhattan Bank, responsible for real estate
lending for the Southeastern United States,
and was also previously employed by Travers
Associates performing real estate feasibility
studies. Mr. Murphy has been a real estate
developer and investor in Florida since 1984. Mr.
Murphy earned a Bachelor's Degree in Civil
Engineering from the National University of
Ireland and a Master's Degree in Urban
Planning from New York University.

THE BOARD OF
DIRECTORS
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NORTH AMERICAN SERVICESNORTH AMERICAN SERVICES

GEO WORLD HEADQUARTERS
Boca Raton, FL

EASTERN REGIONAL OFFICE
Palm Beach Gardens, FL

Reeves County Detention Complex
Pecos, TX

Coke County Juvenile Justice Center
Bronte, TX

Val Verde Correctional Facility
Del Rio, TX

East Mississippi Correctional Facility
Meridian, MS

Sanders Estes Unit
Venus, TX

New Brunswick Youth Centre
Miramichi, NB, Canada

Maintenance Contract

Queens Private Correctional Facility
Jamaica, NY

Lawrenceville Correctional Center
Lawrenceville, VA

Rivers Correctional Institution
Winton, NC

Michigan Youth Correctional Facility
Baldwin, MI

Lea County Correctional Facility
Hobbs, NM

Guadalupe County Correctional Faciity
Santa Rosa, NM Lawton Correctional Facility

Lawton, OK

North Texas Intermediate Sanction Facility
Fort Worth, TX

George W. Hill Correctional Facility
Thornton, PA

South Bay Correctional Facility
South Bay, FL

South Florida State Hospital
Pembroke Pines, FL

Atlantic Shores Hospital
Ft. Lauderdale, FL

Broward Transition Center
Deerfield Beach, FL

Moore Haven Correctional Facility
Moore Haven, FL

3 Community Correctional Facilities
McFarland, CA

Taft Correctional Institution
Taft, CA

Marshall County Correctional Facility
Holly Springs, MS

Allen Correctional Center
Kinder, LA

Cleveland Correctional Center
Cleveland, TX

Central Valley Modified Community Correctional Facility
Golden State Modified Community Correctional Facility
McFarland Community Correctional Facility

Desert View Modified Community Correctional Facility
Adelanto, CA 

Western Region Detention Facility
San Diego, CA

Karnes Correctional Center
Karnes City, TX

Central Texas Detention Facility
San Antonio, TX

Lockhart Secure Work Program Facilities
Lockhart, TX

Kyle Correctional Center
Kyle, TX

Bridgeport Correctional Center
Bridgeport, TX

CENTRAL REGIONAL OFFICE
New Braunfels, TX

WESTERN REGIONAL OFFICE
Carlsbad, CA

Aurora ICE Processing Center
Aurora, CO
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LEVERAGING STRONG
INDUSTRY FUNDAMENTALS

Federal directives related to the continuous efforts by the Department

of Homeland Security and the Bureau of Immigration and Customs

Enforcement to secure the nation's borders and to detain illegal aliens as

well as efforts by the Federal Bureau of Prisons and the Office of Federal

Detention Trustee to support a growing federal inmate population have

resulted in increased funding for programs and initiatives designed to

address the increasing detention needs of the U.S. Federal Government. 

The Intelligence Reform and Terrorism Prevention Act of 2004 directs the

Department of Homeland Security to increase immigration detention bed

space by no less than 8,000 beds each fiscal year from 2006 through

2010. President George W. Bush's proposed budget for 2006 calls for

$16 billion in discretionary funding for border and transportation security,

including $176 million for the detention and removal of illegal aliens and

$90 million for increased detention beds and immigration officers, in addi-

tion to $1.2 billion in discretionary spending for the Office of Federal

The 1,200-bed Rivers Correctional Institution, located in Winton, North Carolina, provides
correctional services for the Federal Bureau of Prisons. The facility, designed and
constructed by The GEO Group, was completed in 365 days.

With over 20 years of experience and a strong regional operational structure, The GEO

Group is well positioned to partner with federal, state and local government agencies

across the country in addressing their correctional and detention needs.

With over 20 years of experience and a strong regional operational structure, The GEO

Group is well positioned to partner with federal, state and local government agencies

across the country in addressing their correctional and detention needs.

In July 1997, the Federal Bureau of Prisons selected The GEO Group to manage
the Taft Correctional Institution, a 2,048-bed low security prison in Taft,

California. This historic milestone marked the first time the Federal Bureau of
Prisons contracted out the management of one of its major institutions.



The 3,064-bed Reeves County Detention Complex ("RCDC"), located in Pecos, Texas, is

divided into three building units: RCDC I & II house inmates for the Federal Bureau of

Prisons, while RCDC III houses inmates for the State of Arizona Department of

Corrections.

The 3,064-bed Reeves County Detention Complex ("RCDC"), located in Pecos, Texas, is

divided into three building units: RCDC I & II house inmates for the Federal Bureau of

Prisons, while RCDC III houses inmates for the State of Arizona Department of

Corrections.
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Detention Trustee and $20 million in initial funding for the Federal Bureau

of Prisons to contract for 1,600 new private sector beds. 

This increased focus on federal detention policies along with the need

to satisfy future federal detention bed requirements will give rise to new part-

nership opportunities between federal detention agencies and private serv-

ice providers. The private corrections industry has played an increasingly

important role in addressing our nation's federal detention and correction-

al needs over the past four years. Since year-end 2000, the number of fed-

eral inmates held at private correctional and detention facilities has increased

over 40 percent. At the end of 2003, over 12 percent of all federal detainees

were held at facilities under private management.

In addition to these factors, overcrowding conditions continue to affect

state correctional systems across the country. Approximately 59 percent of

the 2.2 million individuals incarcerated in the U.S. at year-end 2003 were

held in state prisons, with the private sector housing approximately six

percent of them. With 22 states operating at or above their highest deten-

tion capacity and many others operating close to that capacity, jurisdictions

throughout the U.S. are exploring partnerships with private service providers

to address these challenges. 

The 1,918-bed Lawton Correctional Facility, located in Lawton, Oklahoma is under contract
with the State of Oklahoma Department of Corrections. A 600-bed facility expansion is

scheduled to be completed during the second quarter of 2006.



The 300-bed Broward Transition Center, located in Deerfield Beach, Florida, provides a

range of detention services, including food, laundry and health care, as well as

educational and vocational programs, for the Bureau of Immigration and Customs

Enforcement and for the Broward County Sheriff's Office.

The 300-bed Broward Transition Center, located in Deerfield Beach, Florida, provides a

range of detention services, including food, laundry and health care, as well as

educational and vocational programs, for the Bureau of Immigration and Customs

Enforcement and for the Broward County Sheriff's Office.
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The GEO Group, Inc. currently provides correctional and detention

management services for nine state clients as well as the Federal Bureau

of Prisons, the Bureau of Immigration and Customs Enforcement, and the

U.S. Marshals Service. With over 20 years of experience and with 32

domestic facility operations spread across 13 states and a strong operational

structure that includes three regional offices located respectively in Palm

Beach Gardens, Florida; New Braunfels, Texas; and Carlsbad, California, The

GEO Group is well positioned to partner with federal, state and local gov-

ernment agencies across the country in addressing their correctional and

detention needs. 

The 1,318-bed South Bay Correctional Facility, located in South Bay, Florida, houses adult male
offenders for the State of Florida. A 543-bed expansion to the facility is scheduled to become

operational in the second quarter of 2005.

The GEO Group assumed operational management of the 1,536-bed Lawrenceville Correctional
Center, Lawrenceville, Virginia through a competitive procurement process. On March 23, 2003,

GEO successfully transitioned the facility from its previous operator in 56 hours.
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INTERNATIONAL SERVICESINTERNATIONAL SERVICES

GEO AUSTRALIA
Head Office, Syndey, NSW

GEO UK
Head Office, Theale, England

SOUTH AFRICAN CUSTODIAL SERVICES
Head Office
Sandton, South Africa

Auckland Central Remand Prison
Auckland, NZ

Kutama Sinthumule Correctional Centre
Louis Trichardt, South Africa

Fulham Correctional Centre
West Sale, Victoria

Melbourne Custody Centre
Melbourne, Victoria

Arthur Gorrie Correctional  Centre
Brisbane, Queensland

Junee Correctional Centre
Junee, New South Wales

AAUSTRALIAUSTRALIA

SSOUTHOUTH AAFRICAFRICA

UUNITEDNITED KKINGDOMINGDOM

NNEWEW ZZEALANDEALAND
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PURSUING NEW GROWTH
OPPORTUNITIES INTERNATIONALLY 

During 2004, The GEO Group, Inc. remained a dominant internation-

al player as the only publicly traded U.S. correctional company with over-

seas operations in the countries of Australia, New Zealand, South Africa,

and Canada.

Important growth opportunities for the private corrections industry are

emerging in new and established international markets. In England and

Wales, where the government has decided that all new prisons will be built

and managed by the private sector, policy makers have recently expressed

the desire to procure the management of groups of prisons for the first time.

England, Scotland and Wales, which represent the second largest private

correctional market in the world, present significant new business oppor-

tunities for the private sector. Germany and other countries in continental

Europe are also exploring the potential privatization of prisons and correc-

tional centers. In order to vigorously pursue these opportunities and to re-

instate a dominant business presence in the United Kingdom and through-

out Europe, The GEO Group established a Head Office near London,

England in 2004. 

The 750-Bed Junee Correctional Centre, located in Junee, New South Wales, Australia, provides
offenders with opportunities to acquire enhanced educational, vocational, and social skills through
a variety of rehabilitation programs. The facility became the first correctional centre in Australia to

achieve the coveted 5 Star Grading Award from the National Safety Council of Australia, Ltd.

18 | GEO 2004

The  845-bed Fulham Correctional Centre in West Sale, Victoria, Australia
provides comprehensive correctional services for adult male offenders for the
State of Victoria. The Centre’s adjacent Nalu Challenge Community offers
transition services to approximately 68 sentenced offenders.

The GEO Group will continue to rely on the experience of its proven international

services team and the past successes achieved by its many subsidiaries and joint

ventures around the globe as it pursues new business opportunities in existing and

emerging international private correctional markets.

The GEO Group will continue to rely on the experience of its proven international

services team and the past successes achieved by its many subsidiaries and joint

ventures around the globe as it pursues new business opportunities in existing and

emerging international private correctional markets.
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In the Republic of South Africa, the Department of Correctional Services

has recently announced plans for the development and operation of four

new 3,000-bed prisons in partnership with private operators to alleviate

the country's growing demand for correctional bed space. The GEO

Group's management of the 3,024-bed Kutama Sinthumule Correctional

Centre, located in Louis Trichardt, has dramatically raised the standards of

South Africa's correctional services, achieving ISO 9001:2000 certification

in 2003 for the first time for a prison on the African continent and insti-

tuting best practices in the delivery of secure facilities, quality services and

innovative rehabilitation programs. This successful partnership has placed

The GEO Group in a remarkable position to strengthen its partnership with

South Africa's Department of Correctional Services as solicitations for

new prisons materialize. 

During 2004, The GEO Group remained a dominant force in the

Australasian private correctional market with the management of three cor-

rectional centres and one police custody centre in Australia and one cen-

tral remand prison in New Zealand. The company's partnerships with gov-

ernment entities in this important continent have continued to strength-

en as correctional and detention government agencies in the region search

for solutions to their ongoing needs.

The GEO Group will continue to rely on the experience of its proven

international services team and the past successes achieved by its many

subsidiaries and joint ventures around the globe as it pursues new busi-

ness opportunities in existing and emerging international private correc-

tional markets.

The 3,024-bed Kutama Sinthumule Correctional Centre in Louis Trichardt, Northern

Province, South Africa became the first prison on the African continent to earn ISO

9001:2000 certification in 2003.

The 3,024-bed Kutama Sinthumule Correctional Centre in Louis Trichardt, Northern

Province, South Africa became the first prison on the African continent to earn ISO

9001:2000 certification in 2003.

GEO’s Managing Directors at its International Head Offices. 
(Left to right) GEO Australia’s Pieter Bezuidenhout, South African Custodial Services’

Stephen Korabie and GEO UK’s Walter MacGowan.



MENTAL HEALTH SERVICESMENTAL HEALTH SERVICES

22 | GEO 2004 GEO 2004 | 23

With a re-invigorated marketing effort and with the remarkable success of its public-

private partnership at South Florida State Hospital, Atlantic Shores Healthcare is well

positioned to expand its innovative service offerings in the coming year.

With a re-invigorated marketing effort and with the remarkable success of its public-

private partnership at South Florida State Hospital, Atlantic Shores Healthcare is well

positioned to expand its innovative service offerings in the coming year.

Atlantic Shores Healthcare's 325-bed South Florida State Hospital, located in
Pembroke Pines, Florida is under contract with the State of Florida Department of
Children and Families. South Florida State Hospital leads the nation in innovative
programming and active patient treatment approaches.

SETTING NEW STANDARDS
IN MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES

Through a groundbreaking public-private partnership with the State of Florida's

Department of Children and Families, The GEO Group's corporate subsidiary, Atlantic

Shores Healthcare, Inc., has been setting new standards and raising the bar in the deliv-

ery of mental health services and treatments. Since 1998, Atlantic Shores Healthcare

has managed the South Florida State Hospital located in Pembroke Pines, Florida. Once

a deteriorating facility, South Florida State Hospital has become a model for success,

substantially improving the quality of care and leading the nation in innovative pro-

gramming and active patient treatment approaches.

One of the key measures used by mental health hospitals across the country to deter-

mine the efficiency of treatment programs and outcomes in patient care is the num-

ber of restraint and seclusion events that occur as a result of violent situations involv-

ing patients. Since 1998, the number of restraint and seclusion events taking place at

South Florida State Hospital has dramatically decreased from an average of 40 instances

in a given month to approximately one or two instances per year, which is well below

the national average. This remarkable improvement has garnered nationwide atten-

tion with The Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations recog-

nizing it as one of the industry's best practices. 

Two other treatment approaches being successfully implemented at South Florida

State Hospital have also been recognized as industry best practices by The Joint

Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations. These treatment approach-

es relate to Dialectical Behavior Therapy and Role Recovery Treatments. As a result of

instituting industry best practices, Atlantic Shores Healthcare has dramatically improved

the quality of patient care. This quality of care manifests itself in better utilization of

available governmental resources. Thus, more needy Floridians are being served than

ever before at this facility and at a lower cost to the taxpayer.

During 2004, The GEO Group intensified its efforts to promote and market its men-

tal health service offerings to other states around the U.S. with the appointment of

Jorge A. Dominicis as Senior Vice President of Mental Health Services and President

of Atlantic Shores Healthcare, Inc. The Company is currently exploring business devel-

opment opportunities in several state and local jurisdictions across the country. With

a re-invigorated marketing effort and with the remarkable success of its public-private

partnership at South Florida State Hospital, Atlantic Shores Healthcare is well positioned

to expand its innovative service offerings in the coming year.



Location Facility Type Capacity

Australia
Arthur Gorrie Correctional Centre Local Prison and Remand Centre - All Security Levels 710
Fulham Correctional Centre Adult Male Medium/Minimum Security 845
Junee Correctional Centre Adult Male/Female Medium/Minimum Security 750
Melbourne Custody Centre Court Escort and Custody Services - All Security Levels 67

New Zealand
Auckland Central Remand Prison Adult Male Remand - Maximum Security 381

South Africa
Kutama Sinthumule Correctional Centre Adult Male Maximum Security 3,024

INTERNAINTERNATIONAL SERTIONAL SERVICES TOTVICES TOTALAL 5,7775,777

TOTTOTAL NORAL NORTH AMERICAN AND INTERNATH AMERICAN AND INTERNATIONAL SERTIONAL SERVICESVICES 34,89434,894

Location Facility Type Capacity

HOSPITALS

AATTLLAANNTTIICC SSHHOORREESS HHEEAALLTTHHCCAARREE,, IINNCC..
Atlantic Shores Hospital (FL) Special Needs-Private Mental Health Hospital 72
South Florida State Hospital (FL) Special Needs-State Mental Health Hospital 325

MENTMENTAL HEALAL HEALTH SERTH SERVICES TOTVICES TOTALAL 397397

OTHER CONTRACTS

Canada
New Brunswick Youth Centre Male/Female Youthful Offenders (Maintenance Only) N/A

Australia
Pacific Shores Healthcare Health Services for the State of Victoria’s Public Prisons N/A

TOTTOTAL BEDS UNDER MANAGEMENTAL BEDS UNDER MANAGEMENT

35,29135,291

Location Facility Type Capacity

FEDERAL JURISDICTIONS

Aurora ICE Processing Center (CO) Immigration Detention-Male/Female 356
Queens Private Correctional Facility (NY) Immigration Detention-Male/Female 200
Rivers Correctional Institution (NC) Adult Male Low Security 1,200
Taft Correctional Institution (CA) Adult Male Low/Minimum Security 2,048
Western Region Detention Facility at San Diego (CA) Adult Male/Female Detention-Maximum Security 700

STATE JURIDICTIONS

California
Central Valley Modified Community Correctional Facility Adult Male Medium Security 550
Desert View Modified Community Correctional Facility Adult Male Medium Security 568
Golden State Modified Community Correctional Facility Adult Male Medium Security 550
McFarland Community Correctional Facility Adult Male Minimum Security 224

Florida
Moore Haven Correctional Facility Adult Male Medium Security 750
South Bay Correctional Facility Adult Male Close/Medium Security 1,318

Louisiana
Allen Correctional Center Adult Male Medium/Maximum Security 1,538

Michigan
Michigan Youth Correctional Facility Male Juveniles Adjudicated as Adult-Maximum Security 480

Mississippi
East Mississippi Correctional Facility Adult Male Mental Health - All Security Levels 1,000
Marshall County Correctional Facility Adult Male Medium Security 1,000

New Mexico
Guadalupe County Correctional Facility Adult Male Medium Security 600
Lea County Correctional Facility Adult Male All Security Levels 1,200

Oklahoma
Lawton Correctional Facility Adult Male Medium Security 1,918

Texas
Bridgeport Correctional Center Adult Male Pre-Release Center - Minimum Security 520
Cleveland Correctional Center Adult Male Medium Security 520
Coke County Juvenile Justice Center Juvenile Male Medium/Maximum Security 200
Kyle Correctional Center Adult Male Therapeutic Community - Minimum Security 520
Lockhart Secure Work Program Facilities Adult Male/Female Work Program Facilities - Minimum Security 1,000
North Texas Intermediate Sanction Facility Adult Male Short Term Offender - Minimum Security 400
Sanders Estes Unit Adult Male Minimum Security 1,000

Virginia
Lawrenceville Correctional Center Adult Male Medium Security 1,536

LOCAL JURISDICTIONS

George W. Hill Correctional Facility (PA) Male/Female/Juvenile All Security Levels 1,851

MULTIPLE JURISDICTIONS

Broward Transition Center (FL) Adult M/F Mininum Security Work Release & Female Immigration 300
Central Texas Detention Facility (TX) Adult Male/Female - All Security Levels 643
Karnes Correctional Center (TX) Adult Male All Security Levels 579
Reeves County Detention Complex (TX) Adult Male Detention Complex - All Security Levels 3,064
Val Verde Correctional Facility (TX) Adult Male/Female - All Security Levels 784

NORNORTH AMERICAN SERTH AMERICAN SERVICES TOTVICES TOTALAL 29,11729,117
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FACILITIES AND OPERATIONS (As of January 2, 2005)

North American Services International Services

Mental Health Services
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The GEO Group, Inc.

MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Our common stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “GGI.” The following table shows the high
and low prices for our common stock, as reported by the New York Stock Exchange, for each of the four quarters of fiscal years
2004 and 2003. The prices shown have been rounded to the nearest $1/100. The approximate number of shareholders of record
as of March 11, 2005, was 143.

2004 2003

Quarter High Low High Low

First $  24.23 $  19.80 $  11.32 $  8.48
Second 24.62 18.70 14.74 8.96
Third 21.00 17.33 19.92 13.71
Fourth 26.58 19.56 22.40 17.05

We did not pay any cash dividends on our common stock for fiscal years 2004 and 2003. We intend to retain our earnings to
finance the growth and development of our business and do not anticipate paying cash dividends on our capital stock in the fore-
seeable future. Future dividends, if any, will depend, on our future earnings, our capital requirements, our financial condition
and on such other factors as our board of directors may consider relevant. In addition, the indenture governing our $150.0 mil-
lion 81/4% senior notes due in 2013, and our $150.0 million senior credit facility also place material restrictions on our ability
to pay dividends. See “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis, Cash Flow and Liquidity” and “Item 8. Financial Statements
— Note 8 Debt” for further description of these restrictions.

We did not buy back any of our common stock during 2004. On July 9, 2003 we purchased all 12 million shares of our com-
mon stock beneficially owned by Group 4 Falck, our former 57% majority shareholder, for $132.0 million in cash.

Equity Compensation Plan Information
The following table sets forth information about our common stock that may be issued upon the exercise of options, warrants

and rights under all of our equity compensation plans as of January 2, 2005, including our 1994 Stock Option Plan, our 1994
Second Stock Option Plan, our 1999 Stock Option Plan, and our Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan. Our shareholders
have approved all of these plans.

(a) (b) (c)

Number of securities
Number of securities remaining available for

to be issued Weighted-average future issuance under
upon exercise of exercise price of equity compensation plans 

outstanding options, outstanding options, (excluding securities 
Plan category warrants and rights warrants and rights reflected in column (a))

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders 1,591,509 $  15.49 19,900
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders — — —

Total 1,591,509 $  15.49 19,900

Sales of Unregistered Securities
To facilitate the completion of the share purchase from Group 4 Falck, on July 9, 2003, we issued $150.0 million aggregate

principal amount ten-year 8 1/4% senior notes, referred to as the Notes, in a private offering to qualified institutional buyers under
Rule 144A of the Securities Act.

Subsequent to the private offering of the Notes, we filed an S-4 registration statement to register under the Securities Act of
1933 exchange notes, having substantially identical terms as the Notes, which we refer to as the Exchange Notes. The registra-
tion statement was declared effective by the SEC on November 10, 2003. We then completed an exchange offer pursuant to the
registration statement, in which holders of the Notes exchanged the Notes for the Exchange Notes which are generally freely trad-
able, subject to certain exceptions. We did not sell any securities that were unregistered under the Securities Act of 1933 in 2004.
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2003 Restated 2002 Restated 2001 Restated 2000 Restated

$ 567,441 100.0% $ 517,162 100.0% $ 502,733 100.0% $ 470,761 100.0%
30,140 5.4% 23,858 4.7% 18,162 3.6% 6,778 1.4%

$ 41,563 7.3% $ 18,188 3.6% $ 15,243 3.1% $ 8,556 1.8%

$ 2.67 $ 0.86 $ 0.72 $ 0.41

$ 2.63 $ 0.85 $ 0.72 $ 0.40

15,618 21,148 21,028 21,110
15,829 21,364 21,261 21,251

$ 191,691 $ 142,719 $ 141,003 $ 130,271
118,542 79,060 74,441 75,233
510,533 405,258 242,565 224,064
245,086 125,000 — 10,000

$ 84,074 $ 150,616 $ 128,708 $ 126,060

45 52 53 50
40 52 51 44

38,610 41,083 36,871 37,957

11,513,955 10,708,786 10,050,909 9,528,942

Fiscal Year Ended: (1) 2004

RESULTS OF CONTINUING OPERATIONS:
Revenues $ 614,548 100.0%
Operating Income from continuing operations 39,310 6.4%
Income from continuing operations $ 17,430 2.8%

Income from continuing operations per common share:
Basic: $ 1.86

Diluted: $ 1.79

Weighted Average Shares Outstanding:
Basic 9,384
Diluted 9,738

Financial Condition:
Current assets $ 222,646
Current liabilities 117,696
Total assets 480,146
Long-term debt, including current portion (excluding non-recourse debt) 198,204
Shareholders’ equity $ 106,848

Operational Data:
Contracts/awards 49
Facilities in operation 43
Design capacity of
contracts 35,266
Compensated resident
days (2) 12,599,290

(1) Our fiscal year ends on the Sunday closest to the calendar year end. Fiscal year ended January 2, 2005 contained 53 weeks. Discontinued
Operations have not been included with Selected Financial Data. Information related to Discontinued Operations is listed in “Item 8.
Financial Statements — Note 3 Discontinued Operations.”

(2) Compensated resident days are calculated as follows: (a) for per diem rate facilities — the number of beds occupied by residents on a
daily basis during the fiscal year; and (b) for fixed rate facilities — the design capacity of the facility multiplied by the number of days
the facility was in operation during the fiscal year. Amounts exclude compensated resident days for United Kingdom for all of the above
periods.

The GEO Group, Inc.

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
The selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with our 

consolidated financial statements and the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
(in thousands, except per share data)



The GEO Group, Inc.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION 
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Custodial Services Pty. Limited, which we refer to as SACS, and determined it is a variable interest entity. We determined that
we are not the primary beneficiary of SACS and as a result are not required to consolidate SACS under FIN 46R. We continue
to account for SACS as an equity affiliate. SACS was established in 2001, to design, finance and build the Kutama Sinthumule
Correctional Center and SACM was established to operate correctional centers. Subsequently, SACS was awarded a 25 year con-
tract to design, construct, manage and finance a facility in Louis Trichardt, South Africa. SACS, based on the terms of the con-
tract with government, was able to obtain long term financing to build the prison. The financing is fully guaranteed by the gov-
ernment, except in the event of default, for which it provides an 80% guarantee. “See Item 7. Financial Condition — Guarantees”
for a discussion of our guarantees related to SACS. Separately, SACS entered into a long term operating contract with SACM
to provide security and other management services and with SACS’s joint venture partner to provide purchasing, programs and
maintenance services upon completion of the construction phase, which concluded in February 2002. Our maximum exposure
for loss under this contract is $15.6 million, which represents our initial investment and the guarantees discussed in Item 7.

Shelf Registration Statement
On January 28, 2004, our universal shelf registration statement on Form S-3 was declared effective by the Securities and

Exchange Commission, which we refer to as the SEC. The universal shelf registration statement provides for the offer and sale
by us, from time to time, on a delayed basis, of up to $200.0 million aggregate amount of our common stock, preferred stock,
debt securities, warrants, and/or depositary shares. These securities, which may be offered in one or more offerings and in any
combination, will in each case be offered pursuant to a separate prospectus supplement issued at the time of the particular offer-
ing that will describe the specific types, amounts, prices and terms of the offered securities. Unless otherwise described in the
applicable prospectus supplement relating to the offered securities, we anticipate using the net proceeds of each offering for gen-
eral corporate purposes, including debt repayment, capital expenditures, acquisitions, business expansion, investments in sub-
sidiaries or affiliates, and/or working capital.

Share Purchase
On July 9, 2003 we purchased all 12 million shares of our common stock beneficially owned by Group 4 Falck, our former

57% majority shareholder, for $132.0 million in cash pursuant to the terms of a share purchase agreement, dated April 30, 2003,
by and among us, Group 4 Falck, our former parent company, The Wackenhut Corporation, or TWC, and Tuhnekcaw, Inc., an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Group 4 Falck.

In connection with the share purchase, the Services Agreement, dated October 28, 2002, between us and TWC, which we refer
to as the Services Agreement, terminated effective December 31, 2003, and no further payments for periods thereafter are due
from us to TWC under the Services Agreement. Following the share purchase and the termination of the Services Agreement
we internalized several functions previously outsourced to TWC, including payroll processing, human resources management,
tax and information systems.

Sale of Our Joint Venture Interest in Premier Custodial Group Limited
On July 2, 2003, we sold our one-half interest in Premier Custodial Group Limited, our former United Kingdom joint ven-

ture which we refer to as PCG, to Serco for approximately $80.7 million, on a pretax basis.

Recent Financings and Debt Repayment
In connection with the share purchase, we completed two financing transactions on July 9, 2003. First, we amended our for-

mer senior credit facility. The amended $150.0 million senior credit facility, which we refer to as the Senior Credit Facility, con-
sists of a $50.0 million, five-year revolving credit facility, with a $40.0 million sub limit for letters of credit, and a $100.0 mil-
lion, six-year term loan. Second, we offered and sold $150.0 million aggregate principal amount of 81/4% senior notes due 2013,
which we refer to as the Notes.

On June 25, 2004, as required by the terms of the indenture governing the Notes, we used $43.0 million of the net proceeds
from the sale of PCG to repay debt then outstanding under the Senior Credit Facility, and we wrote off approximately $0.3 mil-
lion in deferred financing costs related to this payment. As a result of the payment, our borrowings under the term loan portion
of the Senior Credit Facility were permanently reduced by $43.0 million.
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Introduction
We have restated our Consolidated Financial Statements for the fiscal years ended December 28, 2003 and December 29,

2002 to reflect the application of the appropriate accounting principles to the recognition of compensated absences accord-
ing to generally accepted accounting principles. Under generally accepted accounting principles compensated absences must
be accrued for hourly and salaried employees. The accrual must consist of the vested liability as well as the amount of the
unvested liability that is deemed to be earned under the rules that govern FAS No. 43 “Accounting for Compensated
Absences.” Prior to the restatement, the Company’s vacation expense and related accruals were understated for 2003, 2002
and prior periods. The impact of this restatement on such prior periods was reflected as a $3.2 million adjustment to
retained earnings as of December 30, 2001.

Additionally, we determined that under FAS 94, “Consolidation of All Majority-Owned Subsidiaries” we are required to
consolidate one of our joint ventures in South Africa (South African Custodial Management Pty. Limited, or SACM). We
determined that we had not properly applied FAS 94 for 2003 or 2002 for SACM. As a result we have restated our consol-
idated financial statements for fiscal year 2003 and 2002 included in this report to reflect the operations of SACM as a con-
solidated subsidiary. SACM was previously included in our consolidated balance sheets as investment and advances to affil-
iates, and in our consolidated statement of income as equity in earnings of affiliates.

Also, we reviewed our practice for depreciating leasehold improvements in part due to the recent attention and focus on
this area. We determined we inappropriately included option periods when determining the amortization period for certain
leasehold improvements. As a result our depreciation expense was understated for 2003, 2002 and prior periods. We have
restated our consolidated financial statements for 2003 and 2002 to reflect the amortization of these items, and its retained
earnings as of December 30, 2001 by $0.5 million, to reflect the impact on prior periods.

Adjustments as a result of the restatements described above, collectively referred to as the Restatements, for years ended
December 28, 2003 and December 29, 2002 resulted in a reduction in previously reported net income of $0.5 million and
$0.4 million, respectively. Basic and diluted income per share for the year ended December 28, 2003 was reduced by $0.04
and $0.03, respectively. Basic and diluted income per share for the year ended December 29, 2002 was reduced by $0.02
per share. In addition, as a result of the Restatements, retained earnings was reduced by $2.5 million and $2.0 million as of
December 28, 2003 and December 29, 2002, respectively. Also, as a result of the cumulative effect of the Restatements of
periods prior to 2002, the cumulative effect was to reduce opening retained earnings as of December 30, 2001 by $1.7 mil-
lion. For a discussion of the individual adjustments made as a result of the Restatements, see “Item 8. Financial Statements
— Note 2. Restatements” (Years ended December 28, 2003 and December 29, 2002.)

The following discussion and analysis provides information which management believes is relevant to an assessment and
understanding of our consolidated results of operations and financial condition. This discussion contains forward-looking
statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these for-
ward-looking statements as a result of numerous factors including, but not limited to, those described below under “Risks
Related to Our High Level of Indebtedness, Risks Related to Our Business and Industry and Forward-Looking Statements.”
The discussion should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto.

Discontinued Operations
Through our Australian subsidiary, we previously had a contract with the Department of Immigration, Multicultural and

Indigenous Affairs, or DIMIA, for the management and operation of Australia’s immigration centers. In 2003, the contract
was not renewed, and effective February 29, 2004, we completed the transition of the contract and exited the management
and operation of the DIMIA centers. The accompanying consolidated financial statements and notes reflect the operations
of DIMIA as a discontinued operation in all periods presented.

Variable Interest Entities
In January 2003, the FASB issued FIN No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities,” which addressed consoli-

dation by a business of variable interest entities in which it is the primary beneficiary. In December 2003, the FASB issued
FIN No. 46R which replaced FIN No. 46. We have reviewed our 50% owned South African joint venture in South African

The GEO Group, Inc.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION 
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION 
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

to contract performance. Changes in job performance, job conditions, and estimated profitability, including those arising from
contract penalty provisions, and final contract settlements, may result in revisions to estimated costs and income, and are rec-
ognized in the period in which the revisions are determined.

We extend credit to the governmental agencies we contract with and other parties in the normal course of business as a result
of billing and receiving payment for services thirty to sixty days in arrears. Further, we regularly review outstanding receivables,
and provide estimated losses through an allowance for doubtful accounts. In evaluating the level of established loss reserves, we
make judgments regarding our customers’ ability to make required payments, economic events and other factors. As the finan-
cial condition of these parties change, circumstances develop or additional information becomes available, adjustments to the
allowance for doubtful accounts may be required. We also perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers’ financial con-
dition and generally do not require collateral. We maintain reserves for potential credit losses, and such losses traditionally have
been within our expectations.

Reserves for Insurance Losses
Claims for which we are insured arising from our U.S. operations that have an occurrence date of October 1, 2002 or earli-

er are handled by TWC and are fully insured up to an aggregate limit of between $25.0 million and $50.0 million, depending
on the nature of the claim. With respect to claims for which we are insured arising after October 1, 2002, we maintain a gener-
al liability policy for all U.S. operations with $52.0 million per occurrence and in the aggregate. On October 1, 2004, we increased
our deductible on this general liability policy from $1.0 million to $3.0 million for each claim which occurs after October 1, 2004.
We also maintain insurance in amounts management deems adequate to cover property and casualty risks, workers’ compensa-
tion, medical malpractice and automobile liability. Our Australian subsidiary is required to carry tail insurance through 2011 relat-
ed to a discontinued contract. We also carry various types of insurance with respect to our operations in South Africa, Australia
and New Zealand.

Since our insurance policies generally have high deductible amounts (including a $3.0 million per claim deductible under our
general liability policy), losses are recorded as reported and a provision is made to cover losses incurred but not reported. Loss
reserves are undiscounted and are computed based on independent actuarial studies. Our management uses judgments in assess-
ing loss estimates based on actuarial studies, which include actual claim amounts and loss development considering historical
and industry experience. If actual losses related to insurance claims significantly differ from our estimates, our financial condi-
tion and results of operations could be materially impacted.

Income Taxes
We account for income taxes in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards, or FAS, No. 109, “Accounting for Income

Taxes.” Under this method, deferred income taxes are determined based on the estimated future tax effects of differences
between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities given the provisions of enacted tax laws. Deferred income
tax provisions and benefits are based on changes to the assets or liabilities from year to year. Valuation allowances are record-
ed related to deferred tax assets based on the “more likely than not” criteria of FAS No. 109.

In providing for deferred taxes, we consider tax regulations of the jurisdictions in which we operate, and estimates of future
taxable income and available tax planning strategies. If tax regulations, operating results or the ability to implement tax-plan-
ning strategies vary, adjustments to the carrying value of deferred tax assets and liabilities may be required.

On October 22, 2004, the President of the United States signed into law the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004, which we
refer to as AJCA. A key provision of the AJCA creates a temporary incentive for U.S. corporations to repatriate undistributed
income earned abroad by providing an 85 percent dividends received deduction for certain dividends from controlled foreign
corporations. In December 2004, we repatriated approximately $17.3 million in incentive dividends, as defined in the AJCA,
and recognized an income tax benefit of $0.2 million.

On November 19, 2004, a technical correction bill, the Tax Technical Corrections Act of 2004, was introduced in the House
of Representatives to clarify key elements in the AJCA. In January 2005, the Treasury Department began to issue the first of a
series of clarifying guidance documents related to the AJCA. If a technical correction bill similar to the Tax Technical Corrections
Act of 2004 is enacted, we would recognize an additional tax benefit of $1.7 million. While it is expected that new legislation
will be introduced into Congress to provide additional clarifying language on key elements of the provision, there can be no assur-
ance that such legislation will be enacted.
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Name Change
On November 25, 2003, our corporate name was changed from “Wackenhut Corrections Corporation” to “The GEO Group,

Inc.” The name change was required under the terms of the share purchase agreement between us and Group 4 Falck described
above. Under the terms of the share purchase agreement, we were also required to cease using the name, trademark and serv-
ice mark “Wackenhut” by July 9, 2004. In addition to achieving compliance with the terms of the share purchase agreement,
we believe that the change in our name to “The GEO Group, Inc.” helps to reinforce the fact that we are no longer affiliat-
ed with TWC or Group 4 Falck or their related entities. Following the name change, our New York Stock Exchange ticker
symbol was changed to “GGI” and our common stock now trades under that symbol.

Rights Agreement
On October 9, 2003, we entered into a rights agreement with EquiServe Trust Company, N.A., as rights agent. Under the

terms of the rights agreement, each share of our common stock carries with it one preferred share purchase right. If the rights
become exercisable pursuant to the rights agreement, each right entitles the registered holder to purchase from us one one-
thousandth of a share of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock at a fixed price, subject to adjustment. Until a right
is exercised, the holder of the right has no right to vote or receive dividends or any other rights as a shareholder as a result
of holding the right. The rights trade automatically with shares of our common stock, and may only be exercised in connec-
tion with certain attempts to acquire our company. The rights are designed to protect the interests of our company and our
shareholders against coercive acquisition tactics and encourage potential acquirers to negotiate with our board of directors
before attempting an acquisition. The rights may, but are not intended to, deter acquisition proposals that may be in the inter-
ests of our shareholders.

Critical Accounting Policies
We believe that the accounting policies described below are critical to understanding our business, results of operations

and financial condition because they involve the more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our con-
solidated financial statements. We have discussed the development, selection and application of our critical accounting poli-
cies with the audit committee of our board of directors, and our audit committee has reviewed our disclosure relating to our
critical accounting policies in this “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States. As such, we are required to make certain estimates, judgments and assumptions that we believe are reason-
able based upon the information available. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and lia-
bilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting peri-
od. We routinely evaluate our estimates based on historical experience and on various other assumptions that our manage-
ment believes are reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different
assumptions or conditions. If actual results significantly differ from our estimates, our financial condition and results of oper-
ations could be materially impacted.

Other significant accounting policies, primarily those with lower levels of uncertainty than those discussed below, are also
critical to understanding our consolidated financial statements. The notes to our consolidated financial statements contain
additional information related to our accounting policies and should be read in conjunction with this discussion.

Revenue Recognition
We recognize revenue in accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin, or SAB, No. 101, “Revenue Recognition in Financial

Statements”, as amended by SAB No. 104, “Revenue Recognition”, and related interpretations. Facility management rev-
enues are recognized as services are provided under facility management contracts with approved government appropria-
tions based on a net rate per day per inmate or on a fixed monthly rate.

Project development and design revenues are recognized as earned on a percentage of completion basis measured by the
percentage of costs incurred to date as compared to estimated total cost for each contract. This method is used because man-
agement considers costs incurred to date to be the best available measure of progress on these contracts. Provisions for esti-
mated losses on uncompleted contracts and changes to cost estimates are made in the period in which we determine that such
losses and changes are probable. Contract costs include all direct material and labor costs and those indirect costs related
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The following table sets forth certain items before tax which we consider relevant to the discussion below of our operating
results for 2004, 2003 and 2002:

Fiscal Year

(Dollars in thousands except per share data) 2004 2003 2002

Certain Items (before income taxes) 

Insurance reduction $ 4,150 $ — $ —
Jena, Louisiana write-off (3,000) (5,000) (1,100)
DIMIA insurance reserves — (3,600) —
Write-off of acquisition costs (1,306) — —
Gain on sale of UK joint venture — 61,034 —
Write-off of deferred financing fees (317) (1,989) —

Certain Items $ (473) $ 50,445 $ (1,100)
Amounts per diluted common share after-tax $ (0.03) $ 1.87 $ (0.03)

The following table delineates where the total of certain items above are classified in our Consolidated Statements of Income.
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Property and Equipment
As of January 2, 2005, we had approximately $197.0 million in long-lived property and equipment. Property and equip-

ment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the esti-
mated useful lives of the related assets. Buildings and improvements are depreciated over 2 to 40 years. Equipment and Furniture
and fixtures are depreciated over 3 to 7 years. Accelerated methods of depreciation are generally used for income tax pur-
poses. Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the useful life of the improvement
or the term of the lease. We perform ongoing evaluations of the estimated useful lives of our property and equipment for
depreciation purposes. The estimated useful lives are determined and continually evaluated based on the period over which
services are expected to be rendered by the asset. Maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred.

We review long-lived assets to be held and used for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount of such assets may not be fully recoverable. Determination of recoverability is based on an esti-
mate of undiscounted future cash flows resulting from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition. Measurement of an
impairment loss for long-lived assets that management expects to hold and use is based on the fair value of the asset. Long-
lived assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell. Management has
reviewed our long-lived assets and determined that there are no events requiring impairment loss recognition for the period
ended January 2, 2005. Events that would trigger an impairment assessment include deterioration of profits for a business
segment that has long-lived assets, or when other changes occur which might impair recovery of long-lived assets.

Idle Facilities
We have entered into ten year non cancelable operating leases with Correctional Properties Trust, or CPV, for eleven facil-

ities with initial terms that expire at various times beginning in April 2008 and extending through January 2010. In the event
that our facility management contract for one of these leased facilities is terminated, we would remain responsible for pay-
ments to CPV on the underlying lease. We will account for idle periods under any such lease in accordance with FAS No.
146 “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities.” Specifically, we will review our estimate for sub-
lease income and record a charge for the difference between the net present value of the sublease income and the lease expense
over the remaining term of the lease.

Results of Operations
The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the notes to the

consolidated financial statements accompanying this report. This discussion contains forward-looking statements that
involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking state-
ments as a result of certain factors, including, but not limited to, those described under “Risk Factors” and those included
in other portions of this report.

The discussion of our results of operations below excludes the results of our discontinued operations resulting from the
termination of our management contract with DIMIA for all periods presented. Through our Australian subsidiary, we had
a contract with DIMIA for the management and operation of Australia’s immigration centers. In 2003, the contract was not
renewed, and effective February 29, 2004, we completed the transition of the contract and exited the management and oper-
ation of the DIMIA centers.

For the purposes of the discussion below, “2004” means the 53 week fiscal year ended January 2, 2005, “2003” means
the 52 week fiscal year ended December 28, 2003, and “2002” means the 52 week fiscal year ended December 29, 2002.

Overview
GEO reported diluted earnings per share of $1.73, $2.83 and $0.99 in 2004, 2003, and 2002 respectively. For fiscal year

2004, the $1.73 amount included ($0.03) per diluted share for certain items, as detailed below, compared to the fiscal year
2003 $2.83 amount, which included $1.89 per diluted share for certain items. The fiscal year 2002 $0.99 amount included
($0.03) per diluted share for certain items. Charges from certain items are detailed below. Weighted average common shares
outstanding for fiscal year 2004 reflects a full year of the effect of our purchase of 12 million shares of our common stock
in the third quarter 2003.
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Fiscal Year

(Dollars in thousands) 2004 2003 2002
Certain Items represented in the various lines of the 
Consolidated Statements of Income

Operating Expenses $ 1,150 $ (8,000) $ (1,100)
General and Administrative Expenses (1,306) — —
Write-off of deferred financing fees (317) (1,989) —
Gain on Sale of UK joint venture — 61,034 —

Certain Items $ (473) $ 50,445 $ (1,100)

2004 versus 2003

Facility Operations 
% of % of

2004 Revenue 2003 Revenue $ Change % Change

(Dollars in thousands)

Revenue $  614,548 100.0% $  567,441 100.0% $  47,107 8.3%

The increase in revenues in 2004 compared to 2003 is primarily attributable to five items. (i) Australian and South African
revenues increased approximately $17.7 million, $9.7 million and $2.2 million of which was due to the strengthening of the
Australian dollar and South African Rand, respectively, and $5.8 million of which was due to higher occupancy rates and con-
tractual adjustments for inflation. (ii) Revenues derived from construction increased by $13.1 million in 2004 as compared to
2003 when construction revenue was insignificant. The construction revenue is related to our expansion of South Bay, one of
the facilities that we manage, and the expansion is expected to be completed by the end of the second quarter of 2005. (iii) The
opening of new facilities, including Reeves and Sanders Estes, resulted in a $13.1 million increase in revenue. The increase in
revenues also reflects $4.9 million of additional revenue in 2004 as a result of the fact that the Lawrenceville Correctional Facility,
which opened in March 2003, was operational for the entire period. (iv) Revenues increased in 2004 because it contained 53 weeks
compared to 2003, which contained 52 weeks. (v) Domestic revenues also increased due to contractual adjustments for infla-
tion, slightly higher occupancy rates and improved terms negotiated into a number of contracts. These increases were offset by



$24.6 million of lost revenue due to the non renewal in January 2004 of the management contracts for the Willacy State Jail and
John R. Lindsey State Jail, and the closure of the McFarland CCF State Correctional Facility on December 31, 2003. The McFarland
facility was reactivated on January 1, 2005.

The number of compensated resident days in domestic facilities increased to 10.5 million in 2004 from 9.8 million in 2003.
Compensated resident days in Australian and South African facilities during 2004 increased to 2.1 million from 1.8 million for
the comparable periods in 2003 primarily due to higher population levels. We look at the average occupancy in our facilities to
determine how we are managing our available beds. The average occupancy is calculated by taking capacity as a percentage of
compensated mandays. The average occupancy in our domestic, Australian and South African facilities combined was 99.1%
of capacity in 2004 compared to 100% in 2003. The decrease in the average occupancy is due to an increase in the number of
beds made available to us under our contracts.

% of % of
2004 Revenue 2003 Revenue $ Change % Change

(Dollars in thousands)

Operating Expenses $  514,908 83.8% $  484,018 85.3% $  30,890 6.4%

Operating expenses consist of those expenses incurred in the operation and management of our correctional, detention and
mental health facilities. Fiscal 2004 operating expenses include a $4.2 million reduction in our general liability, auto liability
and worker’s compensation insurance reserves that was made in the third quarter 2004. This reduction was the result of revised
actuarial projections related to loss estimates for the initial two years of our insurance program which was established on October
2, 2002. Prior to October 2, 2002, our insurance coverage was provided through an insurance program established by TWC, our
former parent company. We experienced significant adverse claims development in general liability and workers’ compensation
in the late 1990’s. Beginning in approximately 1999, we made significant operational changes and began to aggressively man-
age our risk in a proactive manner. However, these changes were not immediately realized in our loss estimates. These changes
have resulted in improved claims experience and loss development, which we have recently begun realizing in our actuarial pro-
jections. As a result of our adverse experience as an insured under TWC’s insurance program, we previously established our reserves
for the new insurance program above the actuary’s estimate in order to provide for potential adverse loss development. As a result
of improving loss trends, under our new program, our independent actuary reduced its expected losses for claims arising since
October 2, 2002. We have adjusted our reserve at January 2, 2005 at the actuary’s expected loss. There can be no assurance that
our improved claims experience and loss developments will continue.

Operating expenses in 2004 reflect an additional provision for operating losses of approximately $3.0 million related to our
inactive facility in Jena, Louisiana.

Operating expenses in 2003 reflect a provision for operating losses of approximately $5.0 million related to the Jena facili-
ty, and approximately $3.0 million primarily attributable to liability insurance expenses, related to the transitioning of the DIMIA
contract.

The remaining increase in operating expenses is consistent with the increase in revenues discussed above.

General and Administrative Expenses
% of % of

2004 Revenue 2003 Revenue $ Change % Change
(Dollars in thousands)
General and Administrative
Expenses $  45,879 7.5% $  39,379 6.9% $  6,500 16.5%

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of corporate management salaries and benefits, professional fees and
other administrative expenses. Compliance with Sarbanes-Oxley requirements for management’s assessment over internal con-
trols resulted in an increase in professional fees in 2004 of $1.0 million. Salary expense increased $5.0 million in 2004 as a result
of increased incentive targets under our senior officer incentive plan and the internalization of functions and services previous-
ly outsourced to TWC. In May 2004, we completed payments under employment agreements with certain key executives trig-
gered by the change in control from the sale of TWC in May 2002, resulting in a $2.4 million reduction in salary expense in 2004.
In addition, we were pursuing acquisition opportunities in 2004, and had capitalized direct and incremental costs related to poten-
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Interest Income and Interest Expense
% of % of

2004 Revenue 2003 Revenue $ Change % Change
(Dollars in thousands)

Interest Income $   9,598 1.6% $  6,874 1.2% $  2,724 39.6%
Interest Expense $ 22,138 3.6% $ 17,896 3.2% $  4,242 23.7%

The increase in interest income is primarily due to higher average invested cash balances. The increase also reflects
income from interest rate swap agreements entered into September 2003 for our domestic operations, which increased interest
income. The interest rate swap agreements in the aggregate notional amounts of $50.0 million are hedges against the change
in the fair value of a designated portion of the Notes due to changes in the underlying interest rates. The interest rate swap
agreements have payment and expiration dates and call provisions that coincide with the terms of the Notes.

The increase in interest expense is primarily attributable to the Notes, which began accruing interest on July 9, 2003. This
resulted in a full year of interest expense in 2004 as compared to approximately six months in 2003. On June 25, 2004, we
made a payment of approximately $43.0 million on the term loan portion of our Senior Credit Facility. Further, interest
expense reflects higher average interest rates during 2004.

Costs Associated with Debt Refinancing: Deferred financing fees of $0.3 million were written off in 2004 in connection
with the $43.0 million payment related to the term loan portion of the Senior Credit Facility. In 2003, the extinguishment of
debt resulted in write-offs of deferred financing fees of $2.0 million.

Sale of Joint Venture: Fiscal year 2003’s results of operations includes the sale of the UK joint venture for $80.7 million
which resulted in a gain of $61.0 million.

Income Taxes
% of % of

2004 Revenue 2003 Revenue $ Change % Change
(Dollars in thousands)

Income Taxes $  8,313 1.4% $  37,205 6.6% $  28,892 (77.7)%

The decrease in provision for income taxes is due to significantly higher taxes in 2003 as a result of the gain from the sale
of our 50% interest in PCG. Additionally, 2004 income tax expense includes a benefit from the realization in 2004 of approxi-
mately $3.4 million of foreign tax credits related to the gain on sale of PCG.

During 2004, we adjusted our tax provision to reflect an adjustment to our treatment of certain executive compensation.
During the fiscal years ended 2003 and 2002, along with the period ending June 27, 2004, we calculated our tax provision as if
our executive bonus plan met the Internal Revenue Service code section 162(m) requirements for deductibility. During 2004,
we discovered that the plan did not meet certain specific requirements of section 162(m). We recognized $1.4 million of addi-
tional tax provision under section 162(m) for 2004, including $0.6 million to correct our tax provision for the fiscal years
ended 2003 and 2002.

Equity in Earnings of Affiliates
% of % of

2004 Revenue 2003 Revenue $ Change % Change
(Dollars in thousands)

Equity in Earnings
of Affiliates $— 0.0% $1,250 0.2% $(1,250) (100.0)%

Equity in earnings of affiliates for 2004 represents the results of SACS only. In 2004 SACS reported no net income or loss.
Our 2003 equity in earnings of affiliates reflects the results of SACS and a half year of PCG, our United Kingdom joint ven-
ture, which we sold in July 2003.
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tial acquisitions. During the fourth quarter of 2004, we determined that the related acquisitions were no longer probable, and
wrote off the capitalized deferred acquisition costs of $1.3 million. Finally, the remaining increase in general and administra-
tive costs relates to other increases in professional fees, travel and rent expense for our corporate offices.



The increase in general and administrative expenses primarily relates to (i) increased deferred compensation costs for senior
executive compensation agreements (ii) payments under employment agreements with certain key executives triggered by the
change in control from the sale of TWC in May 2002 and (iii) increased professional fees, directors’ and officers’ insurance and
travel costs.

Interest Income and Interest Expense
% of % of

2003 Revenue 2002 Revenue $ Change % Change
(Dollars in thousands)

Interest Income $  6,874 1.2% $  4,848 0.9% $  2,026 41.8%
Interest Expense $  17,896 3.2% $  3,738 0.7% $ 14,158 378.8%

The increase in interest income is primarily due to higher average invested cash balances. The increase also reflects income
from an interest rate swap agreements entered into September 2003 for our domestic operations, which increased interest
income. The interest rate swap agreements in the aggregate notional amounts of $50.0 million are hedges against the change in
the fair value of a designated portion of the Notes due to changes in the underlying interest rates. The interest rate swap agree-
ments have payment and expiration dates and call provisions that coincide with the terms of the Notes.

The increase in interest expense is attributable to the debt incurred to finance the purchase of previously leased facilities for
approximately $155.0 million in December 2002. During 2003, we entered into the Senior Credit Facility and issued the Notes
for $150.0 million. The Senior Credit Facility was in effect for a full year in 2003 and only one month in 2002. The Notes were
issued on July 9, 2003.

Costs Associated with Debt Refinancing: We incurred a charge of $2.0 million for the write-off of deferred financing fees
related to the amendment of our previous credit agreement in July 2003.

Sale of Joint Venture: On July 2, 2003, we sold our 50% interest in PCG, our United Kingdom joint venture, for approxi-
mately $80.7 million. We recognized a gain of $61.0 million from the sale

Income Taxes
% of % of

2003 Revenue 2002 Revenue $ Change % Change
(Dollars in thousands)

Income Taxes $  37,205 6.6% $  11,312 2.2% $  25,893 228.9%

Provision for income taxes increased primarily due to the tax effect on the gain on sale of PCG in July 2003.

Equity in Earnings of Affiliates
% of % of

2003 Revenue 2002 Revenue $ Change % Change
(Dollars in thousands)

Equity in Earnings
of Affiliates $  1,250 0.2% $  4,958 1.0% $  (3,708) (74.8)%

Equity in earnings of affiliates for 2003 represents a full year of operating results for SACS and a half year of operating results
for PCG due to its sale in July of 2003. Equity in earnings of affiliates for 2002 reflects full year of operating results for SACS
and PCG, net of income tax provision.

Income/Loss from Discontinued Operations
% of % of

2003 Revenue 2002 Revenue $ Change % Change
(Dollars in thousands)

Discontinued Operations $  3,198 0.6% $  2,932 0.6% $  266 9.1%

Income from discontinued operations increased due to the strengthening of the Australian Dollar by approximately 20% during
2003 despite a decrease in revenue.
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Income/Loss from Discontinued Operations
Through our Australian subsidiary, we previously had a contract with the Department of Immigration, Multicultural and

Indigenous Affairs, or DIMIA, for the management and operation of Australia’s immigration centers. In 2003, the contract was
not renewed, and effective February 29, 2004, we completed the transition of the contract and exited the management and oper-
ation of the DIMIA centers. These facilities generated total revenue of $6.0 million and $62.7 during 2004 and 2003, respec-
tively. The loss in 2004 primarily relates to transition and exit costs.
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Fiscal 2003 Compared with 2002

Facility Operations 
% of % of

2003 Revenue 2002 Revenue $ Change % Change

(Dollars in thousands)

Revenue $567,441 100.0% $517,162 100.0% $50,279 9.7%

The increase in revenues in 2003 compared to 2002 primarily relates to three activities. The strengthening of the Australian
dollar and South African Rand increased revenues by approximately $15.6 million and $5.0 million, respectively. Revenues also
increased $4.7 million in 2003 as compared to 2002 because our facility in South Africa was open for the entire year in 2003 as
compared to approximately 6 months in 2002. Revenues increased $14.8 million as a result of the opening of the Lawrenceville
Correctional Facility at the end of the first quarter 2003. The remainder of the increase was due to contractual adjustments for
inflation, slightly higher occupancy rates and improved terms negotiated into a number of contracts. These increases were par-
tially reduced by $6.3 million in 2003 compared to 2002 due to the closure of the Bayamon Correctional Facility and South Bay
Sexually Violent Predator Program.

The number of compensated resident days in domestic facilities increased to 9.8 million in 2003 from 9.2 million in 2002.
Compensated resident days in Australian and South African facilities increased to 1.7 million in 2003 from 1.5 million in 2002.
We look at the average occupancy in our facilities to determine how we are managing our available beds. The average occupan-
cy is calculated by taking capacity as a percentage of compensated mandays. The average facility occupancy in domestic, Australian
and South African facilities was 100% of capacity in 2003 compared to 98.5% in 2002.

% of % of
2003 Revenue 2002 Revenue $ Change % Change

(Dollars in thousands)

Operating Expenses $  484,018 85.3% $449,442 86.9% $34,576 7.7%

Operating expenses in 2003 increased due to the opening of the Lawrenceville Correctional Facility in Virginia, a full year of
operations at our facility in South Africa, the impact of the stronger Australian dollar and South African Rand offset by lower
workers’ compensation and general liability insurance expense and lower lease expense as a result of purchasing previously leased
properties. The increase in operating expenses in 2003 is also attributable to an additional provision for operating loss of
approximately $5.0 million during 2003, compared to a $1.1 million provision in 2002 related to our inactive facility in Jena,
Louisiana. In 2003, there were costs of $3.0 million related to the transitioning of the DIMIA contract, primarily related to lia-
bility insurance expenses.

General and Administrative Expenses
% of % of

2003 Revenue 2002 Revenue $ Change % Change
(Dollars in thousands)
General and Administrative
Expenses $  39,379 6.9% $  32,146 6.2% $  7,233 22.5%
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interest at our option at the base rate plus a spread of 1.25%, or at LIBOR plus a spread of 2.5%. Borrowings under the Term
Loan Facility currently bear interest at LIBOR plus 2.5%. If an event of default occurs under the Senior Credit Facility, (i) all
LIBOR rate loans bear interest at the rate which is 2.0% in excess of the rate then applicable to LIBOR rate loans until the end
of the applicable interest period and thereafter at a rate which is 2.0% in excess of the rate then applicable to base rate loans,
and (ii) all base rate loans bear interest at a rate which is 2.0% in excess of the rate then applicable to base rate loans.

The Senior Credit Facility contains financial covenants which require us to maintain the following ratios, as computed at the
end of each fiscal quarter for the immediately preceding four quarter-period: a total leverage ratio equal to or less than 3.00 to
1.00 through July 2, 2005, which reduces thereafter in 0.25 increments to 2.50 to 1.00 on July 2, 2006 and thereafter; a senior
secured leverage ratio equal to or less than 1.50 to 1.00; and a fixed charge coverage ratio equal to or greater than 1.10 to 1.00.
In addition, the Senior Credit Facility prohibits us from making capital expenditures greater than $10.0 million in the aggregate
during any fiscal year, provided that to the extent that our capital expenditures during any fiscal year are less than the $10.0 mil-
lion limit, such amount will be added to the maximum amount of capital expenditures that we can make in the following year
and further provided that certain information technology related upgrades made prior to the end of 2005 will not count against
the annual limit on capital expenditures.

The Senior Credit Facility also requires us to maintain a minimum net worth, as computed at the end of each fiscal quarter
for the immediately preceding four quarter-period, equal to $140.0 million, plus the amount of the net gain from the sale of our
interest in PCG, which is approximately $32.7 million, minus the $132.0 million we used to complete the share purchase from
Group 4 Falck, plus 50% of our consolidated net income earned during each full fiscal quarter ending after the date of the Senior
Credit Facility, plus 50% of the aggregate increases in our consolidated shareholders’ equity that are attributable to the issuance
and sale of equity interests by us or any of our restricted subsidiaries (excluding intercompany issuances).

The Senior Credit Facility contains certain customary representations and warranties, and certain customary covenants that
restrict our ability to, among other things (i) create, incur or assume any indebtedness, (ii) incur liens, (iii) make loans and invest-
ments, (iv) engage in mergers, acquisitions and asset sales, (v) sell our assets, (vi) make certain restricted payments, including
declaring any cash dividends or redeem or repurchase capital stock, except as otherwise permitted, (vii) issue, sell or otherwise
dispose of our capital stock, (viii) transact with affiliates, (ix) make changes to our accounting treatment, (x) amend or modify
the terms of any subordinated indebtedness (including the Notes), (xi) enter into debt agreements that contain negative pledges
on our assets or covenants more restrictive than contained in the Senior Credit Facility, (xii) alter the business we conduct, and
(xiii) materially impair our lenders’ security interests in the collateral for our loans. The covenants in the Senior Credit Facility
can substantially restrict our business operations. See “Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our High Level of Indebtedness — The
covenants in the indenture governing the Notes and our Senior Credit Facility impose significant operating and financial restric-
tions which may adversely affect our ability to operate our business.”

Events of default under the Senior Credit Facility include, but are not limited to, (i) our failure to pay principal or interest
when due, (ii) our material breach of any representations or warranty, (iii) covenant defaults, (iv) bankruptcy, (v) cross default
to certain other indebtedness, (vi) unsatisfied final judgments over a threshold to be determined, (vii) material environmental
claims which are asserted against us, and (viii) a change of control.

Senior 81/4% Notes
To facilitate the completion of the purchase of the 12 million shares from Group 4 Falck, we amended the Senior Credit Facility

and issued $150.0 million aggregate principal amount, ten-year, 81/4% senior unsecured notes, which we refer to as the Notes,
in a private placement pursuant to Rule 144A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. The Notes are general, unsecured, sen-
ior obligations. Interest is payable semi-annually on January 15 and July 15 at 81/4%. The Notes are governed by the terms of
an Indenture, dated July 9, 2003, between us and the Bank of New York, as trustee, referred to as the Indenture. Under the terms
of the Indenture, at any time on or prior to July 15, 2006, we may redeem up to 35% of the Notes with the proceeds from equi-
ty offerings at 108.25% of the principal amount to be redeemed plus the payment of accrued and unpaid interest, and any appli-
cable liquidated damages. Additionally, after July 15, 2008, we may redeem, at our option, all or a portion of the Notes plus accrued
and unpaid interest at various redemption prices ranging from 104.125% to 100.000% of the principal amount to be redeemed,
depending on when the redemption occurs. The Indenture contains covenants that limit our ability to incur additional indebted-
ness, pay dividends or distributions on our common stock, repurchase our common stock, and prepay subordinated indebted-
ness. The Indenture also limits our ability to issue preferred stock, make certain types of investments, merge or consolidate with

Financial Condition

Liquidity and Capital Reserves
Current cash requirements consist of amounts needed for working capital, debt service, capital expenditures, supply pur-

chases and investments in joint ventures. Our primary source of liquidity to meet these requirements is cash flow from oper-
ations and borrowings under the $50.0 million revolving portion of our Senior Credit Facility. As of January 2, 2005, we
had $17.2 million available for borrowing under the revolving portion of the Senior Credit Facility.

We incurred substantial indebtedness in connection with the share purchase in 2003. As of January 2, 2005, we had $198.2
million of consolidated debt outstanding, excluding $44.7 million of non-recourse debt. As of January 2, 2005, we also had
outstanding nine letters of guarantee totaling approximately $6.7 million under separate international credit facilities. Our
significant debt service obligations could, under certain circumstances, have material consequences. See “Risk Factors —
Risks Related to Our High Level of Indebtedness.” However, our management believes that cash on hand, cash flows from
operations and our Senior Credit Facility will be adequate to support currently planned business expansion and various obli-
gations incurred in the operation of our business, both on a near and long-term basis.

In the future, our access to capital and ability to compete for future capital-intensive projects will be dependent upon, among
other things, our ability to meet certain financial covenants in the indenture governing the Notes and in our Senior Credit
Facility. A substantial decline in our financial performance could limit our access to capital and have a material adverse affect
on our liquidity and capital resources and, as a result, on our financial condition and results of operations.

Our business requires us to make various capital expenditures from time to time, including expenditures related to the
development of new correctional, detention and/or mental health facilities. In addition, some of our management contracts
require us to make substantial initial expenditures of cash in connection with opening or renovating a facility. Generally, these
initial expenditures are subsequently fully or partially recoverable as pass-through costs or are billable as a component of
the per diem rates or monthly fixed fees to the contracting agency over the original term of the contract. However, we can-
not assure you that any of these expenditures will, if made, be recovered. Based on current estimates of our capital needs,
we anticipate that our capital expenditures will not exceed $12.0 million during the next 12 months. We plan to fund these
capital expenditures from cash from operations or borrowings under the Senior Credit Facility.

The Senior Credit Facility
On July 9, 2003, we amended our Senior Credit Facility to consist of a $50.0 million, five-year revolving loan, referred

to as the Revolving Credit Facility, and a $100.0 million, six-year term loan, referred to as the Term Loan Facility. The Revolving
Credit Facility contains a $40.0 million sub limit for the issuance of standby letters of credit. On February 20, 2004, we amend-
ed the Senior Credit Facility to, among other things, reduce the interest rates applicable to borrowings under the Senior Credit
Facility, obtain flexibility to make certain information technology related capital expenditures and provide additional time
to reinvest the net proceeds from the sale of PCG. On June 25, 2004, we used $43.0 million of net proceeds from the sale
of PCG to permanently reduce the term loan portion of the Senior Credit Facility, and we also wrote off approximately $0.3
million in deferred financing costs related to this payment. At January 2, 2005, we had borrowings of $51.5 million outstand-
ing under the term loan portion of the Senior Credit Facility, no amounts outstanding under the revolving portion of the Senior
Credit Facility, and $32.8 million outstanding in letters of credit under the revolving portion of the Senior Credit Facility.

All of the obligations under the Senior Credit Facility are unconditionally guaranteed by each of our existing material
domestic subsidiaries. The Senior Credit Facility and the related guarantees are secured by substantially all of our present
and future tangible and intangible assets and all present and future tangible and intangible assets of each guarantor, includ-
ing but not limited to (i) a first-priority pledge of all of the outstanding capital stock owned by us and each guarantor, and
(ii) perfected first-priority security interests in all of our present and future tangible and intangible assets and the present and
future tangible and intangible assets of each guarantor.

Indebtedness under the Revolving Credit Facility bears interest at our option at the base rate plus a spread varying from
0.75% to 1.50% (depending upon a leverage-based pricing grid set forth in the Senior Credit Facility, or at the London inter-
bank offered rate, or LIBOR plus a spread, varying from 2.00% to 2.75% (depending upon a leverage-based pricing grid,
as defined in the Senior Credit Facility). As of January 2, 2005, there were no borrowings currently outstanding under the
Revolving Credit Facility. However, new borrowings would bear interest at LIBOR plus 2.25%. The Term Loan Facility bears
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to the same counterparties equal to the six-month LIBOR plus a fixed margin of 3.45%, also calculated on the notional $50.0
million amount.

Our Australian subsidiary is a party to an interest rate swap agreement to fix the interest rate on the variable rate non-recourse
debt to 9.7%. We have determined the swap to be an effective cash flow hedge. Accordingly, we record the value of the interest
rate swap in accumulated other comprehensive income, net of applicable income taxes. The total value of the swap liability as
of January 2, 2005 and December 28, 2003 was approximately $2.5 million and $5.2 million, respectively, and is recorded as a
component of other liabilities in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. There was no material ineffectiveness of
the interest rate swaps for the fiscal years presented.

In connection with the financing and management of one Australian facility, our wholly owned Australian subsidiary financed
the facility’s development and subsequent expansion in 2003 with long-term debt obligations, which are non-recourse to us. We
have consolidated the subsidiary’s direct finance lease receivable from the state government and related non-recourse debt each
totaling approximately $44.7 million and $43.9 million as of January 2, 2005 and December 28, 2003, respectively. As a con-
dition of the loan, we are required to maintain a restricted cash balance of AUD 5.0 million, which, at January 2, 2005, was approx-
imately $3.9 million. The term of the non-recourse debt is through 2017 and it bears interest at a variable rate quoted by certain
Australian banks plus 140 basis points. Any obligations or liabilities of the subsidiary are matched by a similar or correspon-
ding commitment from the government of the State of Victoria.

Cash Flow 
Cash and cash equivalents as of January 2, 2005 were $92.8 million, an increase of $40.6 million from December 28, 2003.

Cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations in 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $33.3 million, $17.3 million,
and $33.1 million, respectively. Cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations in 2003 was positively impact-
ed by an increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses and other liabilities. The increase in accounts payable and other
accrued expenses is attributable to the increase in value of our Australian subsidiary’s accounts payable and accrued expens-
es due to an increase in foreign exchange rates and an increase in reserves for self insurance. The increase in other liabilities
reflects an increase in the liability for the fair market value of our Australian subsidiary’s interest rate swap and an increase in
certain pension obligations.

Cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations in 2003 was negatively impacted by an increase in accounts
receivable. The increase in accounts receivable is attributable to the increase in value of our Australian subsidiary’s accounts receiv-
able due to an increase in foreign exchange rates, the addition of the Lawrenceville Correctional Facility and slightly higher month-
ly billings reflecting a general increase in facility occupancy levels.

Cash provided by investing activities in 2004 and 2003, was $42.1 million and $8.3 million, respectively. Cash used in invest-
ing activities in 2002 was $159.5 million. In 2004, there was a decrease in the restricted cash balance of $52.0 million due to
the payment of $43.0 million of the term loan portion of the Senior Credit Facility with the net proceeds of the sale of PCG. This
payment satisfied the restriction on cash imposed by the terms of the Senior Credit Facility and the remainder was reclassified
to cash. Cash provided by investing activities in 2003 reflects the gross proceeds from the sale of PCG offset by restricted cash
and capital expenditures in the normal course of business. During 2003, our wholly owned Australian subsidiary financed the
expansion of a facility with non-recourse debt. During 2002, we purchased four correctional facilities in operation under our prior
operating lease facility.

Cash used in financing activities in 2004 and 2003 was $47.1 million and $17.2 million, respectively. Cash provided by financ-
ing activities in 2002 was $126.1 million. Cash used in financing activities in 2004 reflect payments of $10.0 million on bor-
rowings under the Revolving Credit Facility, $4.0 million in scheduled payments on the Term Loan Facility, and a one-time $43.0
million payment on the Term Loan Facility from the net proceeds from the sale of our interest in PCG. The $10.0 million pro-
ceeds from debt reflect borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility in 2004. Cash used in financing activities in 2003 reflects
the sale of the Notes, and the purchase of 12 million shares of our common stock from Group 4 Falck for $132.0 million.
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another company, guarantee other indebtedness, create liens and transfer and sell assets. On June 25, 2004, as required by
the terms of the Indenture governing the Notes, we used $43.0 million of the net proceeds from the sale of PCG to perma-
nently reduce the Senior Credit Facility, and wrote off approximately $0.3 million in deferred financing costs related to this
payment.

The covenants in the Indenture can substantially restrict our business operations. See “Risk Factors — Risks Related to
Our High Level of Indebtedness — The covenants in the indenture governing the Notes and our Senior Credit Facility impose
significant operating and financial restrictions which may adversely affect our ability to operate our business.” We believe
that we were in compliance with all of the covenants of the Indenture governing the Notes as of January 2, 2005.

Subsequent to the private offering of the Notes, we filed an S-4 registration statement to register under the Securities Act
of 1933 exchange notes, referred to as the Exchange Notes, having substantially identical terms as the Notes. The registra-
tion statement was declared effective by the SEC on November 10, 2003. We then completed an exchange offer pursuant to
the registration statement, in which holders of the Notes exchanged the Notes for exchange notes, which we refer to as the
Notes, which are generally freely tradable, subject to certain exceptions.

Guarantees 
In connection with the creation of SACS, we entered into certain guarantees related to the financing, construction and

operation of the prison. We guaranteed certain obligations of SACS under its debt agreements up to a maximum amount of
60.0 million South African Rand, or approximately $10.6 million to SACS’ senior lenders through the issuance of letters of
credit. Additionally, SACS is required to fund a restricted account for the payment of certain costs in the event of contract
termination. We have guaranteed the payment of 50% of amounts which may be payable by SACS into the restricted account
and provided a standby letter of credit of 6.5 million South African Rand, or approximately $1.1 million as security for our
guarantee. Our obligations under this guarantee expire upon SACS’ release from its obligations in respect of the restricted
account under its debt agreements. No amounts have been drawn against these letters of credit, which are included in our
outstanding letters of credit under our Revolving Credit Facility.

We have agreed to provide a loan of up to 20.0 million South African Rand, or approximately $3.5 million (the “Standby
Facility”) to SACS for the purpose of financing SACS’ obligations under its contract with the South African government.
No amounts have been funded under the Standby Facility, and we do not anticipate that such funding will ever be required
by SACS. Our obligations under the Standby Facility expire upon the earlier of full funding or SACS’ release from its obli-
gations under its debt agreements. The lenders’ ability to draw on the Standby Facility is limited to certain circumstance,
including termination of the contract.

We have also guaranteed certain obligations of SACS to the security trustee for SACS lenders. We have secured our guar-
antee to the security trustee by ceding our rights to claims against SACS in respect of any loans or other finance agreements,
and by pledging our shares in SACS. Our liability under the guarantee is limited to the cession and pledge of shares. The
guarantee expires upon expiration of the cession and pledge agreements.

In connection with a design, build, finance and maintenance contract, we guaranteed certain potential tax obligations of
a special purpose entity. The potential estimated exposure of these obligations is CAN$2.5 million or approximately $2.1
million commencing in 2017. To secure this guarantee, we purchased Canadian dollar denominated securities with maturi-
ties matched to the estimated tax obligations in 2017 to 2021. We have recorded an asset and a liability equal to the current
fair market value of those securities on our balance sheet.

Interest Rate Swaps 
Effective September 18, 2003, we entered into interest rate swap agreements in the aggregate notional amount of $50.0

million. We have designated the swaps as hedges against changes in the fair value of a designated portion of the Notes due
to changes in underlying interest rates. Changes in the fair value of the interest rate swaps are recorded in earnings along
with related designated changes in the value of the Notes. The agreements, which have payment and expiration dates and
call provisions that coincide with the terms of the Notes, effectively convert $50.0 million of the Notes into variable rate obli-
gations. Under the agreements, we receive a fixed interest rate payment from the financial counterparties to the agreements
equal to 8.25% per year calculated on the notional $50.0 million amount, while we make a variable interest rate payment
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We own and operate the 480-bed Michigan Youth Correctional Facility in Baldwin, Michigan. We operate this facility pur-
suant to a management contract with the Michigan Department of Corrections, which we refer to as the DOC. Separately, we
lease the facility to the State with an initial term of 20 years followed by two 5-year options. The DOC can terminate the man-
agement contract for this facility unilaterally without cause upon 60 days’ notice to us. However, the State can only terminate
its lease of the facility prior to the expiration of the term of the lease if the State Legislature of Michigan, in its appropriation to
the state department of corrections, expressly prohibits the department from spending any appropriated moneys for lease pay-
ments. In February 2005, the Governor of Michigan proposed an executive order to the State Legislature to, among other things;
de-appropriate funds for the payment of operations and lease payments for the facility. The State Legislature did not approve
this order. However, we believe that the Governor of Michigan may submit an additional order or include a request in the State’s
2006 fiscal year budget that no appropriations be made for the payment of operations and lease payments for the facility.

If, at any time in a future appropriation to the state department of corrections, the State Legislature of Michigan expressly
prohibits the department from spending any appropriated money for lease payments related to the facility, the State will have
the right to terminate the lease. Additionally, in the event of such termination, the DOC would not have an interest in our oper-
ation of the facility and would likely terminate the management contract. We are undertaking efforts to seek continued appro-
priations by the State Legislature for the lease and the management contract for this facility, and as a contingency, we are under-
taking efforts to find an alternative use for the facility with another state or federal agency. However, there can be no assurances
that these efforts will be successful. In the event that the lease is terminated and our operations cease at the facility, our finan-
cial condition and results of operations would be materially adversely affected. In the event of such termination, we would assess
the facility for impairment in accordance with FAS 146 “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities.”

Inflation
We believe that inflation, in general, did not have a material effect on our results of operations during 2004, 2003 and 2002.

While some of our contracts include provisions for inflationary indexing, inflation could have a substantial adverse effect on our
results of operations in the future to the extent that wages and salaries, which represent our largest expense, increase at a faster
rate than the per diem or fixed rates received by us for our management services.

Contractual Obligations and Off Balance Sheet Arrangements 
The following is a table of certain of our contractual obligations, as of January 2, 2005, which requires us to make payments over the periods presented.

Payments Due By Period
(In thousands)

Less than More Than
Contractual Obligations Total 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years 5 Years

Long-Term Debt Obligations $  201,521 $  12,006 $  6,922 $  32,593 $  150,000

Operating Lease Obligations 140,343 32,929 65,531 27,406 14,477

Non-Recourse Debt 44,683 1,730 4,066 5,086 33,801 

Other Long-Term Liabilities 12,318 11,052 105 186 975

Total $  398,865 $  57,717 $  76,624 $  65,271 $  199,253

We do not have any off balance sheet arrangements which would subject us to additional liabilities.

Commitments and Contingencies
During 2000, our management contract at the 276-bed Jena Juvenile Justice Center in Jena, Louisiana was discontinued

by the mutual agreement of the parties. Despite the discontinuation of the management contract, we remain responsible for
payments on the underlying lease of the inactive facility with CPV through 2009. In the fourth quarter of 2004, we incurred
an operating charge of $3.0 million to cover our anticipated losses under the lease until an alternative correctional use for
the facility may be identified or a sublease for the facility may be in place. We have incurred additional operating charges
in prior periods related to lease payments for the facility including an operating charge of $5.0 million in third quarter 2003.
We are continuing our efforts to find an alternative correctional use or sublease for the facility. If we are unable to sublease
or find an alternative correctional use for the facility, an additional operating charge will be required. The current reserve
for loss of $5.8 million is sufficient to cover lease payments through January 2008. The remaining obligation on the Jena
lease through the contractual term of 2009, exclusive of the reserve for losses through early 2008, is approximately $4.3 
million.

Our contract with the Department of Homeland Security Bureau of Immigration and Customs Enforcement (“ICE”) for
the management of the 200-bed Queens Private Correctional Facility is set to expire March 31, 2005. ICE has the option to
renew the contract on an annual basis and must submit its notice to renew within sixty days of the start of a renewal period.
We have received notice of an extension through June 30, 2005 on the current terms and conditions of the existing contract.
However, ICE has not exercised its right to renew the option for the contract period April 1, 2005 through March 31, 2006.
During the year ended January 2, 2005, the contract for the Queens facility represented approximately 2% of the Company’s
consolidated revenues. We have a non cancelable operating lease for the Queens facility with CPV through April 28, 2008,
when the lease is scheduled to expire. We are currently in discussions with ICE regarding revised contract terms and con-
ditions and hope to obtain a full one-year extension of the facility contract. If we fail to obtain a full one-year contract exten-
sion with ICE or are unable to find an appropriate alternative correctional use for the facility or sublease the facility, we may
be required to record an operating charge related to a portion of the future lease costs with CPV in accordance with SFAS
No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities.” The remaining lease obligation is approximate-
ly $4.7 million through April 28, 2008.

In June 2004, we received notice of a third-party claim for property damage incurred during 2002 and 2001 at several
detention facilities that our Australian subsidiary formerly operated pursuant to our discontinued contract with DIMIA. The
claim did not specify the amount of damages the third-party may be seeking. Although the claim is in the initial stages and
we are still in the process of fully evaluating its merits, we believe that we have defenses to the allegations underlying the
claim and intend to vigorously defend our rights. While the claimant in this case has not quantified its damage claim and
the outcome of the matters discussed above cannot be predicted with certainty, based on information known to date, and man-
agement’s preliminary review of the claim, we believe that, if settled unfavorably, this matter could have a material adverse
effect on our financial condition and results of operations. We are uninsured for any damages or costs we may incur as a result
of this claim, including the expenses of defending the claim.
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RISK FACTORS

The following are certain of the risks to which our business operations are subject. Any of these risks could materially adverse-
ly affect our business, financial condition, or results of operations. These risks could also cause our actual results to differ mate-
rially from those indicated in the forward-looking statements contained herein and elsewhere. The risks described below are not
the only risks facing us. Additional risks not currently known to us or those we currently deem to be immaterial may also mate-
rially and adversely affect our business operations.

Risks Related to Our High Level of Indebtedness
Our significant level of indebtedness could adversely affect our financial condition and prevent us from fulfilling our
debt service obligations.

We have a significant amount of indebtedness. Our total consolidated long-term indebtedness as of January 2, 2005 was $198.2
million, excluding non recourse debt of $44.7 million. In addition, as of January 2, 2005, we had $32.8 million outstanding in
letters of credit under the revolving loan portion of our Senior Credit Facility. As a result, as of that date, we would have had
the ability to borrow an additional approximately $17.2 million under the revolving loan portion of our Senior Credit Facility,
subject to our satisfying the relevant borrowing conditions under the Senior Credit Facility with respect to the incurrence of addi-
tional indebtedness.

Our substantial indebtedness could have important consequences. For example, it could:

• require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to payments on our indebtedness, thereby reduc-
ing the availability of our cash flow to fund working capital, capital expenditures, and other general corporate purposes;

• limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in which we operate;

• increase our vulnerability to adverse economic and industry conditions;

• place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to competitors that may be less leveraged; and

• limit our ability to borrow additional funds or refinance existing indebtedness on favorable terms.

If we are unable to meet our debt service obligations, we may need to reduce capital expenditures, restructure or refinance
our indebtedness, obtain additional equity financing or sell assets. We may be unable to restructure or refinance our indebted-
ness, obtain additional equity financing or sell assets on satisfactory terms or at all. In addition, our ability to incur additional
indebtedness will be restricted by the terms of our Senior Credit Facility and the indenture governing our outstanding Notes.

Despite current indebtedness levels, we may still incur more indebtedness, which could further exacerbate the risks
described above. Future indebtedness issued pursuant to our universal shelf registration statement could have rights
superior to those of our existing or future indebtedness.

The terms of the indenture governing the Notes and our Senior Credit Facility restrict our ability to incur but do not prohib-
it us from incurring significant additional indebtedness in the future. In addition, we may refinance all or a portion of our indebt-
edness, including borrowings under our Senior Credit Facility, and incur more indebtedness as a result. If new indebtedness is
added to our and our subsidiaries’ current debt levels, the related risks that we and they now face could intensify. As of January
2, 2005, we would have had the ability to borrow an additional $17.2 million under the revolving loan portion of our Senior Credit
Facility. Additionally, on January 28, 2004, our universal shelf registration statement on Form S-3 was declared effective by the
SEC. The universal shelf registration statement provides for the offer and sale by us, from time to time, on a delayed basis of
up to $200.0 million aggregate amount of certain of our securities, including our debt securities. Any indebtedness incurred pur-
suant to the universal shelf registration statement will be created through the issuance of these debt securities. Such debt secu-
rities may be issued in more than one series and some of those series may have characteristics that provide them with rights that
are superior to those of other series of our debt securities that have already been created or that will be created in the future.
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This report and the documents incorporated by reference herein contain “forward-looking” statements within the mean-
ing of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended. “Forward-looking” statements are any statements that are not based on historical information. Statements other
than statements of historical facts included in this report, including, without limitation, statements regarding our future finan-
cial position, business strategy, budgets, projected costs and plans and objectives of management for future operations, are
“forward-looking” statements. Forward-looking statements generally can be identified by the use of forward-looking ter-
minology such as “may,” “will,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “plan,” “believe,” “seek,” “estimate” or “continue” or the
negative of such words or variations of such words and similar expressions. These statements are not guarantees of future
performance and involve certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions, which are difficult to predict. Therefore, actual out-
comes and results may differ materially from what is expressed or forecasted in such forward-looking statements and we
can give no assurance that such forward-looking statements will prove to be correct. Important factors that could cause actu-
al results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements, or “cautionary statements,”
include, but are not limited to:

• our ability to timely build and/or open facilities as planned, profitably manage such facilities and successfully inte-
grate such facilities into our operations without substantial additional costs;

• the instability of foreign exchange rates, exposing us to currency risks in Australia, New Zealand and South Africa,
or other countries in which we may choose to conduct our business;

• our exposure to appropriations risk on the Michigan Youth Correctional Facility;

• our ability to renew the operating contract for the Queens Correctional Facility beyond June 30, 2005;

• an increase in unreimbursed labor rates;

• our ability to expand and diversify our correctional and mental health services;

• our ability to win management contracts for which we have submitted proposals and to retain existing management
contracts;

• our ability to raise new project development capital given the often short-term nature of the customers’ commitment
to use newly developed facilities;

• our ability to reactivate our Jena, Louisiana facility, or to sublease or coordinate the sale of the facility with the owner
of the property, Correctional Properties Trust, or CPV;

• our ability to accurately project the size and growth of the domestic and international privatized corrections industry;

• our ability to estimate the government’s level of dependency on privatized correctional services;

• our ability to develop long-term earnings visibility;

• our ability to obtain future financing at competitive rates;

• our exposure to rising general insurance costs;

• our exposure to claims for which we are uninsured;

• our exposure to rising inmate medical costs;

• our ability to maintain occupancy rates at our facilities;

• our ability to manage costs and expenses relating to ongoing litigation arising from our operations;

• our ability to accurately estimate on an annual basis, loss reserves related to general liability, workers compensation
and automobile liability claims;

• the ability of our government customers to secure budgetary appropriations to fund their payment obligations to us;
and

• other factors contained in our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, including, but not
limited to, those detailed in our annual report on Form 10-K, our Form 10-Qs and our Form 8-Ks filed with the SEC.

We undertake no obligation to update publicly any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information,
future events or otherwise. All subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to us, or persons acting
on our behalf, are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements included in this report.
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to the six-month London Interbank Offered Rate plus a fixed margin of 3.45%, also calculated on the notional $50.0 million amount.
As a result, for every one percent increase in the interest rate applicable to the swap agreements, our total annual interest expense
will increase by $0.5 million.

We depend on distributions from our subsidiaries to make payments on our indebtedness. These distributions may not
be made.

We generate a substantial portion of our revenues from distributions on the equity interests we hold in our subsidiaries. Therefore,
our ability to meet our payment obligations on our indebtedness is substantially dependent on the earnings of our subsidiaries and
the payment of funds to us by our subsidiaries as dividends, loans, advances or other payments. Our subsidiaries are separate and
distinct legal entities and are not obligated to make funds available for payment of our other indebtedness in the form of loans, dis-
tributions or otherwise. Our subsidiaries’ ability to make any such loans, distributions or other payments to us will depend on their
earnings, business results, the terms of their existing and any future indebtedness, tax considerations and legal or contractual restric-
tions to which they may be subject. If our subsidiaries do not make such payments to us, our ability to repay our indebtedness will
be materially adversely affected. For the fiscal year ended January 2, 2005, our subsidiaries accounted for 16.9% of our consoli-
dated revenues, and, as of January 2, 2005 our subsidiaries accounted for 25.9% of our consolidated total assets.

The Notes are effectively subordinated to our senior secured indebtedness, which could impair our ability to pay amounts
due under the Notes.

The Notes are unsecured and therefore are effectively subordinated to our secured indebtedness, including the Senior Credit
Facility, to the extent of the value of the assets securing such indebtedness. In addition, the Indenture governing the Notes allows
us to incur an unlimited amount of additional indebtedness and to secure indebtedness, including any indebtedness incurred under
credit facilities, provided that we meet the fixed charge coverage ratio test set forth in the Indenture. In the event we are the sub-
ject of a bankruptcy, liquidation, dissolution, reorganization or similar proceeding, our assets securing our indebtedness could
not be used to pay the holder of the Notes until after all secured claims against us have been fully paid.

Our subsidiaries have not guaranteed the Notes and therefore the Notes will be effectively subordinated in right of pay-
ment to any and all indebtedness and other liabilities, including trade payables, of our subsidiaries.

None of our subsidiaries are obligors or guarantors of the Notes. Therefore, the claims of creditors of such subsidiaries, includ-
ing the claims of trade creditors of such subsidiaries, the claims of preferred shareholders of such subsidiaries (if any) and, with
respect to certain of our domestic subsidiaries that have guaranteed our obligations under the Senior Credit Facility, the claims
of lenders under the Senior Credit Facility, generally will have priority with respect to the assets and earnings of such subsidiaries
over the claims of our creditors. As a result, the Notes are effectively subordinated to all existing and future liabilities of our sub-
sidiaries and the right to receive payment under the Notes will be structurally junior to all of such liabilities. In the event of a
bankruptcy, liquidation, winding up, reorganization or similar proceeding involving a subsidiary, our right to receive assets of
that subsidiary and the consequent right of holders of the Notes to participate in a distribution of those assets to satisfy our obli-
gations under the Notes may be materially adversely affected. As of January 2, 2005, our subsidiaries had total indebtedness of
$44.7 million, and approximately $16.8 million of other liabilities, including trade payables but excluding intercompany obli-
gations, liabilities under guarantees of our obligations, and other obligations not reflected in our consolidated financial statements.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry
We are subject to the termination or non-renewal of our government contracts, which could adversely affect our results
of operations and liquidity, including our ability to secure new facility management contracts from other government
customers.

Governmental agencies may terminate a facility contract at any time without cause or use the possibility of termination to
negotiate a lower fee for per diem rates. They also generally have the right to renew facility contracts at their option.
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The covenants in the indenture governing the Notes and our Senior Credit Facility impose significant operating
and financial restrictions which may adversely affect our ability to operate our business.

The indenture governing the Notes and our Senior Credit Facility impose significant operating and financial restrictions
on us and certain of our subsidiaries, which we refer to as restricted subsidiaries. These restrictions limit our ability to, among
other things, incur additional indebtedness, pay dividends and or distributions on our capital stock, repurchase, redeem or
retire our capital stock, prepay subordinated indebtedness, make investments, issue preferred stock of subsidiaries, make cer-
tain types of investments, guarantee other indebtedness, create liens on our assets, transfer and sell assets, create or permit
restrictions on the ability of our restricted subsidiaries to make dividends or make other distributions to us, enter into sale/lease-
back transactions, enter into transactions with affiliates, and merge or consolidate with another company or sell all or sub-
stantially all of our assets.

These restrictions could limit our ability to finance our future operations or capital needs, make acquisitions or pursue
available business opportunities. In addition, our Senior Credit Facility requires us to maintain specified financial ratios and
satisfy certain financial covenants, including maintaining maximum senior and total leverage ratios, a minimum fixed
charge coverage ratio, a minimum net worth and a limit on the amount of our annual capital expenditures. Some of these
financial ratios become more restrictive over the life of the Senior Credit Facility. We may be required to take action to reduce
our indebtedness or to act in a manner contrary to our business objectives to meet these ratios and satisfy these covenants.
Our failure to comply with any of the covenants under our Senior Credit Facility and the indenture governing the Notes could
cause an event of default under such documents and result in an acceleration of all of our outstanding indebtedness. If all
of our outstanding indebtedness were to be accelerated, we likely would not be able to simultaneously satisfy all of our obli-
gations under such indebtedness, which would materially adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

Servicing our indebtedness will require a significant amount of cash. Our ability to generate cash depends on many
factors beyond our control.

Our ability to make payments on our indebtedness and to fund planned capital expenditures will depend on our ability
to generate cash in the future. This, to a certain extent, is subject to general economic, financial, competitive, legislative, reg-
ulatory and other factors that are beyond our control.

Our business may not be able to generate sufficient cash flow from operations or future borrowings may not be available
to us under our Senior Credit Facility or otherwise in an amount sufficient to enable us to pay our indebtedness or new debt
securities, or to fund our other liquidity needs. We may need to refinance all or a portion of our indebtedness on or before
maturity. However, we may not be able to complete such refinancing on commercially reasonable terms or at all.

Because portions of our indebtedness have floating interest rates, a general increase in interest rates will adverse-
ly affect cash flows.

Our Senior Credit Facility bears interest at a variable rate. To the extent our exposure to increases in interest rates is not
eliminated through interest rate protection agreements, such increases will adversely affect our cash flows. We do not cur-
rently have any interest rate protection agreements in place to protect against interest rate fluctuations related to the Senior
Credit Facility. Our estimated total annual interest expense based on borrowings outstanding as of January 2, 2005 is
approximately $19.3 million, $2.6 million of which is interest expense attributable to estimated borrowings of $51.5 mil-
lion currently outstanding under the Senior Credit Facility inclusive of expected mandatory payments under the Senior Credit
Facility. Based on estimated borrowings under the Senior Credit Facility, inclusive of expected mandatory payments, a one
percent increase in the interest rate applicable to the Senior Credit Facility, will increase interest expense by $0.4 million.

In addition, effective September 18, 2003, we entered into interest rate swap agreements in the aggregate notional
amount of $50.0 million. The agreements, which have payment and expiration dates that coincide with the payment and expi-
ration terms of the Notes, effectively convert $50.0 million of the Notes into variable rate obligations. Under the agreements,
we receive a fixed interest rate payment from the financial counterparties to the agreements equal to 8.25% per year calcu-
lated on the notional $50.0 million amount, while we make a variable interest rate payment to the same counterparties equal
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we operate, governmental and public acceptance of the concept of privatization, and the number of facilities available for pri-
vatization.

The demand for our facilities and services could be adversely affected by the relaxation of criminal enforcement efforts, lenien-
cy in conviction and sentencing practices, or through the decriminalization of certain activities that are currently proscribed by
criminal laws. For instance, any changes with respect to the decriminalization of drugs and controlled substances or a loosen-
ing of immigration laws could affect the number of persons arrested, convicted, sentenced and incarcerated, thereby potential-
ly reducing demand for correctional facilities to house them. Similarly, reductions in crime rates could lead to reductions in arrests,
convictions and sentences requiring incarceration at correctional facilities.

We may not be able to secure financing for new facilities, which could adversely affect our results of operations and
future growth.

In certain cases, the development and construction of facilities by us is subject to obtaining construction financing. Such financ-
ing may be obtained through a variety of means, including without limitation, the sale of tax-exempt or taxable bonds or other
obligations or direct governmental appropriations. The sale of tax-exempt or taxable bonds or other obligations may be adverse-
ly affected by changes in applicable tax laws or adverse changes in the market for tax-exempt or taxable bonds or other obliga-
tions.

Moreover, certain jurisdictions, including California, where we have a significant amount of operations, have in the past required
successful bidders to make a significant capital investment in connection with the financing of a particular project. If this trend
were to continue in the future, we may not be able to obtain sufficient capital resources when needed to compete effectively for
facility management contacts. Additionally, our success in obtaining new awards and contracts may depend, in part, upon our
ability to locate land that can be leased or acquired under favorable terms. Otherwise desirable locations may be in or near pop-
ulated areas and, therefore, may generate legal action or other forms of opposition from residents in areas surrounding a pro-
posed site. Our inability to secure financing and desirable locations for new facilities could adversely affect our results of oper-
ations and future growth.

We depend on a limited number of governmental customers for a significant portion of our revenues. The loss of, or
a significant decrease in business from, these customers could seriously harm our financial condition and results of
operations.

We currently derive, and expect to continue to derive, a significant portion of our revenues from a limited number of govern-
mental agencies. The loss of, or a significant decrease in, business could seriously harm our financial condition and results of
operations. The loss of, or a significant decrease in, business from the Bureau of Prisons, the Bureau of Immigration and Customs
Enforcement, which we refer to as ICE, or the U.S. Marshals Service or various state agencies could seriously harm our finan-
cial condition and results of operations. The three federal governmental agencies with correctional and detention responsibili-
ties, the Bureau of Prisons, ICE and the Marshals Service, accounted for approximately 26.9% of our total consolidated revenues
for the fiscal year ended January 2, 2005, with the Bureau of Prisons accounting for approximately 11.4% of our total consoli-
dated revenues for such period, the Marshals Service accounting for approximately 10.3% of our total consolidated revenues for
such period and the ICE accounting for approximately 5.2% of our total consolidated revenues for such period. We expect to
continue to depend upon these federal agencies and a relatively small group of other governmental customers for a significant
percentage of our revenues.

A decrease in occupancy levels could cause a decrease in revenues and profitability.

While a substantial portion of our cost structure is generally fixed, a significant portion of our revenues are generated under
facility management contracts which provide for per diem payments based upon daily occupancy. We are dependent upon the
governmental agencies with which we have contracts to provide inmates for our managed facilities. We cannot control occupan-
cy levels at our managed facilities. Under a per diem rate structure, a decrease in our occupancy rates could cause a decrease in
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Notwithstanding any contractual renewal option, as of January 2, 2005, 14 of our facility management contracts are sched-
uled to expire on or before January 1, 2006. These contracts represented 27.2% of our consolidated revenues for the year
ended January 2, 2005. Some of these contracts may not be renewed by the corresponding governmental agency. See “Business
— Facilities and Facility Management Contracts.” In addition, governmental agencies may determine not to exercise renew-
al options with respect to any of our contracts in the future. In the event any of our management contracts are terminated or
are not renewed on favorable terms or otherwise, we may not be able to obtain additional replacement contracts. The non-
renewal or termination of any of our contracts with governmental agencies could materially adversely affect our financial
condition, results of operations and liquidity, including our ability to secure new facility management contracts from other
government customers.

We will continue to be responsible for certain real property payments even if our underlying facility management
contracts terminate, which could adversely affect our profitability.

Eleven of our facilities are leased from Correctional Properties Trust, an independent, publicly-traded REIT which we
refer to as CPV. These leases have an initial ten-year term with varying renewal periods at our option, and a total average
remaining initial term of 3.6 years. The facility management contracts underlying these leases generally have a term rang-
ing from one to five years, however, they are terminable by the governmental entity at will. In the event that a facility man-
agement contract is terminated or expires and is not renewed prior to the expiration of the corresponding lease term for the
facility, we will continue to be liable to CPV for the related lease payments. Our average annual obligations and aggregate
total remaining obligations for lease payments under the eleven CPV leases are approximately $18.9 million and $94.5 mil-
lion, respectively. Because these lease payments would not be offset by revenues from an active facility management con-
tract, they could represent a material ongoing loss. If we are unable to find a replacement management contract or an alter-
native use for the facility, the loss could continue until the expiration of the lease term then in effect, which could adverse-
ly affect our profitability. See “MD&A — Commitments and Contingencies” above for information on leases for which we
had no corresponding management contract to operate as of January 2, 2005.

For example, during 2000, our management contract at the 276-bed Jena Juvenile Justice Center in Jena, Louisiana was
discontinued by the mutual agreement of the parties. Despite the discontinuation of the management contract, we remain
responsible for payments on the underlying lease of the inactive facility with CPV through 2009. In the fourth quarter of
2004, we incurred an operating charge of $3.0 million to cover our anticipated losses under the lease until an alternative cor-
rectional use for the facility may be identified or a sublease for the facility may be in place. We have incurred additional oper-
ating charges in prior periods related to lease payments for the facility including an operating charge of $5.0 million in third
quarter 2003. We are continuing our efforts to find an alternative correctional use or sublease for the facility. If we are unable
to sublease or find an alternative correctional use for the facility, an additional operating charge will be required. The cur-
rent reserve for loss of $5.8 million is sufficient to cover lease payments through January 2008. The remaining obligation
on the Jena lease through the contractual term of 2009, exclusive of the reserve for losses through early 2008, is approxi-
mately $4.3 million.

In addition, we own four properties on which we operate correctional and detention facilities. Our purchase of these prop-
erties during 2002 was financed through borrowings under our former senior credit facility which have now been incorpo-
rated into our Senior Credit Facility. In the event that an underlying facility management contract for one or more of these
properties terminates, we would still be responsible for servicing the indebtedness incurred to purchase those properties.

Our growth depends on our ability to secure contracts to develop and manage new correctional and detention facil-
ities, the demand for which is outside our control.

Our growth is generally dependent upon our ability to obtain new contracts to develop and manage new correctional and
detention facilities, because contracts to manage existing public facilities have not to date typically been offered to private
operators. Public sector demand for new facilities may decrease and our potential for growth will depend on a number of
factors we cannot control, including overall economic conditions, crime rates and sentencing patterns in jurisdictions in which
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We may incur significant start-up and operating costs on new contracts before receiving related revenues, which may
impact our cash flows and not be recouped.

When we are awarded a contract to manage a facility, we may incur significant start-up and operating expenses, including
the cost of constructing the facility, purchasing equipment and staffing the facility, before we receive any payments under the
contract. These expenditures could result in a significant reduction in our cash reserves and may make it more difficult for us to
meet other cash obligations, including our payment obligations on the Notes and the Senior Credit Facility. In addition, a con-
tract may be terminated prior to its scheduled expiration and as a result we may not recover these expenditures or realize any
return on our investment.

Failure to comply with extensive government regulation and unique contractual requirements could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

The industry in which we operate is subject to extensive federal, state and local regulations, including educational, environ-
mental, health care and safety regulations, which are administered by many regulatory authorities. Some of the regulations are
unique to the corrections industry, and the combination of regulations affects all areas of our operations. Facility management
contracts typically include reporting requirements, supervision and on-site monitoring by representatives of the contracting gov-
ernmental agencies. Corrections officers and juvenile care workers are customarily required to meet certain training standards
and, in some instances, facility personnel are required to be licensed and are subject to background investigations. Certain juris-
dictions also require us to award subcontracts on a competitive basis or to subcontract with businesses owned by members of
minority groups. We may not always successfully comply with these and other regulations to which we are subject and failure
to comply can result in material penalties or the non-renewal or termination of facility management contracts. In addition, changes
in existing regulations could require us to substantially modify the manner in which we conduct our business and, therefore, could
have a material adverse effect on us.

In addition, private prison managers are increasingly subject to government legislation and regulation attempting to restrict
the ability of private prison managers to house certain types of inmates, such as inmates from other jurisdictions or inmates at
medium or higher security levels. Legislation has been enacted in several states, and has previously been proposed in the United
States House of Representatives, containing such restrictions. Although we do not believe that existing legislation will have a
material adverse effect on us, future legislation may have such an effect on us.

Governmental agencies may investigate and audit our contracts and, if any improprieties are found, we may be required to
refund amounts we have received, to forego anticipated revenues and we may be subject to penalties and sanctions, including
prohibitions on our bidding in response to Requests for Proposals, or RFPs, from governmental agencies to manage correction-
al facilities. Governmental agencies we contract with have the authority to audit and investigate our contracts with them. As part
of that process, governmental agencies may review our performance of the contract, our pricing practices, our cost structure and
our compliance with applicable laws, regulations and standards. For contracts that actually or effectively provide for certain reim-
bursement of expenses, if an agency determines that we have improperly allocated costs to a specific contract, we may not be
reimbursed for those costs, and we could be required to refund the amount of any such costs that have been reimbursed. If a gov-
ernment audit asserts improper or illegal activities by us, we may be subject to civil and criminal penalties and administrative
sanctions, including termination of contracts, forfeitures of profits, suspension of payments, fines and suspension or disqualifi-
cation from doing business with certain governmental entities. Any adverse determination could adversely impact our ability to
bid in response to RFPs in one or more jurisdictions.

We may face community opposition to facility location, which may adversely affect our ability to obtain new contracts. 

Our success in obtaining new awards and contracts sometimes depends, in part, upon our ability to locate land that can be
leased or acquired, on economically favorable terms, by us or other entities working with us in conjunction with our proposal
to construct and/or manage a facility. Some locations may be in or near populous areas and, therefore, may generate legal action
or other forms of opposition from residents in areas surrounding a proposed site. When we select the intended project site, we
attempt to conduct business in communities where local leaders and residents generally support the establishment of a priva-
tized correctional or detention facility. Future efforts to find suitable host communities may not be successful. In many cases,
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revenues and profitability. When combined with relatively fixed costs for operating each facility, regardless of the occupan-
cy level, a decrease in occupancy levels could have a material adverse effect on our profitability.

Competition for inmates may adversely affect the profitability of our business.

We compete with government entities and other private operators on the basis of cost, quality and range of services offered,
experience in managing facilities, and reputation of management and personnel. Barriers to entering the market for the man-
agement of correctional and detention facilities may not be sufficient to limit additional competition in our industry. In addi-
tion, our government customers may assume the management of a facility currently managed by us upon the termination of
the corresponding management contract or, if such customers have capacity at the facilities which they operate, they may
take inmates currently housed in our facilities and transfer them to government operated facilities. Since we are paid on a
per diem basis with no minimum guaranteed occupancy under most of our contracts, the loss of such inmates and resulting
decrease in occupancy would cause a decrease in both our revenues and our profitability.

We are dependent on government appropriations, which may not be made on a timely basis or at all.

Our cash flow is subject to the receipt of sufficient funding of and timely payment by contracting governmental entities.
If the contracting governmental agency does not receive sufficient appropriations to cover its contractual obligations, it may
terminate our contract or delay or reduce payment to us. Any delays in payment, or the termination of a contract, could have
a material adverse effect on our cash flow and financial condition, which may make it difficult to satisfy our payment obli-
gations on our indebtedness, including the Notes and the Senior Credit Facility, in a timely manner. In addition, as a result
of, among other things, recent economic developments, federal, state and local governments have encountered, and may con-
tinue to encounter, unusual budgetary constraints. As a result, a number of state and local governments are under pressure
to control additional spending or reduce current levels of spending. Accordingly, we may be requested in the future to reduce
our existing per diem contract rates or forego prospective increases to those rates. In addition, it may become more difficult
to renew our existing contracts on favorable terms or at all.

Public resistance to privatization of correctional and detention facilities could result in our inability to obtain new
contracts or the loss of existing contracts, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

The management and operation of correctional and detention facilities by private entities has not achieved complete accept-
ance by either governments or the public. Some governmental agencies have limitations on their ability to delegate their tra-
ditional management responsibilities for correctional and detention facilities to private companies and additional legislative
changes or prohibitions could occur that further increase these limitations. In addition, the movement toward privatization
of correctional and detention facilities has encountered resistance from groups, such as labor unions, that believe that cor-
rectional and detention facilities should only be operated by governmental agencies. Changes in dominant political parties
could also result in significant changes to previously established views of privatization. Increased public resistance to the
privatization of correctional and detention facilities in any of the markets in which we operate, as a result of these or other
factors, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Adverse publicity may negatively impact our ability to retain existing contracts and obtain new contracts. Our busi-
ness is subject to public scrutiny.

Any negative publicity about an escape, riot or other disturbance or perceived poor conditions at a privately managed
facility may result in publicity adverse to us and the private corrections industry in general. Any of these occurrences or
continued trends may make it more difficult for us to renew existing contracts or to obtain new contracts or could result
in the termination of an existing contract or the closure of one of our facilities, which could have a material adverse effect
on our business.

The GEO Group, Inc.

RISK FACTORS

54 | GEO 2004 Financials



The GEO Group, Inc.

RISK FACTORS

operate. In the event that we experience any difficulties arising from our operations in foreign markets, our business, financial
condition and results of operations may be materially adversely affected. For the fiscal year ended January 2, 2005, our inter-
national operations accounted for approximately 16.9% of our consolidated revenues.

We conduct certain of our operations through joint ventures, which may lead to disagreements with our joint venture
partners and adversely affect our interest in the joint ventures.

We conduct substantially all of our operations in South Africa through joint ventures with third parties and may enter into
additional joint ventures in the future. Our joint venture agreements generally provide that the joint venture partners will equal-
ly share voting control on all significant matters to come before the joint venture. Our joint venture partners may have interests
that are different from ours which may result in conflicting views as to the conduct of the business of the joint venture. In the
event that we have a disagreement with a joint venture partner as to the resolution of a particular issue to come before the joint
venture, or as to the management or conduct of the business of the joint venture in general, we may not be able to resolve such
disagreement in our favor and such disagreement could have a material adverse effect on our interest in the joint venture or the
business of the joint venture in general.

We are dependent upon our senior management and our ability to attract and retain sufficient qualified personnel 

We are dependent upon the continued service of each member of our senior management team, including George C. Zoley,
our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Wayne H. Calabrese, our Vice Chairman and President, and John G. O’Rourke, our
Chief Financial Officer. Under the terms of their retirement agreements, each of these executives are currently eligible to retire
at any time from GEO and receive significant lump sum retirement payments. The unexpected loss of any of these individuals
could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations. We do not maintain key-man life insur-
ance to protect against the loss of any of these individuals.

In addition, the services we provide are labor-intensive. When we are awarded a facility management contract or open a new
facility, we must hire operating management, correctional officers and other personnel. The success of our business requires that
we attract, develop and retain these personnel. Our inability to hire sufficient qualified personnel on a timely basis or the loss
of significant numbers of personnel at existing facilities could have a material effect on our business, financial condition or results
of operations.

Our profitability may be materially adversely affected by inflation.

Many of our facility management contracts provide for fixed management fees or fees that increase by only small amounts
during their terms. While a substantial portion of our cost structure is generally fixed, if, due to inflation or other causes, our
operating expenses, such as costs relating to personnel, utilities, insurance, medical and food, increase at rates faster than increas-
es, if any, in our facility management fees, then our profitability could be materially adversely affected.

Various risks associated with the ownership of real estate may increase costs, expose us to uninsured losses and adverse-
ly affect our financial condition and results of operations.

Our ownership of correctional and detention facilities subjects us to risks typically associated with investments in real estate.
Investments in real estate, and in particular, correctional and detention facilities, are relatively illiquid and, therefore, our abil-
ity to divest ourselves of one or more of our facilities promptly in response to changed conditions is limited. Investments in cor-
rectional and detention facilities, in particular, subject us to risks involving potential exposure to environmental liability and unin-
sured loss. Our operating costs may be affected by the obligation to pay for the cost of complying with existing environmental
laws, ordinances and regulations, as well as the cost of complying with future legislation. In addition, although we maintain insur-
ance for many types of losses, there are certain types of losses, such as losses from earthquakes, riots and acts of terrorism, which
may be either uninsurable or for which it may not be economically feasible to obtain insurance coverage, in light of the sub-
stantial costs associated with such insurance. As a result, we could lose both our capital invested in, and anticipated profits from,
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the site selection is made by the contracting governmental entity. In such cases, site selection may be made for reasons relat-
ed to political and/or economic development interests and may lead to the selection of sites that have less favorable envi-
ronments. 

Our business operations expose us to various liabilities for which we may not have adequate insurance.

The nature of our business exposes us to various types of third-party legal claims, including, but not limited to, civil rights
claims relating to conditions of confinement and/or mistreatment, sexual misconduct claims brought by prisoners or
detainees, medical malpractice claims, claims relating to employment matters (including, but not limited to, employment
discrimination claims, union grievances and wage and hour claims), property loss claims, environmental claims, automo-
bile liability claims, contractual claims and claims for personal injury or other damages resulting from contact with our facil-
ities, programs, personnel or prisoners, including damages arising from a prisoner’s escape or from a disturbance or riot at
a facility. In addition, our management contracts generally require us to indemnify the governmental agency against any dam-
ages to which the governmental agency may be subject in connection with such claims or litigation. We maintain insurance
coverage for these types of claims, except for claims relating to employment matters. However, the insurance we maintain
to cover the various liabilities to which we are exposed may not be adequate. Any losses relating to matters for which we
are either uninsured or for which we do not have adequate insurance could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition or results of operations. In addition, any losses relating to employment matters could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Claims for which we are insured arising from our U.S. operations that have an occurrence date of October 1, 2002 or ear-
lier are handled by TWC and are fully insured up to an aggregate limit of between $25.0 million and $50.0 million, depend-
ing on the nature of the claim. With respect to claims for which we are insured arising after October 1, 2002, we maintain
a general liability policy for all U.S. operations with $52.0 million per occurrence and in the aggregate. On October 1, 2004,
we increased our deductible on this general liability policy from $1.0 million to $3.0 million for each claim which occurs
after October 1, 2004. We also maintain insurance in amounts management deems adequate to cover property and casualty
risks, workers’ compensation, medical malpractice and automobile liability. Our Australian subsidiary is required to carry
tail insurance through 2011 related to a discontinued contract. We also carry various types of insurance with respect to our
operations in South Africa, Australia and New Zealand.

Since our insurance policies generally have high deductible amounts (including a $3.0 million per claim deductible under
our general liability policy), losses are recorded as reported and a provision is made to cover losses incurred but not report-
ed. Loss reserves are undiscounted and are computed based on independent actuarial studies. Our management uses judg-
ments in assessing loss estimates that are based on actual claim amounts and loss development experience considering his-
torical and industry experience. If actual losses related to insurance claims significantly differ from our estimates, our finan-
cial condition and results of operations could be materially impacted.

We may not be able to obtain or maintain the insurance levels required by our government contracts.

Our government contracts require us to obtain and maintain specified insurance levels. The occurrence of any events spe-
cific to our company or to our industry, or a general rise in insurance rates, could substantially increase our costs of obtain-
ing or maintaining the levels of insurance required under our government contracts. If we are unable to obtain or maintain
the required insurance levels, our ability to win new government contracts, renew government contracts that have expired
and retain existing government contracts could be significantly impaired, which could have a material adverse affect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our international operations expose us to risks which could materially adversely affect our financial condition and
results of operations.

We face risks associated with our operations outside the U.S. These risks include, among others, political and econom-
ic instability, exchange rate fluctuations, taxes, duties and the laws or regulations in those foreign jurisdictions in which we
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Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Interest Rate Risk
We are exposed to market risks related to changes in interest rates with respect to our Senior Credit Facility. Monthly pay-

ments under the Senior Credit Facility are indexed to a variable interest rate. Based on borrowings outstanding under the Senior
Credit Facility of $51.5 million as of January 2, 2005, for every one percent increase in the interest rate applicable to the Senior
Credit Facility, our total annual interest expense would increase by $0.5 million.

Effective September 18, 2003, we entered into interest rate swap agreements in the aggregate notional amount of $50.0 mil-
lion. We have designated the swaps as hedges against changes in the fair value of a designated portion of the Notes due to changes
in underlying interest rates. Changes in the fair value of the interest rate swaps are recorded in earnings along with related des-
ignated changes in the value of the Notes. The agreements, which have payment and expiration dates and call provisions that
coincide with the terms of the Notes, effectively convert $50.0 million of the Notes into variable rate obligations. Under the agree-
ments, we receive a fixed interest rate payment from the financial counterparties to the agreements equal to 8.25% per year cal-
culated on the notional $50.0 million amount, while we make a variable interest rate payment to the same counterparties equal
to the six-month LIBOR plus a fixed margin of 3.45%, also calculated on the notional $50.0 million amount. Additionally, for
every one percent increase in the interest rate applicable to the $50.0 million swap agreements on the Notes described above,
our total annual interest expense will increase by $0.5 million.

We have entered into certain interest rate swap arrangements for hedging purposes, fixing the interest rate on our Australian
non-recourse debt to 9.7%. The difference between the floating rate and the swap rate on these instruments is recognized in
interest expense within the respective entity. Because the interest rates with respect to these instruments are fixed, a hypothet-
ical 100 basis point change in the current interest rate would not have a material impact on our financial condition or results
of operations.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk
We are also exposed to market risks, related to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and

the Australian dollar and the South African rand currency exchange rates. Based upon our foreign currency exchange rate expo-
sure at January 2, 2005, every 10 percent change in historical currency rates would have approximately a $2.0 million effect on
our financial position and approximately a $0.9 million impact on our results of operations over the next fiscal year.

Additionally, we invest our cash in a variety of short-term financial instruments to provide a return. These instruments gen-
erally consist of highly liquid investments with original maturities at the date of purchase of three months or less. While these
instruments are subject to interest rate risk, a hypothetical 100 basis point increase or decrease in market interest rates would
not have a material impact on our financial condition or results of operations.
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one or more of the facilities we own. Further, even if we have insurance for a particular loss, we may experience losses that
may exceed the limits of our coverage.

Risks related to facility construction and development activities may increase our costs related to such activities 

When we are engaged to perform construction and design services for a facility, we typically act as the primary contrac-
tor and subcontract with other companies who act as the general contractors. As primary contractor, we are subject to the
various risks associated with construction (including, without limitation, shortages of labor and materials, work stoppages,
labor disputes and weather interference) which could cause construction delays. In addition, we are subject to the risk that
the general contractor will be unable to complete construction at the budgeted costs or be unable to fund any excess con-
struction costs, even though we require general contractors to post construction bonds and insurance. Under such contracts,
we are ultimately liable for all late delivery penalties and cost overruns.

The rising cost and increasing difficulty of obtaining adequate levels of surety credit on favorable terms could adverse-
ly affect our operating results 

We are often required to post performance bonds issued by a surety company as a condition to bidding on or being award-
ed a facility development contract. Availability and pricing of these surety commitments is subject to general market and
industry conditions, among other factors. Recent events in the economy have caused the surety market to become unsettled,
causing many reinsurers and sureties to reevaluate their commitment levels and required returns. As a result, surety bond
premiums generally are increasing. If we are unable to effectively pass along the higher surety costs to our customers, any
increase in surety costs could adversely affect our operating results. In addition, we may not continue to have access to sure-
ty credit or be able to secure bonds economically, without additional collateral, or at the levels required for any potential facil-
ity development or contract bids. If we are unable to obtain adequate levels of surety credit on favorable terms, we would
have to rely upon letters of credit under our Senior Credit Facility, which would entail higher costs even if such borrowing
capacity was available when desired, and our ability to bid for or obtain new contracts could be impaired.
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MANAGEMENT’S ANNUAL REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL 
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined
in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The Company’s internal control over financial report-
ing is a process designed under the supervision of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer that:(i)
pertains to the maintenance of records that,in reasonable detail,accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions
of the Company’s assets; (ii) provides reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements for external reporting in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States,and
that receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorization of the Company’s management and direc-
tors; and (iii) provides reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition,use or dispo-
sition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations,internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because
of changes in conditions,or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedure may deteriorate. Management has assessed
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of January 2,2005. In making its assessment of
internal control over financial reporting,management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
(“COSO”) of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control — Integrated Framework.

As a result of this assessment,the Company’s management has determined that there are five deficiencies that constitute mate-
rial weaknesses in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting for the period. A material weakness in internal con-
trol over financial reporting is a control deficiency (within the meaning of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(“PCAOB”) Auditing Standard No. 2),or a combination of control deficiencies,that results in there being more than a remote
likelihood that a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected. The five
deficiencies that the Company’s management has determined constitute material weaknesses are:

•The Company had insufficient controls over the determination and application of generally accepted accounting princi-
ples (“GAAP”) with respect to employee vacation expense. As a result,the Company underaccrued its liability for vaca-
tion expense under GAAP in fiscal years 2002 and 2003. Due to the materiality of this error,the Company has restated
previously filed financial statements for 2002 and 2003 in order to reflect the proper accruals for employee vacation expense
during those years;

•The Company had insufficient controls to properly evaluate voting control over its joint venture in South Africa (South
Africa Custodial Management Pty. Limited,or “SACM”),which resulted in the Company’s failure to consolidate SACM
in its financial statements for fiscal years 2002 and 2003. Due to the materiality of this error,the Company has restated
previously filed financial statements for 2002 and 2003 in order to consolidate SACM onto its financial statements for those
years.

•The Company had insufficient controls in place to determine the appropriate amortization period for leasehold improve-
ments related to certain leased facilities,which resulted in the Company understating depreciation expense in previous-
ly filed financial statements for fiscal years 2002 and 2003. Due to the materiality of this error,the Company has restat-
ed previously filed financial statements for 2002 and 2003 in order to reflect the proper depreciation expense related to
leasehold improvements during those years.

•The Company had insufficient controls to adequately monitor and update the estimated reserve needed in connection with
its inactive correctional facility in Jena,Louisiana (the “Jena Facility”) for fiscal year 2004. This material weakness result-
ed in an adjustment to increase operating expenses and the reserve for the facility because,subsequent to the financial close
process,management revised its estimate of the potential income which could be derived by the Company from a sub-
lease of the Jena Facility; and

•The Company had insufficient controls to adequately prepare and review the reconciliation of differences between the income
tax basis and book basis of each component of the deferred tax asset and liability accounts within the Company’s balance
sheet. Although no material misstatements were discovered related to this material weakness,until this deficiency is reme-
diated,there is a more than remote likelihood that a material misstatement to the annual or interim consolidated financial
statements could occur and not be prevented or detected by the Company’s controls in a timely manner.
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The GEO Group, Inc.

Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

To the Shareholders of The GEO Group, Inc.:
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accept-

ed in the United States. They include amounts based on judgments and estimates.

Representation in the consolidated financial statements and the fairness and integrity of such statements are the responsibility
of management. In order to meet management’s responsibility,the Company maintains a system of internal controls and procedures
and a program of internal audits designed to provide reasonable assurance that our assets are controlled and safeguarded,that trans-
actions are executed in accordance with management’s authorization and properly recorded,and that accounting records may be
relied upon in the preparation of financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP,independent registered certified public account-
ants,whose appointment was ratified by our shareholders. Their report expresses a professional opinion as to whether management’s
consolidated financial statements considered in their entirety present fairly,in conformity with accounting principles generally accept-
ed in the United States,our financial position and results of operations. Their audit was conducted in accordance with auditing stan-
dards generally accepted in the United States. As part of this audit,Ernst & Young LLP considered our system of internal controls
to the degree they deemed necessary to determine the nature,timing,and extent of their audit tests which support their opinion on
the consolidated financial statements.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors meets periodically with representatives of management,the independent reg-
istered certified public accountants and our internal auditors to review matters relating to financial reporting,internal accounting
controls and auditing. Both the internal auditors and the independent registered certified public accountants have unrestricted access
to the Audit Committee to discuss the results of their reviews.

George C. Zoley

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Wayne H. Calabrese

Vice Chairman, President and Chief Operating Officer

John G. O’Rourke

Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
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The GEO Group, Inc.

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

The Board of Directors and Shareholders 
of The GEO Group, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of The GEO Group, Inc. (formerly Wackenhut Corrections
Corporation) as of January 2, 2005 and December 28, 2003, and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders’
equity and comprehensive income, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended January 2, 2005. Our audits
also included the financial statement schedule listed in the index at item 15(a). These financial statements and schedule are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and sched-
ule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial posi-
tion of The GEO Group, Inc. at January 2, 2005 and December 28, 2003, and the consolidated results of its operations and its
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended January 2, 2005, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted account-
ing principles.

As described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of December
28, 2003, and the consolidated statements of income, shareholders’ equity and comprehensive income, and cash flows for the
years ended December 28, 2003 and December 29, 2002 have been restated to correct the accounting for compensated absences
and the amortization of leasehold improvements, and the consolidation of an affiliate under voting control.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
the effectiveness of The GEO Group, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of January 2, 2005, based on criteria estab-
lished in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission and our report dated March 22, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of the effec-
tiveness and an adverse opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting.

/S/ ERNST &YOUNG LLP 
Fort Lauderdale, Florida
March 22, 2005
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As a result of these material weaknesses in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting, management has con-
cluded that, as of January 2, 2005, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was not effective based on the
criteria set forth by the COSO of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control— Integrated Framework.

The Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, Ernst & Young LLP, has issued an attestation report on
management’s assessment of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. This report appears below.

Remediation Steps to Address Material Weaknesses 
The following are actions that the Company’s management has taken and plans to continue to take to remediate the mate-

rial weaknesses described above:

• Accruals for Employee Vacation Expense- The Company has restated previously filed financial statements for fiscal
years 2002 and 2003 in order to reflect the proper accruals for employee vacation expense during those years. The
adjustments made as a result of this restatement are reflected in the financial statements filed with this Form 10-K.
The Company believes that the restatement, together with the continued application of proper accounting principles
to the Company’s employee vacation accruals, will fully remediate this material weakness. Furthermore, the Company
has developed payroll reports to help ensure the accurate recording of its employee vacation accrual on a quarterly
basis.

• Evaluation of Voting Control Over SACM- The Company has restated previously filed financial statements for fiscal
year 2002 and 2003 in order to consolidate SACM into its financial statements for those years. The adjustments made
as a result of this restatement are reflected in the financial statements filed with this Form 10-K. The Company believes
that the restatement, together with the continued application of proper accounting principles to SACM, will fully reme-
diate this material weakness.

• Amortization of Leasehold Improvements- The Company has restated previously filed financial statements for fiscal
years 2002 and 2003 in order to reflect the proper depreciation expense for those years. The Company believes that
the restatement, together with the continued application of proper accounting principles to future leasehold improve-
ments made by the Company will fully remediate this material weakness.

• Estimate of Reserve for Jena Facility- The Company has made an adjustment for fiscal year 2004 reflected in the finan-
cial statements filed with this Form 10-K to update the estimated reserve needed in connection with its inactive Jena
Facility. In the future, the Company plans to strengthen its process with regard to monitoring reserves for loss by ensur-
ing that the Company’s disclosure committee more closely reviews all significant judgments on inactive facilities and
reports any recommendations regarding changes to related reserves to the CEO and CFO prior to the completion of
the financial statement close process.

• Review of Income Tax Related Balance Sheet Items- The Company has made an adjustment for fiscal year 2004 reflect-
ed in the financial statements filed with this Form 10-K to properly reconcile the differences between the tax basis
and book basis for its fixed assets. Beginning in fiscal year 2005, the Company intends to expand its review of its rec-
onciliations of the tax basis to book basis for all fixed asset accounts. Management plans to implement any recom-
mendations resulting from such review.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
There was no change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Company’s most

recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting.

The GEO Group, Inc.

MANAGEMENT’S ANNUAL REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL 
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
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The GEO Group, Inc.

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

ing its estimated liability for future rent expense related to an idle facility, which resulted in an adjustment to increase operat-
ing expenses and accrued expenses. Management identified as a material weakness the Company’s insufficient controls over the
preparation and review of reconciliations of the differences between the income tax basis and book basis of all components of
the Company’s deferred tax asset and liability accounts. Although no material misstatements were discovered related to this mate-
rial weakness, until this deficiency is remediated, there is a more than remote likelihood that a material misstatement to the annu-
al or interim consolidated financial statements could occur and not be prevented or detected by the Company’s controls in a time-
ly manner. These material weaknesses were considered in determining the nature, timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our
audit of the January 2, 2005 financial statements, and this report does not affect our report dated March 22, 2005 on those finan-
cial statements.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that The GEO Group, Inc. did not maintain effective internal control over finan-
cial reporting as of January 2, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO control criteria. Also, in our
opinion, because of the effect of the material weaknesses described above on the achievement of the objectives of the control
criteria, The GEO Group, Inc. has not maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of January 2, 2005, based
on the COSO control criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
the consolidated balance sheets of The GEO Group, Inc. as of January 2, 2005 and December 28, 2003, and the related consol-
idated statements of income, shareholders’ equity and comprehensive income, and cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended January 2, 2005, and our report dated March 22, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/S/ ERNST &YOUNG LLP 
Fort Lauderdale, Florida
March 22, 2005
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The Board of Directors and Shareholders 
of The GEO Group, Inc.

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control
over Financial Reporting, that The GEO Group, Inc. did not maintain effective internal control over financial reporting as
of January 2, 2005, because of the effect of the Company’s insufficient controls over: the calculation and recording of its
vacation expense in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP); the evaluation of voting control over
certain investments in affiliates; the identification of the proper amortization period for leasehold improvements; the mon-
itoring and updating of its estimated liability for future rent expense related to an idle facility; and the preparation and review
of reconciliations for the differences between the income tax basis and book basis of all components of the Company’s deferred
tax asset and liability accounts, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). The GEO Group, Inc.’s man-
agement is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effec-
tiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment
and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective
internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understand-
ing of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circum-
stances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with gen-
erally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and pro-
cedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions
and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary
to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts
and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of
the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition,
use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

A material weakness is a control deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, that results in more than a remote
likelihood that a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected. The
following material weaknesses have been identified and included in management’s assessment. In its assessment as of January
2, 2005, management identified as a material weakness the Company’s insufficient controls over the calculating and record-
ing of its vacation expense in accordance with GAAP, which resulted in the understatement of the vacation expense and the
related liability accounts. Management identified as a material weakness the Company’s insufficient controls over the eval-
uation of the voting control of one of its affiliates, which resulted in the Company failing to properly consolidate the affil-
iate; thereby, understating and overstating several balance sheet and income statement accounts. Management identified as
a material weakness the Company’s insufficient controls to identify the correct amortization period for leasehold improve-
ments related to certain leased facilities, which resulted in the understatement of the amortization expense and overstatement
of property and equipment. As a result of the aforementioned material weaknesses in internal control, management conclud-
ed that the Company’s previously issued interim and annual financial statements should be restated for the correction of the
related errors. Management identified as a material weakness the Company’s insufficient controls over monitoring and updat-

The GEO Group, Inc.

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

The GEO Group, Inc.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
Fiscal Years Ended January 2, 2005, December 28, 2003, and December 29, 2002
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        Restated     Restated   
    2004     2003     2002   
                    
 (In thousands, except per share data)      
 Revenues   $ 614,548    $ 567,441    $ 517,162  
 Operating Expenses (including amounts related to The 
Wackenhut Corporation (TWC) of $0, $0, and $17,973) 

  
  514,908

    
  484,018

    
  449,442

  

 Depreciation and Amortization     14,451      13,904      11,716  
 General and Administrative Expenses (including amounts 
related to TWC of $0, $571, and $2,836) 

  
  45,879

    
  39,379

    
  32,146

  

                    
 Operating Income     39,310      30,140      23,858  
 Interest Income     9,598      6,874      4,848  
 Interest Expense     (22,138)     (17,896)     (3,738) 
 Write-off of Deferred Financing Fees from 
Extinguishment of Debt 

  
  (317) 

  
  (1,989) 

  
  —

  

 Gain on Sale of UK Joint Venture     —      61,034      —  
                    
 Income Before Income Taxes, Equity in Earnings of 
Affiliates, Discontinued Operations and Minority 
Interest 

  
  26,453

    
  78,163

    
  24,968

  

 Provision for Income Taxes     8,313      37,205      11,312  
 Minority Interest     (710)     (645)     (426) 
 Equity in Earnings of Affiliates, (net of income tax 
provision of $0, $905, and $2,836)     —      1,250      4,958  
                    
 Income from Continuing Operations     17,430      41,563      18,188  
 Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax 
(benefit) expense of $(263), $1,329, and $1,257     (615)     3,198      2,932  
                    
 Net Income   $ 16,815    $ 44,761    $ 21,120  
                    
 Weighted Average Common Shares Outstanding:                      
   Basic     9,384      15,618      21,148  
                    
   Diluted     9,738      15,829      21,364  
                    
 Earnings per Common Share:                      
   Basic:                      
   Income from continuing operations   $ 1.86    $ 2.67    $ 0.86  
   Income (loss) from discontinued operations     (0.07)     0.20      0.14  
                    
   Net income per share-basic   $ 1.79    $ 2.87    $ 1.00  
                    
   Diluted:                      
   Income from continuing operations   $ 1.79    $ 2.63    $ 0.85  
   Income (loss) from discontinued operations     (0.06)     0.20      0.14  
                    
   Net income per share-diluted   $ 1.73    $ 2.83    $ 0.99  
                    

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

         Restated   
 (In thousands, except per share data)   2004      2003    

 ASSETS              
 Current Assets              
   Cash and cash equivalents   $ 92,801    $ 52,187  
   Short-term investments     10,000      10,000  

  
 Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $1,170 and 
$1,205     94,028      88,461  

   Deferred income tax asset     12,771      13,099  
   Other current assets     12,386      10,536  
   Current assets of discontinued operations     660      17,408  
              
     Total current assets     222,646      191,691  
              
 Restricted Cash     3,908      55,794  
 Property and Equipment, Net     196,744      200,554  
 Deferred Income Tax Asset     —      5,372  
 Direct Finance Lease Receivable     42,953      42,379  
 Other Non Current Assets     13,895      14,567  
 Other Assets of Discontinued Operations     —      176  
              
    $ 480,146    $ 510,533  
              

 LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY              
 Current Liabilities              
   Accounts payable   $ 21,874    $ 21,116  
   Accrued payroll and related taxes     25,026      17,757  
   Accrued expenses     53,607      62,973  
   Current portion of deferred revenue     1,844      1,811  
   Current portion of long-term debt and non-recourse debt     13,736      7,107  
   Current liabilities of discontinued operations     1,609      7,778  
              
     Total current liabilities     117,696      118,542  
              
 Deferred Revenue     4,320      6,197  
 Deferred Tax Liability     1,489      —  
 Minority Interest     1,194      1,025  
 Other Non Current Liabilities     19,448      18,851  
 Long-Term Debt     186,198      239,465  
 Non-Recourse Debt     42,953      42,379  
 Commitments and Contingencies              
 Shareholders’ Equity              

  
 Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized, none 
issued or outstanding 

  
  —

    
  —

  

  
 Common stock, $0.01 par value, 30,000,000 shares authorized, 9,507,391 
and 9,332,552 shares issued and outstanding, respectively     95      93  

   Additional paid-in capital     67,005      64,605  
   Retained earnings     170,879      154,064  
   Accumulated other comprehensive income(loss)     749      (2,808) 
   Treasury stock 12,000,000 shares     (131,880)     (131,880) 
              
     Total shareholders’ equity     106,848      84,074  
              
    $ 480,146    $ 510,533  
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The GEO Group, Inc.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW
Fiscal Years Ended January 2, 2005, December 28, 2003, and December 29, 2002

                              
        Restated     Restated   
    2004     2003     2002   
 (In thousands)                   
 Cash Flow from Operating Activities:                      
   Income from continuing operations   $ 17,430    $ 41,563    $ 18,188  

  
 Adjustments to reconcile income from continuing operations to net cash 
provided by operating activities                      

     Depreciation and amortization expense     14,451      13,904      11,716  
     Amortization of debt issuance costs     303      607      —  
     Deferred tax liability (benefit)     3,433      230      (340) 
     Provision for doubtful accounts     1,296      1,025      2,368  
     Major maintenance reserve     465      296      100  
     Equity in earnings of affiliates, net of tax     —      (1,250)     (4,958) 
     Minority interests in earnings of consolidated entity     710      645      560  
     Other non-cash charges     141      —      —  
     Tax benefit related to employee stock options     773      330      1,081  
     Gain on sale of UK joint venture     —      (61,034)     —  
     Write-off of deferred financing fees from extinguishment of debt     317      1,989      —  
   Changes in assets and liabilities                      
     Accounts receivable     (6,703)     (11,385)     (2,415) 
     Other current assets     (1,309)     2,407      (9,021) 
     Other assets     1,336      (2,333)     4,154  
     Accounts payable and accrued expenses     (9,581)     29,290      1,440  
     Accrued payroll and related taxes     6,820      (2,860)     4,163  
     Deferred revenue     (1,844)     (1,891)     (2,673) 
     Other liabilities     5,282      5,787      8,777  
                    
   Net cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations     33,320      17,320      33,140  

  
 Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities of discontinued 
operations 

  
  7,091

    
  4,869

    
  (5,420) 

                    
   Net cash provided by operating activities     40,411      22,189      27,720  
                    
 Cash Flow from Investing Activities:                      
   Investments in and advances to affiliates     —      193      (171) 
   Repayments of investments in and advances to affiliates     —      —      1,617  
   Proceeds from the sale of UK joint venture     —      80,678      —  
   Proceeds from sales of short-term investments     56,835      2,000      46,125  
   Purchases of short-term investments     (56,835)     (12,000)     (46,125) 
   Change in restricted cash     52,000      (55,794)     —  
   Proceeds from sale of assets     315      —      —  
   Capital expenditures     (10,235)     (6,791)     (160,905) 
                    
   Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities     42,080      8,286      (159,459) 
                    
 Cash Flow from Financing Activities:                      
   Proceeds from long-term debt and non-recourse debt     10,000      272,130      127,981  
   Debt issuance costs including original issue discount     —      (11,857)     (3,111) 
   Payments on long-term debt     (58,704)     (146,250)     —  
   Proceeds from the exercise of stock options     1,589      776      1,264  
   Purchase of common stock     —      (132,000)     —  
                    
   Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities     (47,115)     (17,201)     126,134  
                    
 Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash and Cash Equivalents     1,575      5,734      (3,178) 
                    
 Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents     36,951      19,008      (8,783) 
 Cash and Cash Equivalents, beginning of period*     56,324      37,316      46,099  
                    
 Cash and Cash Equivalents, end of period**   $ 93,275    $ 56,324    $ 37,316  
                    
 Supplemental Disclosures:                      
   Cash paid during the year for:                      
   Income taxes   $ 8,906    $ 32,517    $ 5,589  
                    
   Interest   $ 20,158    $ 5,920    $ 525  
                    

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

The GEO Group, Inc.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Fiscal Years Ended January 2, 2005, December 28, 2003, and December 29, 2002

                                                                  
               Accumulated           
    Common Stock            Other     Treasury Stock       
          Additional        Comprehensive           Total   
    Number        Paid-in     Retained    Income     Number         Shareholders’   
    of Shares    Amount     Capital     Earnings    (Loss)     of Shares     Amount     Equity   
 (In thousands)                                               
 Balance, December 30, 2001     20,977   $ 210    $ 61,157    $ 89,836   $ (20,842)     —    $ —    $ 130,361  
 Restatement Adjustment                         (1,653)                        (1,653) 
                                                
 Restated Balance, 
December 30, 2001     20,977   $ 210    $ 61,157    $ 88,183   $ (20,842)     —    $ —    $ 128,708  
 Proceeds from stock options 
exercised     269     2      1,262      —     —      —      —      1,264  

Tax benefit related to employee 
stock options     —     —      1,081      —     —      —      —      1,081  
 Comprehensive income:                                                      
  Net income           —      —      21,120            —      —         

  
Change in foreign currency 
translation, net of income 
tax benefit of $1,426 

  
   

   
  —

    
  —

    
  —

   
  2,238

    
   

    
  —

    
   

  

  

Minimum pension liability 
adjustment, net of income 
tax benefit of $302           —      —      —     (505)            —         

  
Unrealized loss on derivative 
instruments, net of income 
tax benefit of $1,688 

  
   

   
  —

    
  —

    
  —

   
  (3,290) 

  
   

    
  —

    
   

  

 Total comprehensive income     —     —      —      —     —      —      —      19,563  
                                                
 Restated Balance, 
December 29, 2002 

  
  21,246

   
  212

    
  63,500

    
  109,303

   
  (22,399) 

  
  —

    
  —

    
  150,616

  

Proceeds from stock options 
exercised     87     1      775      —     —      —      —      776  
Purchase of common stock     (12,000)    (120)     —      —     —      (12,000)     (131,880)     (132,000) 
Tax benefit related to employee 
stock options     —     —      330      —     —      —      —      330  
Comprehensive income:                                                      
  Net income           —      —      44,761            —      —         

  
Change in foreign currency 
translation, net of income 
tax expense of $4,902 

  
   

   
  —

    
  —

    
  —

   
  7,668

    
   

    
  —

    
   

  

  

Minimum pension liability 
adjustment, net of income 
tax benefit of $116           —      —      —     (263)            —         

  
Unrealized loss on derivative 
instruments, net of income 
tax benefit of $476 

  
   

   
  —

    
  —

    
  —

   
  (1,112) 

  
   

    
  —

    
   

  

  

Reclassification adjustment 
for losses on UK interest rate 
swaps included in net income 
related to the sale of the UK 
joint venture           —      —      —     13,298             —         

 Total comprehensive income     —     —      —      —     —      —      —      64,352  
                                                
Restated Balance, 
December 28, 2003     9,333     93      64,605      154,064   $ (2,808)     (12,000)     (131,880)     84,074  
Proceeds from stock options 
exercised     174     2      1,589      —     —      —      —      1,591  

Tax benefit related to employee 
stock options     —     —      773      —     —      —      —      773  
Acceleration of vesting on 
employee stock options     —     —      38      —     —      —      —      38  

Comprehensive income:                                                      
   Net income           —      —      16,815            —      —         

  

Change in foreign currency 
translation, net of income 
tax expense of $663           —      —      —     960             —         

  
Minimum pension liability 
adjustment, net of income 
tax expense of $480 

  
   

   
  —

    
  —

    
  —

   
  661

    
   

    
  —

    
   

  

  

Unrealized loss on derivative 
instruments, net of income 
tax expense of $815           —      —      —     1,936             —         

 Total comprehensive income     —     —      —      —     —      —      —      20,372  
                                                
Balance, January 2, 2005     9,507   $ 95    $ 67,005    $ 170,879   $ 749      (12,000)   $ (131,880)   $ 106,848  
                                                

* Includes cash and cash equivalents of discontinued operations of $4,137, $2,361, and $6,005 for the year ended January 2, 2005,
December 28, 2003, and December 29, 2002, respectively.

** Includes cash and cash equivalents of discontinued operations of $474, $4,137, and $2,361 for the year ended January 2, 2005, December
28, 2003, and December 29, 2002, respectively.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



The GEO Group, Inc.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Fiscal Years Ended January 2, 2005, December 28, 2003, and December 29, 2002

Short Term Investments
Short-term investments consist of auction rate securities classified as available-for-sale, which are stated at estimated fair value.

These investments are on deposit with a major financial institution. Unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, are computed on the
first-in first-out basis and are reported as a separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in sharehold-
ers’ equity until realized. There were no unrealized gains or losses at December 28, 2003 and January 2, 2005.

The Company reviewed the classification of its investments in certain auction rate securities and concluded they should be
classified as short-term investments as compared to their prior classification as cash equivalents. As of December 28, 2003, sim-
ilar securities totaling $10 million have been reclassified from cash equivalents to short-term investments in the accompanying
Fiscal 2003 consolidated balance sheet and the related effect has been reflected in the fiscal 2003 and 2002 consolidated state-
ments of cash flows from investing activities which decreased by $10 million in 2003 from that previously reported. As of January
2, 2005, these securities totaled $10 million and are classified as “short-term investments” on the consolidated balance sheet for
fiscal year 2004.

Accounts Receivable 
The Company extends credit to the governmental agencies it contracts with and other parties in the normal course of busi-

ness as a result of billing and receiving payment for services thirty to sixty days in arrears. Further, management of the Company
regularly reviews outstanding receivables, and provide estimated losses through an allowance for doubtful accounts. In evalu-
ating the level of established reserves the Company makes judgments regarding its customers’ ability to make required payments,
economic events and other factors. The Company does not require collateral for the credit it extends to its customers. As the finan-
cial condition of these parties change, circumstances develop or additional information becomes available, adjustments to the
allowance for doubtful accounts may be required.

Inventories 
Food and supplies inventories are carried at the lower of cost or market, on a first-in first-out basis and are included in “other

current assets” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Uniform inventories are carried at amortized cost and are amor-
tized over a period of eighteen months. The current portion of unamortized uniforms is included in “other current assets.” The
long-term portion is included in “other assets” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Restricted Cash
The Company’s wholly owned Australian subsidiary financed a facility’s development and subsequent expansion in 2003 with

long-term debt obligations, which are non-recourse to the Company. As a condition of the loan, the Company is required to main-
tain a restricted cash balance of AUD 5.0 million. The term of the non-recourse debt is through 2017.

Costs of Acquisition Opportunities
Internal costs associated with a business combination are expensed as incurred. Direct and incremental costs related to suc-

cessful negotiations where we are the acquiring company are capitalized as part of the cost of the acquisition. As of January 2,
2005 the Company had no capitalized costs. During the fourth quarter of 2004, the Company wrote off approximately $1.3 mil-
lion of costs. Costs associated with unsuccessful negotiations are expensed when it is probable that the acquisition will not occur.

Property and Equipment 
Property and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line

method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets. Buildings and improvements are depreciated over 2 to 40 years.
Equipment and furniture and fixtures are depreciated over 3 to 7 years. Accelerated methods of depreciation are generally used
for income tax purposes. Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the useful life of
the improvement or the term of the lease. The Company performs ongoing evaluations of the estimated useful lives of the prop-
erty and equipment for depreciation purposes. The estimated useful lives are determined and continually evaluated based on
the period over which services are expected to be rendered by the asset. Maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. Interest
is capitalized in connection with the construction of correctional and detention facilities. Capitalized interest is recorded as part
of the asset to which it relates and is amortized over the asset’s estimated useful life. No interest cost was capitalized in 2004
or 2003.
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1.  Summary of Business Operations and Significant Accounting Policies 
The GEO Group, Inc., a Florida corporation, and subsidiaries (the “Company”) is a leading developer and manager of pri-

vatized correctional, detention and mental health services facilities located in the United States, Australia, South Africa, and New
Zealand. Until July 9, 2003, the Company was a majority owned subsidiary of The Wackenhut Corporation, (“TWC”). TWC
previously owned 12 million shares of the Company’s common stock.

On May 8, 2002, TWC consummated a merger with a wholly owned subsidiary of Group 4 Falck A/S (“Group 4 Falck”) a
Danish multinational security and correctional services company. As a result of the merger, Group 4 Falck acquired TWC and
became the indirect beneficial owner of 12 million shares of the Company. On July 2, 2003, the Company sold its 50% inter-
est in its United Kingdom joint venture, Premier Custodial Group Limited (“PCG”) for approximately $80.7 million and rec-
ognized a pre-tax gain of approximately $61.0 million. On July 9, 2003, the Company purchased all 12 million shares of its
common stock, par value $0.01, beneficially owned by Group 4 Falck for $132 million in cash pursuant to the terms of a share
purchase agreement.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States. The significant accounting policies of the Company are described below.

Fiscal Year 
The Company’s fiscal year ends on the Sunday closest to the calendar year end. Fiscal year 2004 included 53 weeks. Fiscal

years 2003 and 2002 each included 52 weeks. The Company reports the results of its South African equity affiliate, South African
Custodial Services Pty. Limited, (“SACS”), and its consolidated South African entity, South African Custodial Management Pty.
Limited (“SACM”) on a calendar year end, due to the availability of information.

Basis of Presentation 
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and all controlled subsidiaries. Investments in

50% owned affiliates, which we do not control, are accounted for under the equity method of accounting. Intercompany trans-
actions have been eliminated. Certain reclassifications of the prior year’s financial statements have been made to conform to the
current year’s presentation. Auction rate securities in the amount of $10.0 million have been reclassified from cash and cash equiv-
alents to short-term investments in the December 28, 2003 consolidated balance sheet to conform to the fiscal 2004 financial
statement presentation. Accordingly, the statements of cash flows for the years ended December 28, 2003 and January 2, 2005
reflect this presentation.

Use of Estimates 
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United

States requires management to make certain estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting peri-
od. While the Company believes that such estimates are fair when considered in conjunction with the consolidated financial state-
ments taken as a whole, the actual amounts of such estimates, when known, will vary from these estimates. If actual results sig-
nificantly differ from the Company’s estimates, the Company’s financial condition and results of operations could be material-
ly impacted.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments 
The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued

expenses approximate their fair value due to the short maturity of these items. The carrying value of the Company’s long-term
debt related to its Senior Credit Facility (See Note 8) and non-recourse debt approximates fair value based on the variable inter-
est rates on the debt. For the Company’s 81/4% Senior Unsecured Notes, the stated value and fair value based on quoted mar-
ket rates was $150.0 million and $162.4 million, respectively, at January 2, 2005.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include all interest-bearing deposits or investments with original maturities of three months or less.
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inmate or on a fixed monthly rate.

Project development and design revenues are recognized as earned on a percentage of completion basis measured by the per-
centage of costs incurred to date as compared to estimated total cost for each contract. This method is used because the
Company considers costs incurred to date to be the best available measure of progress on these contracts. Provisions for esti-
mated losses on uncompleted contracts and changes to cost estimates are made in the period in which the Company determines
that such losses and changes are probable. Contract costs include all direct material and labor costs and those indirect costs relat-
ed to contract performance. Changes in job performance, job conditions, and estimated profitability, including those arising from
contract penalty provisions, and final contract settlements, may result in revisions to estimated costs and income, and are rec-
ognized in the period in which the revisions are determined. At January 2, 2005 the Company had recognized approximately $15.3
million in construction revenue and $0.5 million of unbilled costs related to project development and design included in the con-
solidated balance sheet in other current assets. Additionally there was approximately $0.1 million retainage due at January 2,
2005.

The Company extends credit to the governmental agencies it contracts with and other parties in the normal course of busi-
ness as a result of billing and receiving payment for services thirty to sixty days in arrears. Further, the Company regularly reviews
outstanding receivables, and provides estimated losses through an allowance for doubtful accounts. In evaluating the level of estab-
lished loss reserves, the Company makes judgments regarding its customers’ ability to make required payments, economic events
and other factors. As the financial condition of these parties change, circumstances develop or additional information becomes
available, adjustments to the allowance for doubtful accounts may be required. The Company also performs ongoing credit eval-
uations of customers’ financial condition and generally does not require collateral. The Company maintains reserves for poten-
tial credit losses, and such losses traditionally have been within its expectations.

Income Taxes
The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with FAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” Under this method,

deferred income taxes are determined based on the estimated future tax effects of differences between the financial statement
and tax bases of assets and liabilities given the provisions of enacted tax laws. Deferred income tax provisions and benefits are
based on changes to the assets or liabilities from year to year. Valuation allowances are recorded related to deferred tax assets
based on the “more likely than not” criteria of FAS No. 109.

In providing for deferred taxes, the Company considers tax regulations of the jurisdiction in which the Company operates,
and estimates of future taxable income and available tax planning strategies. If tax regulations, operating results or the abili-
ty to implement tax-planning strategies vary, adjustments to the carrying value of the deferred tax assets and liabilities may be
required. In December 2004, the Company entered into a dividend re-investment plan under the requirements established by
the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (“the Act”). The Company recognized a benefit of $0.2 million in 2004 and expects
to realize an additional benefit of $1.7 million in 2005 when Congress is expected to pass a technical correction clarifying cer-
tain aspects of the Act.

Earnings Per Share 
Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted-average number of common shares outstand-

ing. In the computation of diluted earnings per share, the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding is adjusted
for the dilutive effect of shares issuable upon exercise of stock options calculated using the treasury stock method.

Direct Finance Leases
The Company accounts for the portion of its contracts with certain governmental agencies that represent capitalized lease pay-

ments on buildings and equipment as investments in direct finance leases. Accordingly, the minimum lease payments to be received
over the term of the leases less unearned income are capitalized as the Company’s investments in the leases. Unearned income
is recognized as income over the term of the leases using the interest method.

Reserves for Insurance Losses 
Claims for which the Company is insured arising from its U.S. operations that have an occurrence date of October 1, 2002

or earlier are handled by TWC and are fully insured up to an aggregate limit of between $25.0 million and $50.0 million, depend-
ing on the nature of the claim. With respect to claims for which the Company is insured arising after October 1, 2002, we main-
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Long-Lived Assets 
The Company reviews long-lived assets to be held and used for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indi-

cate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be fully recoverable. Determination of recoverability is based on an esti-
mate of undiscounted future cash flows resulting from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition. Measurement of an impair-
ment loss for long-lived assets that management expects to hold and use is based on the fair value of the asset. Long-lived assets
to be disposed of are reported at the lower of carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell. Management has reviewed the
Company’s long-lived assets and determined that there are no events requiring impairment loss recognition. Events that would
trigger an impairment assessment include deterioration of profits for a business segment that has long-lived assets, or when other
changes occur which might impair recovery of long-lived assets.

With the adoption of FAS No. 142, the Company’s goodwill is no longer amortized, but is subject to an annual impairment
test. There was no impairment of goodwill as a result of adopting FAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” or the
annual impairment test completed during the fourth quarter of 2004 and 2003. The Company’s goodwill at January 2, 2005 and
December 28, 2003 was associated with its Australian subsidiary in the amount of $0.6 million and $0.4 million, respectively.

Idle Facilities 
The Company has entered into ten year non cancelable operating leases with Correctional Properties Trust, or CPV, for eleven

facilities with initial terms that expire at various times beginning in April 2008 and extending through January 2010. In the event
that the Company’s facility management contract for one of these leased facilities is terminated, the Company would remain respon-
sible for payments to CPV on the underlying lease. The Company will account for idle periods under any such lease in accor-
dance with FAS No. 146 “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities.” Specifically, the Company will review
its estimate for sublease income and records a charge for the difference between the net present value of the sublease income
and the lease expense over the remaining term of the lease.

Variable Interest Entities
In January 2003, the FASB issued FIN No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities,” which addressed consolidation

by a business of variable interest entities in which it is the primary beneficiary. In December 2003 the FASB issued FIN No. 46R
which replaced FIN No. 46. The Company has reviewed its 50% owned South African joint venture SACS, and determined it
is a variable interest entity. The Company determined that it is not the primary beneficiary of SACS and as a result the Company
is not required to consolidate SACS under FIN 46R. The Company continues to account for SACS, as an equity affiliate. SACS
was established in 2001, to design, finance and build the Kutama Sinthumule Correctional Center and SACM was established
to operate correctional centers. Subsequently, SACS was awarded a 25 year contract to design, construct, manage and finance
a facility in Louis Trichardt, South Africa. SACS, based on the terms of the contract with government, was able to obtain long
term financing to build the prison. The financing is fully guaranteed by the government, except in the event of default, for which
it provides an 80% guarantee. See Note 8 for a summary of the Company’s guarantees related to SACS. Separately, SACS entered
into a long term operating contract with South African Custodial Management Pty. Limited (SACM) to provide security and other
management services and with SACS’s joint venture partner to provide purchasing, programs and maintenance services upon
completion of the construction phase, which concluded in February 2002. The Company’s maximum exposure for loss under
this contract is $15.6 million, which represents the Company’s initial investment and the guarantees discussed in Note 8.

Deferred Revenue
Deferred revenue primarily represents the unamortized net gain on the development of properties and on the sale and lease-

back of properties by the Company to Correctional Properties Trust (“CPV”), a Maryland real estate investment trust. The Company
leases these properties back from CPV under operating leases. Deferred revenue is being amortized over the lives of the leases
and is recognized in income as a reduction of rental expenses.

Revenue Recognition 
In accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 101, “Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements”, as amend-

ed by SAB No. 104, “Revenue Recognition”, and related interpretations, facility management revenues are recognized as serv-
ices are provided under facility management contracts with approved government appropriations based on a net rate per day per
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agement objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. This process includes attributing all derivatives that
are designated as cash flow hedges to floating rate liabilities and attributing all derivatives that are designated as fair value hedges
to fixed rate liabilities. The Company also assesses whether each derivative is highly effective in offsetting changes in the cash
flows of the hedged item. Fluctuations in the value of the derivative instruments are generally offset by changes in the hedged
item; however, if it is determined that a derivative is not highly effective as a hedge or if a derivative ceases to be a highly effec-
tive hedge, the Company will discontinue hedge accounting prospectively for the affected derivative.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation 
As permitted by FAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” as amended by FAS No. 148, “Accounting for

Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure”, the Company currently accounts for share-based payments to
employees using Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” intrin-
sic method and, as such, generally recognizes no compensation cost for employee stock options.

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued FAS No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based
Payment”, which is a revision of FAS No. 123. The impact of adoption of FAS 123(R) cannot be predicted at this time because
it will depend on levels of share-based payments granted in the future. The Company has not determined the impact of FAS 123(R),
however, had we adopted FAS 123(R) in prior periods the Company would have recognized additional expense and expects to
recognize expense in the future, when it does adopt FAS 123(R). FAS 123(R) also requires the benefits of tax deductions in excess
of recognized compensation cost to be reported as a financing cash flow, rather than as an operating cash flow as required under
current literature. This requirement will reduce net operating cash flows and increase net financing cash flows in periods after
adoption. While the Company cannot estimate what those amounts will be in the future (because they depend on, among other
things, when employees exercise stock options), the amount of operating cash flows recognized in prior periods for such excess
tax deductions were $0.8 million, $0.3 million and $1.1 million at January 2, 2005, December 28, 2003, and December 29, 2002,
respectively.

Had compensation cost for these plans been determined based on the fair value at date of grant in accordance with FAS No.
123, the Company’s net income and earnings per share would have been reduced to the pro forma amounts as follows (in thou-
sands, except per share data):1
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tain a general liability policy for all U.S. operations with $52.0 million per occurrence and in the aggregate. On October 1, 2004
the Company increased its deductible on this general liability policy from $1.0 million to $3.0 million for each claim which occurs
after October 1, 2004. The Company also maintains insurance in amounts the Company’s management deems adequate to cover
property and casualty risks, workers’ compensation, medical malpractice and automobile liability. The Company’s Australian
subsidiary is required to carry tail insurance through 2011 related to a discontinued contract. In addition, the Company carries
various types of insurance with respect to its operations in South Africa, Australia and New Zealand.

Since the Company’s insurance policies generally have high deductible amounts (including a $3.0 million per claim deductible
under our general liability policy), losses are recorded as reported and a provision is made to cover losses incurred but not report-
ed. Loss reserves are undiscounted and are computed based on independent actuarial studies. The Company’s management uses
judgments in assessing loss estimates based on actuarial studies, which include actual claim amounts and loss development con-
sidering historical and industry experience. If actual losses related to insurance claims significantly differ from our estimates,
the Company’s financial condition and results of operations could be materially impacted.

Debt Issuance Costs 
Debt issuance costs totaling $5.9 million and $6.9 million at January 2, 2005, and December 28, 2003, respectively, are includ-

ed in other non current assets in the consolidated balance sheets and are amortized into interest expense using the effective inter-
est method, over the term of the related debt.

Comprehensive Income 
The Company’s comprehensive income is comprised of net income, foreign currency translation adjustments, unrealized loss

on derivative instruments, minimum pension liability adjustment, and a reclassification adjustment for losses on UK interest rate
swaps related to the sale of the UK joint venture in the Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity and Comprehensive
Income.

Concentration of Credit Risk 
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash and cash

equivalents, trade accounts receivable, short-term investments, direct finance lease receivable, long-term debt and financial instru-
ments used in hedging activities. The Company’s cash management and investment policies restrict investments to low-risk, high-
ly liquid securities, and the Company performs periodic evaluations of the credit standing of the financial institutions with which
it deals. As of January 2, 2005, and December 28, 2003, the Company had no significant concentrations of credit risk except as
disclosed in Note 15.

Foreign Currency Translation 
The Company’s foreign operations use their local currencies as their functional currencies. Assets and liabilities of the oper-

ations are translated at the exchange rates in effect on the balance sheet date and shareholders’ equity is translated at historical
rates. Income statement items are translated at the average exchange rates for the year. The impact of foreign currency fluctua-
tion is included in shareholders’ equity as a component of accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income and totaled $2.5 mil-
lion at January 2, 2005 and $1.6 million as of December 28, 2003.

Financial Instruments 
In accordance with FAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” and its related interpre-

tations and amendments, the Company records derivatives as either assets or liabilities on the balance sheet and measures those
instruments at fair value. For derivatives that are designed as and qualify as effective cash flow hedges, the portion of gain or
loss on the derivative instrument effective at offsetting changes in the hedged item is reported as a component of accumulated
other comprehensive income and reclassified into earnings when the hedged transaction affects earnings.

Total accumulated other comprehensive loss related to these cash flow hedges was $1.7 million and $3.8 million as of January
2, 2005 and December 28, 2003, respectively. For derivative instruments that are designated as and qualify as effective fair value
hedges, the gain or loss on the derivative instrument as well as the offsetting gain or loss on the hedged item attributable to the
hedged risk is recognized in current earnings as interest income (expense) during the period of the change in fair values.

The Company formally documents all relationships between hedging instruments and hedge items, as well as its risk-man-
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        Restated     Restated   
Pro Forma Disclosures   2004     2003     2002   
(In thousands, except per share data)                    
       
Net income   $ 16,815    $ 44,761    $ 21,120  
Less: Total stock-based employee compensation 
expense determined under fair value based method
for all awards, net of related tax effects 

  
$ (765) 

  
$ (935) 

  
$ (1,060) 

Pro forma net income   $ 16,050    $ 43,826    $ 20,060  
Basic earnings per share                      
   As reported   $ 1.79    $ 2.87    $ 1.00  
   Pro forma   $ 1.71    $ 2.81    $ 0.95  
Diluted earnings per share                      
   As reported   $ 1.73    $ 2.83    $ 0.99  
   Pro forma   $ 1.65    $ 2.77    $ 0.94  
Risk free interest rates     3.25%     1.73% - 2.92%     2.37% - 3.47% 
Expected lives     3-7 years      3-7 years      4-8 years  
Expected volatility     40%     49%     49% 
Expected dividend     —      —      —  
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The following tables show the effect of the Restatements on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Income and Balance
Sheet.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements 
On December 16, 2004, the FASB issued FAS No. 123 (revised 2004). FAS No. 123(R) supercedes APB 25 and amends FASB

Statement No. 95, “Statement of Cash Flows”. Statement 123(R) requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants
of employee stock options, to be recognized in the income statement based on their fair values. The accounting provisions of
FAS 123(R) are effective for the third quarter of fiscal 2005. The Company has not yet assessed the impact of adoption of FAS
123(R).

In June 2004, the FASB issued Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 02-14, “Whether an Investor Should Apply
the Equity Method of Accounting to Investments Other Than Common Stock.” EITF Issue No. 02-14 addresses whether the equi-
ty method of accounting applies when an investor does not have an investment in voting common stock of an investee but exer-
cises significant influence through other means. EITF Issue No. 02-14 states that an investor should only apply the equity method
of accounting when it has investments in either common stock or in-substance common stock of a corporation, provided that the
investor has the ability to exercise significant influence over the operating and financial policies of the investee. The accounting
provisions of EITF Issue No. 02-14 are effective for the first quarter of fiscal 2005. The Company does not expect the adoption
of EITF Issue No. 02-14 to impact its financial statements.

In March 2004, the FASB issued EITF No. 03-1, “The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and Its Application to
Certain Investments” which provides new guidance for assessing impairment losses on debt and equity investments. Additionally,
EITF Issue No. 03-1 includes new disclosure requirements for investments that are deemed to be temporarily impaired. In
September 2004, the FASB delayed the accounting provisions of EITF Issue No. 03-1; however, the disclosure requirements remain
effective and have been adopted for the Company’s year ended January 2, 2005. The Company will evaluate the effect, if any, of
EITF Issue No. 03-1 when final guidance is released.

1 See Note 13 for more information regarding the Company’s stock option plans.

2.  Restatements
The Company has restated its Consolidated Financial Statements for the fiscal years ended December 28, 2003 and December 29,

2002 to reflect the application of the appropriate accounting principles to the recognition of compensated absences according to
generally accepted accounting principles. Under generally accepted accounting principles compensated absences must be accrued
for hourly and salaried employees. The accrual must consist of the vested liability as well as the amount of the unvested liability
that is deemed to be earned under the rules that govern FAS No. 43 “Accounting for Compensated Absences.” Prior to the restate-
ment, the Company’s vacation expense and related accruals were understated for 2003, 2002 and prior periods. The impact of this
restatement on such prior periods was reflected as a $2.2 million adjustment to retained earnings as of December 30, 2001.

Additionally, the Company determined that under Financial Accounting Standard (“FAS”), No. 94, “Consolidation of All Majority-
Owned Subsidiaries”, the Company is required to consolidate SACM, one of its joint ventures in South Africa. The Company also
determined that it had not properly applied FAS 94 for 2003 or 2002 for SACM. As a result the Company has restated its consol-
idated financial statements for years ended December 28, 2003 and December 29, 2002 and reflected the operations of SACM as
a consolidated subsidiary. SACM was previously included in our consolidated balance sheets as investment and advances to affil-
iates, and in our consolidated statement of income as equity in earnings of affiliates.

Also, the Company reviewed its practice for depreciating leasehold improvements in part due to the recent attention and focus
on this area. The Company determined it had inappropriately included option periods when determining the amortization peri-
od for certain leasehold improvements. As result, the Company’s depreciation expense was understated for 2003, 2002 and prior
periods. The Company has restated its consolidated financial statements for 2003 and 2002 to reflect the appropriate amortiza-
tion of these items, and its retained earnings as of December 30, 2001 by $0.5 million to reflect the impact on prior periods.

Summarized below is a more detailed discussion of the restatements (collectively, the “Restatements”), described above, along
with a comparison of the amounts previously reported in the Statements of Income in the Company’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the fiscal years ended December 28, 2003 and December 29, 2002 and the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December
28, 2003. There are also resulting changes to the captions within the net Cash Provided by Operating Activities on the Statement
of Cash Flows. All financial information reported for those fiscal years in these consolidated financial statements reflects the
restatements.
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    Year Ended 2003     Year Ended 2002   
              
Statements of Income   Unadjusted     Restated     Change     Unadjusted     Restated     Change   
(In thousands, except per share data)                                      
       
Revenues   $ 554,817    $ 567,441    $ 12,624    $ 509,228    $ 517,162    $ 7,934  
Operating Expenses     474,724      484,018      9,294      442,043      449,442      7,399  
Depreciation and Amortization     13,485      13,904      419      11,352      11,716      364  
General and Administrative Expenses     39,379      39,379      —      32,146      32,146      —  
                                      
Operating Income     27,229      30,140      2,911      23,687      23,858      171  
Interest Income     6,651      6,874      223      4,794      4,848      54  
Interest Expense     (17,896)     (17,896)     —      (3,737)     (3,738)     (1) 
Write-off of Deferred Financing fees 
from Extinguishment of Debt 

  
  (1,989) 

  
  (1,989) 

  
  —

    
  —

    
  —

    
  —

  

Gain on Sale of UK Joint Venture     61,034      61,034      —      —      —      —  
                                      
Income before income taxes, equity 
in earnings of affiliates, discontinued 
operations and minority interest 

  
  75,029

    
  78,163

    
  3,134

    
  24,744

    
  24,968

    
  224

  

Provision for income taxes     35,945      37,205      1,260      11,395      11,312      (83) 
Minority Interest     —      (645)     (645)     —      (426)     (426) 
Equity in Earnings of Affiliates     2,986      1,250      (1,736)     5,220      4,958      (262) 
                                      

  
 Income from continuing 
operations 

  
  42,070

    
  41,563

    
  (507) 

  
  18,569

    
  18,188

    
  (381) 

  

Income from discontinued 
operations, net of tax expense of 
$1,329 and $1,257     3,198      3,198      —      2,932      2,932      —  

                                      
 Net income   $ 45,268    $ 44,761    $ (507)   $ 21,501    $ 21,120    $ (381) 
                                      
Income per Common Share:                                          
Basic:                                          
Income from continuing operations   $ 2.70    $ 2.67    $ (0.03)   $ 0.88    $ 0.86    $ (0.02) 
 Income from discontinued 
operations 

  
$ 0.20

    
$ 0.20

    
$ —

    
$ 0.14

    
$ 0.14

    
$ —

  

                                      
Net income per share-basic   $ 2.90    $ 2.87    $ (0.03)   $ 1.02    $ 1.00    $ (0.02) 
                                      
Diluted:                                          
Income from continuing operations   $ 2.66    $ 2.63    $ (0.03)   $ 0.87    $ 0.85    $ (0.02) 
Income from discontinued operations   $ 0.20    $ 0.20    $ —    $ 0.14    $ 0.14      —  
                                      
Net income per share-diluted   $ 2.86    $ 2.83    $ (0.03)   $ 1.01    $ 0.99    $ (0.02) 
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3.  Discontinued Operations
The Company formerly had, through its Australian subsidiary, a contract with the Department of Immigration, Multicultural

and Indigenous Affairs (“DIMIA”) for the management and operation of Australia’s immigration centers. In 2003, the contract
was not renewed, and effective February 29, 2004, the Company completed the transition of the contract and exited the man-
agement and operation of the DIMIA centers. In accordance with the provisions related to discontinued operations specified with-
in FAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”, the accompanying consolidated financial
statements and notes reflect the operations of DIMIA as a discontinued operation in all periods presented. The following are the
revenues related to DIMIA for the periods presented (in thousands):

4.  Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consist of the following at fiscal year end:

Capitalized interest is recorded as part of the asset to which it relates and is amortized over the asset’s estimated useful life.
No interest was capitalized in 2004 and 2003.

5.  Investment in Direct Finance Leases
The Company’s investment in direct finance leases relates to the financing and management of one Australian facility. The

Company’s wholly-owned Australian subsidiary financed the facility’s development with long-term debt obligations, which are
non-recourse to the Company. The Company’s financial statements reflect the consolidated Australian’s subsidiary’s direct finance
lease receivable from the state government and related non-recourse debt each totaling approximately $44.7 million and $43.9
as of January 2, 2005 and December 28, 2003, respectively.

The future minimum rentals to be received are as follows (in thousands):
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    Year Ended 2003   
        
 (In thousands)   Unadjusted     Restated     Change   
          
ASSETS 
 Current Assets                      
   Cash and cash equivalents   $ 48,679    $ 52,187    $ 3,508  
   Short-term investments     10,000      10,000      —  
   Accounts receivable     87,184      88,461      1,277  
   Deferred income tax asset     11,839      13,099      1,260  
   Other     10,536      10,536      —  
   Current assets of discontinued operations     17,408      17,408      —  
                    
     Total Current Assets     185,646      191,691      6,045  
                    
 Restricted Cash     55,794      55,794      —  
 Property and Equipment, Net     201,339      200,554      (785) 
 Deferred Income Tax Asset     4,980      5,372      392  
 Direct Finance Lease Receivable     42,379      42,379      —  
 Other Non Current Assets     16,976      14,567      (2,409) 
 Other Assets of Discontinued Operations     176      176      —  
                    
    $ 507,290    $ 510,533    $ 3,243  
                    
  
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
 Current Liabilities                      
 Accounts Payable   $ 20,667    $ 21,116    $ 449  
   Accrued payroll and related taxes     14,293      17,757      3,464  
   Accrued expenses     61,783      62,973      1,190  
   Current portion of deferred revenue     1,811      1,811      —  
   Current portion of long-term debt and non-recourse debt     7,107      7,107      —  
   Current liabilities of discontinued operations     7,778      7,778      —  
                    
     Total Current Liabilities     113,439      118,542      5,103  
                    
 Deferred Revenue     6,197      6,197      —  
 Minority Interest     —      1,025      1,025  
 Other Non-Current Liabilities     18,851      18,851      —  
 Long-Term Debt     239,465      239,465      —  
 Non-Recourse Debt     42,379      42,379      —  
 Shareholders’ Equity                      
   Common stock     93      93      —  
   Additional paid-in capital     64,605      64,605      —  
   Retained earnings     156,605      154,064      (2,541) 
   Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)     (2,464)     (2,808)     (344) 

  
 Treasury stock 

  
  

(131,880) 
  

  
(131,880) 

  
  

—  

                    
     Total Shareholders’ Equity     86,959      84,074      (2,885) 
                    
    $ 507,290    $ 510,533    $ 3,243  
                    

    2004     2003     2002   

 (In thousands)                   
 Revenues   $ 6,040    $ 62,673    $ 59,384  

 

    Useful         Restated   
    Life     2004     2003   
 (In thousands)   (Years)       
 Land        —     $ 4,399    $ 3,707  
 Buildings and improvements    2 to 40      213,878      209,282  
 Equipment    3 to 7      24,547      21,909  
 Furniture and fixtures    3 to 7      4,205      3,369  
                    
           $ 247,029    $ 238,267  
 Less accumulated depreciation and amortization            (50,285)     (37,713) 
                    
           $ 196,744    $ 200,554  
                    

          
    Annual   
Fiscal Year   Repayment   

    (In thousands)    
 2005   $ 5,981  
 2006     6,002  
 2007     6,034  
 2008     6,082  
 2009     6,123  
 Thereafter     48,210  
        
 Total minimum obligation     78,432  
 Less unearned interest income     (33,749) 
 Less current portion of direct finance lease     (1,730) 
        
 Investment in Direct Finance Lease   $ 42,953  



8.  Debt
Debt consisted of the following (dollars in thousands):

The Senior Credit Facility
On July 9, 2003, the Company amended its Senior Credit Facility to consist of a $50.0 million, five-year revolving loan, referred

to as the Revolving Credit Facility, and a $100.0 million, six-year term loan, referred to as the Term Loan Facility. The Revolving
Credit Facility contains a $40.0 million sub limit for the issuance of standby letters of credit. On February 20, 2004, the
Company amended the Senior Credit Facility to, among other things, reduce the interest rates applicable to borrowings under
the Senior Credit Facility, obtain flexibility to make certain information technology related capital expenditures and provide addi-
tional time to reinvest the net proceeds from the sale of PCG. On June 25, 2004, the Company used $43.0 million of net pro-
ceeds from the sale of PCG to permanently reduce the term loan portion of the Senior Credit Facility, and the Company also wrote
off approximately $0.3 million in deferred financing costs related to this payment. At January 2, 2005, the Company had bor-
rowings of $51.5 million outstanding under the term loan portion of the Senior Credit Facility, no amounts outstanding under
the revolving portion of the Senior Credit Facility, and $32.8 million outstanding in letters of credit under the revolving portion
of the Senior Credit Facility.

All of the obligations under the Senior Credit Facility are unconditionally guaranteed by each of the Company’s existing mate-
rial domestic subsidiaries. The Senior Credit Facility and the related guarantees are secured by substantially all of the Company’s
present and future tangible and intangible assets and all present and future tangible and intangible assets of each guarantor, includ-
ing but not limited to (i) a first-priority pledge of all of the outstanding capital stock owned by the Company and each guaran-
tor, and (ii) perfected first-priority security interests in all of the Company’s present and future tangible and intangible assets and
the present and future tangible and intangible assets of each guarantor.

Indebtedness under the Revolving Credit Facility bears interest at the Company’s option at the base rate plus a spread vary-
ing from 0.75% to 1.50% (depending upon a leverage-based pricing grid set forth in the Senior Credit Facility), or at LIBOR
plus a spread, varying from 2.00% to 2.75% (depending upon a leverage-based pricing grid, as defined in the Senior Credit Facility).
As of January 2, 2005, there were no borrowings currently outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility. However, new bor-
rowings would bear interest at LIBOR plus 2.25%. The Term Loan Facility bears interest at the Company’s option at the base
rate plus a spread of 1.25%, or at LIBOR plus 2.5%. Borrowings under the Term Loan Facility currently bear interest at LIBOR
plus a spread of 2.5%. If an event of default occurs under the Senior Credit Facility, (i) all LIBOR rate loans bear interest at the
rate which is 2.0% in excess of the rate then applicable to LIBOR rate loans until the end of the applicable interest period and
thereafter at a rate which is 2.0% in excess of the rate then applicable to base rate loans, and (ii) all base rate loans bear inter-
est at a rate which is 2.0% in excess of the rate then applicable to base rate loans.

6.  Derivative Financial Instruments
Effective September 18, 2003, the Company entered into interest rate swap agreements in the aggregate notional amount

of $50.0 million. The Company has designated the swaps as hedges against changes in the fair value of a designated portion of
the Notes due to changes in underlying interest rates. Changes in the fair value of the interest rate swaps are recorded in earn-
ings along with related designated changes in the value of the Notes. The agreements, which have payment and expiration dates
and call provisions that coincide with the terms of the Notes, effectively convert $50.0 million of the Notes into variable rate
obligations. Under the agreements, the Company receives a fixed interest rate payment from the financial counterparties to the
agreements equal to 8.25% per year calculated on the notional $50.0 million amount, while the Company makes a variable inter-
est rate payment to the same counterparties equal to the six-month London Interbank Offered Rate, (“LIBOR”) plus a fixed mar-
gin of 3.45%, also calculated on the notional $50.0 million amount. As of January 2, 2005 and December 28, 2003 the fair value
of the swaps totaled approximately $0.7 million and is included in other non-current assets and as an adjustment to the carry-
ing value of the Notes in the accompanying balance sheets. There was no material ineffectiveness of the Company’s interest rate
swaps for the fiscal year ended January 2, 2005.

The Company’s Australian subsidiary is a party to an interest rate swap agreement to fix the interest rate on the variable rate
non-recourse debt to 9.7%. The Company has determined the swap to be an effective cash flow hedge. Accordingly, the
Company records the value of the interest rate swap in accumulated other comprehensive income, net of applicable income taxes.
The total value of the swap liability as of January 2, 2005 and December 28, 2003 was approximately $2.5 million and $5.2 mil-
lion, respectively, and is recorded as a component of other liabilities in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. There
was no material ineffectiveness of the Company’s interest rate swaps for the fiscal years presented.

The Company’s former 50% owned joint venture operating in the United Kingdom was a party to several interest rate swaps
to fix the interest rate on its variable rate credit facility. The Company previously determined the swaps to be effective cash flow
hedges and upon the initial adoption of FAS No. 133 on January 1, 2001, the Company recognized a $12.1 million reduction of
shareholders’ equity. In fiscal 2003, in connection with the sale of the 50% owned joint venture in the UK, the Company reclas-
sified the remaining balance of approximately $13.3 million from accumulated other comprehensive loss into earnings as a reduc-
tion of the gain on sale of the UK joint venture.

7.  Accrued Expenses
Accrued expenses consisted of the following (dollars in thousands):
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        Restated   
    2004     2003   
              
 Accrued Interest   $ 5,476    $ 6,292  
 Accrued Bonus     5,608      4,045  
 Accrued Insurance     15,686      13,626  
 Accrued Taxes     1,372      6,373  
 Jena Idle Facility Lease Reserve     5,847      5,115  
 Other     19,618      27,521  
              
   Total   $ 53,607    $ 62,972  

        Restated   
    2004     2003   
              
 Senior Credit Facility:               
 Term Loan   $ 51,521    $ 98,750  
 Senior 81/4% Notes:               
 Notes Due in 2013   $ 150,000    $ 150,000  
 Discount on Notes     (4,063)     (4,367) 
 Swap on Notes     746      703  
              
   Total Senior 81/4% Notes   $ 146,683    $ 146,336  
 Non Recourse Debt     44,683      43,865  
              
   Total Debt   $ 242,887    $ 288,951  
              
 Current Portion of Debt     (13,736)     (7,107) 
 Non Recourse Debt     (42,953)     (42,379) 
              
 Long Term Debt   $ 186,198    $ 239,465  
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est, and any applicable liquidated damages. Additionally, after July 15, 2008, the Company may redeem, at the Company’s option,
all or a portion of the Notes plus accrued and unpaid interest at various redemption prices ranging from 104.125% to 100.000%
of the principal amount to be redeemed, depending on when the redemption occurs. The Indenture contains covenants that limit
the Company’s ability to incur additional indebtedness, pay dividends or distributions on its common stock, repurchase its com-
mon stock, and prepay subordinated indebtedness. The Indenture also limits the Company’s ability to issue preferred stock, make
certain types of investments, merge or consolidate with another company, guarantee other indebtedness, create liens and trans-
fer and sell assets. On June 25, 2004, as required by the terms of the Indenture governing the Notes, the Company used $43.0
million of the net proceeds from the sale of PCG to permanently reduce the Senior Credit Facility, and wrote off approximate-
ly $0.3 million in deferred financing costs related to this payment.

The Company is in compliance with all of the covenants of the Indenture governing the notes as of January 2, 2005.

As of January 2, 2005, the Notes are reflected net of the original issuer’s discount of approximately $4.1 million which is
being amortized over the ten year term of the Notes using the effective interest method.

Debt repayment schedules under the Term Loan Facility and the Notes are as follows:

At January 2, 2005 the Company also had outstanding nine letters of guarantee totaling approximately $6.7 million under sep-
arate international facilities.

Guarantees 
In connection with the creation of SACS, the Company entered into certain guarantees related to the financing, construction

and operation of the prison. The Company guaranteed certain obligations of SACS under its debt agreements up to a maximum
amount of 60.0 million South African Rand, or approximately $10.6 million to SACS’ senior lenders through the issuance of
letters of credit. Additionally, SACS is required to fund a restricted account for the payment of certain costs in the event of con-
tract termination. The Company has guaranteed the payment of 50% of amounts which may be payable by SACS into the restrict-
ed account and provided a standby letter of credit of 6.5 million South African Rand, or approximately $1.1 million as securi-
ty for the Company’s guarantee. The Company’s obligations under this guarantee expire upon SACS’ release from its obliga-
tions in respect of the restricted account under its debt agreements. No amounts have been drawn against these letters of cred-
it, which are included in the Company’s outstanding letters of credit under its Revolving Credit Facility.

The Company has agreed to provide a loan of up to 20.0 million South African Rand, or approximately $3.5 million (the
“Standby Facility”) to SACS for the purpose of financing SACS’ obligations under its contract with the South African govern-
ment. No amounts have been funded under the Standby Facility, and the Company does not anticipate that such funding will ever
be required by SACS. The Company’s obligations under the Standby Facility expire upon the earlier of full funding or SACS’
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The Senior Credit Facility contains financial covenants which require the Company to maintain the following ratios, as com-
puted at the end of each fiscal quarter for the immediately preceding four quarter-period: a total leverage ratio equal to or less
than 3.00 to 1.00 through July 2, 2005, which reduces thereafter in 0.25 increments to 2.50 to 1.00 on July 2, 2006 and there-
after; a senior secured leverage ratio equal to or less than 1.50 to 1.00; and a fixed charge coverage ratio equal to or greater than
1.10 to 1.00. In addition, the Senior Credit Facility prohibits the Company from making capital expenditures greater than $10.0
million in the aggregate during any fiscal year, provided that to the extent that the Company’s capital expenditures during any
fiscal year are less than the $10.0 million limit, such amount will be added to the maximum amount of capital expenditures that
the Company can make in the following year and further provided that certain information technology related upgrades made
prior to the end of 2005 will not count against the annual limit on capital expenditures.

The Senior Credit Facility also requires the Company to maintain a minimum net worth, as computed at the end of each fis-
cal quarter for the immediately preceding four quarter-period, equal to $140.0 million, plus the amount of the net gain from the
sale of the Company’s interest in PCG, which is approximately $32.7 million, minus the $132.0 million the Company used to
complete the share purchase from Group 4 Falck, plus 50% of the Company’s consolidated net income earned during each full
fiscal quarter ending after the date of the Senior Credit Facility, plus 50% of the aggregate increases in the Company’s consol-
idated shareholders’ equity that are attributable to the issuance and sale of equity interests by the Company or any of its restrict-
ed subsidiaries (excluding intercompany issuances).

The Senior Credit Facility contains certain customary representations and warranties, and certain customary covenants that
restrict the Company’s ability to, among other things (i) create, incur or assume any indebtedness, (ii) incur liens, (iii) make loans
and investments, (iv) engage in mergers, acquisitions and asset sales, (v) sell its assets, (vi) make certain restricted payments,
including declaring any cash dividends or redeem or repurchase capital stock, except as otherwise permitted, (vii) issue, sell or
otherwise dispose of its capital stock, (viii) transact with affiliates, (ix) make changes to its accounting treatment, (x) amend or
modify the terms of any subordinated indebtedness (including the Notes), (xi) enter into debt agreements that contain negative
pledges on its assets or covenants more restrictive than contained in the Senior Credit Facility, (xii) alter the business it conducts,
and (xiii) materially impair its lenders’ security interests in the collateral for its loans.

The Senior Credit Facility contains certain customary representations and warranties, and certain customary covenants that
restrict our ability to, among other things (i) create, incur or assume any indebtedness, (ii) incur liens, (iii) make loans and invest-
ments, (iv) engage in mergers, acquisitions and asset sales, (v) sell our assets, (vi) make certain restricted payments, including
declaring any cash dividends or redeem or repurchase capital stock, except as otherwise permitted, (vii) issue, sell or otherwise
dispose of our capital stock, (viii) transact with affiliates, (ix) make changes to our accounting treatment, (x) amend or modify
the terms of any subordinated indebtedness (including the Notes), (xi) enter into debt agreements that contain negative pledges
on our assets or covenants more restrictive than contained in the Senior Credit Facility, (xii) alter the business we conduct, and
(xiii) materially impair our lenders’ security interests in the collateral for our loans. The covenants in the Senior Credit Facility
can substantially restrict our business operations. See “Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our High Level of Indebtedness — The
covenants in the indenture governing the Notes and our Senior Credit Facility impose significant operating and financial restric-
tions which may adversely affect our ability to operate our business.”

Events of default under the Senior Credit Facility include, but are not limited to, (i) the Company’s failure to pay principal
or interest when due, (ii) the Company’s material breach of any representations or warranty, (iii) covenant defaults, (iv) bank-
ruptcy, (v) cross default to certain other indebtedness, (vi) unsatisfied final judgments over a threshold to be determined, (vii)
material environmental claims which are asserted against the Company, and (viii) a change of control.

Senior 81/4% Notes
To facilitate the completion of the purchase of the 12 million shares from Group 4 Falck, the Company amended the Senior

Credit Facility and issued $150.0 million aggregate principal amount, ten-year, 81/4% senior unsecured notes, (“the Notes”), in
a private placement pursuant to Rule 144A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. The Notes are general, unsecured, sen-
ior obligations. Interest is payable semi-annually on January 15 and July 15 at 81/4%. The Notes are governed by the terms of
an Indenture, dated July 9, 2003, between the Company and the Bank of New York, as trustee, referred to as the Indenture. Under
the terms of the Indenture, at any time on or prior to July 15, 2006, the Company may redeem up to 35% of the Notes with the
proceeds from equity offerings at 108.25% of the principal amount to be redeemed plus the payment of accrued and unpaid inter-
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    Annual   
Fiscal Year   Repayment   

    (In thousands)    
 2005   $ 12,006
 2006    3,461
 2007    3,461
 2008    10,095
 2009    22,498
 Thereafter    150,000
     
    $ 201,521
     
 Original issuer’s discount    (4,063)
 Current portion of Term Loan    (12,006)
 Swap on the Notes    746
     
 Non current portion of Term Loan and Notes   $ 186,198
        



release from its obligations under its debt agreements. The lenders’ ability to draw on the Standby Facility is limited to certain
circumstance, including termination of the contract.

The Company has also guaranteed certain obligations of SACS to the security trustee for SACS lenders. The Company secured
its guarantee to the security trustee by ceding its rights to claims against SACS in respect of any loans or other finance agree-
ments, and by pledging the Company’s shares in SACS. The Company’s liability under the guarantee is limited to the cession
and pledge of shares. The guarantee expires upon expiration of the cession and pledge agreements.

In connection with a design, build, finance and maintenance contract, the Company guaranteed certain potential tax obliga-
tions of a special purpose entity. The potential estimated exposure of these obligations is CAN$2.5 million, or approximately
$2.1 million commencing in 2017. To secure this guarantee, the Company purchased Canadian dollar denominated securities
with maturities matched to the estimated tax obligations in 2017 to 2021. The Company has recorded an asset and a liability equal
to the current fair market value of those securities on its balance sheet.

The Company’s wholly-owned Australian subsidiary financed the development of a facility and subsequent expansion in 2003,
with long-term debt obligations, which are non-recourse to the Company and total $44.7 million and $43.9 million at January
2, 2005 and December 28, 2003, respectively. The term of the non-recourse debt is through 2017 and it bears interest at a vari-
able rate quoted by certain Australian banks plus 140 basis points. Any obligations or liabilities of the subsidiary are matched
by a similar or corresponding commitment from the government of the State of Victoria. As a condition of the loan, the
Company is required to maintain a restricted cash balance of AUD 5.0 million, which, at January 2, 2005, was approximately
$3.9 million. This amount is included in restricted cash and the annual maturities of the future debt obligation is included in non
recourse debt. The debt amortization schedule requires annual repayments of $1.7 million in 2005, $1.9 million in 2006, $2.1
million in 2007, $2.4 million in 2008, $2.7 million in 2009 and $33.9 million thereafter.

9. Transactions with Correctional Properties Trust (“CPV”)
During fiscal 1998, 1999 and 2000, CPV acquired 11 correctional and detention facilities operated by the Company. There

have been no purchase and sale transactions between the Company and CPV since 2000.

Simultaneous with the purchases, the Company entered into ten-year operating leases of these facilities from CPV. As the
lease agreements are subject to contractual lease increases, the Company records operating lease expense for these leases on a
straight-line basis over the term of the leases. Additionally, the lease contains three five-year renewal options based on fair mar-
ket rental rates. The deferred unamortized net gain related to sales of the facilities to CPV at January 2, 2005, which is includ-
ed in “Deferred Revenue” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets is $6.2 million with $1.9 million short-term and $4.3
million long-term. The gain is being amortized over the ten-year lease terms. The Company recorded net rental expense relat-
ed to the CPV leases of $21.0 million, $20.0 million and $19.6 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, excluding the Jena
rental expense (See Note 10).

The future minimum lease commitments under the leases for these eleven facilities are as follows:

In February 2005, the Company appointed a new board member who previously served on CPV’s board of directors.
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10. Commitments and Contingencies
During 2000, the Company’s management contract at the 276-bed Jena Juvenile Justice Center in Jena, Louisiana was

discontinued by the mutual agreement of the parties. Despite the discontinuation of the management contract, the Company remains
responsible for payments on the Company’s underlying lease of the inactive facility with CPV through 2009. In the fourth quar-
ter of 2004, the Company incurred an operating charge of $3.0 million to cover its anticipated losses under the lease until an
alternative correctional use for the facility may be identified or a sublease for the facility may be in place. The Company has
incurred additional operating charges in prior periods related to lease payments for the facility including an operating charge of
$5.0 million in third quarter 2003. The Company is actively pursuing various alternatives for the facility, including finding an
alternative correctional use for the facility or subleasing the facility to other agencies of the federal and/or state government or
another private operator. If the Company is unable to sublease or find an alternative correctional use for the facility an addition-
al operating charge will be required. In accordance with FAS No. 146, all terminations initiated before December 31, 2002, must
be accounted for under EITF No. 94-3 “Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to
Exit an Activity.” The current reserve for loss of $5.8 million is sufficient to cover lease payments through January 2008. The
remaining obligation on the Jena lease through the contractual term of 2009, exclusive of the reserve for losses through early
2008, is approximately $4.3 million.

The Company owns and operates the 480-bed Michigan Youth Correctional Facility in Baldwin, Michigan. The Company oper-
ates this facility pursuant to a management contract with the Michigan Department of Corrections (“DOC”). Separately, the
Company leases the facility to the State under a lease with an initial term of 20 years followed by two 5-year options. The DOC
can terminate the management contract for this facility unilaterally without cause upon 60 days’ notice to the Company.
However, the State can only terminate its lease of the facility prior to the expiration of the term of the lease if the State
Legislature of Michigan, in its appropriation to the state department of corrections, expressly prohibits the department from spend-
ing any appropriated moneys for lease payments. In February 2005, the Governor of Michigan proposed an executive order to
the State Legislature to, among other things, de-appropriate funds for the payment of operation and lease payments for the facil-
ity. The State Legislature did not approve this order. However, the Company believes that the Governor of Michigan may sub-
mit an additional order or include a request in the State’s 2006 fiscal year budget that no appropriations be made for the pay-
ment of operation and lease payments for the facility.

If, at any time in a future appropriation to the state department of corrections, the State Legislature of Michigan expressly
prohibits the department from spending any appropriated moneys for lease payments related to the facility, the State will have
the right to terminate the lease. Additionally, in the event of such termination, the DOC would not have an interest in the Company’s
operation of the facility and would likely terminate the management contract. The Company is undertaking efforts to seek con-
tinued appropriations by the State Legislature for the lease and the management contract for this facility, and, as a contingency,
is undertaking efforts to find an alternative use for the facility with another state or federal agency. However, there can be no
assurances that these efforts will be successful. In the event that the lease is terminated and operations cease at the facility, the
Company’s financial condition and results of operations would be materially adversely affected. In the event of such termina-
tion, the Company would assess the facility for impairment in accordance with FAS 146 “Accounting for Costs Associated with
Exit or Disposal Activities.”

The Company’s contract with the Department of Homeland Security Bureau of Immigration and Customs Enforcement (“ICE”)
for the management of the 200-bed Queens Private Correctional Facility is set to expire March 31, 2005. ICE has the option to
renew the contract on an annual basis and must submit its notice to renew within sixty days of the start of a renewal period. The
Company has received notice of an extension through June 30, 2005 on the current terms and conditions of the existing contract.
However, ICE has not exercised its right to renew the option for the contract period April 1, 2005 through March 31, 2006. During
the year ended January 2, 2005, the contract for the Queens facility represented approximately 2% of the Company’s consoli-
dated revenues. The Company has a non cancelable operating lease for the Queens facility with CPV through April 28, 2008,
when the lease is scheduled to expire. The Company is currently in discussions with ICE regarding revised contract terms and
conditions and hopes to obtain a full one-year extension of the facility contract. If the Company fails to obtain a full one-year
contract extension with ICE or is unable to find an appropriate alternative correctional use for the facility or sublease the facil-
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    Annual   
Fiscal Year   Rental   

    (In thousands)    
 2005   $ 25,000
 2006     25,082
 2007     25,168
 2008     16,866
 2009     2,432
    
    $ 94,548
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Company does not expect the outcome of any pending claims or legal proceedings to have a material adverse effect on its finan-
cial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

Collective Bargaining Agreements 
The Company had approximately twenty percent of its workforce covered by collective bargaining agreements at January 2,

2005. Collective bargaining agreements with nine percent of employees are set to expire in less than one year.

11. Share Purchase
On July 9, 2003, the Company purchased all 12 million shares of the Company’s common stock beneficially owned by Group

4 Falck, the Company’s former 57% majority shareholder, for $132.0 million in cash pursuant to the terms of a share purchase
agreement, dated April 30, 2003, by and among the Company, Group 4 Falck, TWC, and Tuhnekcaw, Inc., an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of Group 4 Falck (the “Transaction”).

Upon the closing of the Transaction, an agreement dated March 7, 2002 between the Company, Group 4 Falck and TWC, which
governed certain aspects of the parties’ relationship, was terminated and the two Group 4 Falck representatives serving on the
Company’s board of directors resigned. Also terminated upon the closing of the Transaction was a March 7, 2002 agreement
between the Company and Group 4 Falck wherein Group 4 Falck agreed to reimburse the Company for up to 10% of the fair
market value of the Company’s interest in its UK joint venture in the event that litigation related to the sale of TWC to Group
4 Falck were to result in a court order requiring the Company to sell its interest in the joint venture to its partner, Serco
Investments Limited (“Serco”).

In addition, in connection with the Transaction, the services agreement, dated October 28, 2002, between the Company and
TWC, terminated effective December 31, 2003, and no further payments for periods thereafter will be due from the Company
to TWC under the services agreement.

A sublease for the Company’s former headquarters between TWC, as sub lessor, and the Company, as sub lessee, also ter-
minated ten days after closing of the Transaction. The Company relocated its corporate headquarters to Boca Raton, Florida on
April 14, 2003.

In April 1994, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized 10,000,000 shares of “blank check” preferred stock. The Board
of Directors is authorized to determine the rights and privileges of any future issuance of preferred stock such as voting and div-
idend rights, liquidation privileges, redemption rights and conversion privileges.

12.  Earnings Per Share
The table below shows the amounts used in computing earnings per share (“EPS”) in accordance with FAS No. 128 and the

effects on income and the weighted average number of shares of potential dilutive common stock.
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ity, the Company may be required to record an operating charge related to a portion of the future lease costs with CPV in accor-
dance with SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities.” The remaining lease obligation
is approximately $4.7 million through April 28, 2008.

Leases
The Company leases correctional facilities, office space, computers and vehicles under non-cancelable operating leases expir-

ing between 2005 and 2013. The future minimum commitments under these leases exclusive of lease commitments related to
CPV, are as follows:

Rent expense was approximately $14.4 million, $12.5 million, and $15.7 million for fiscal 2004, 2003, and 2002 respectively.

Litigation, Claims and Assessments 
The Company was defending a wage and hour class action lawsuit (Salas et al v. WCC) filed on December 26, 2001 in California

state court by ten current and former employees. In January 2005, this lawsuit was settled by a satisfaction of judgment and a
release of all claims executed by the plaintiffs which was filed with the Superior Court of California in Kern County. As part of
the settlement, the Company made a cash payment of approximately $3.1 million and is required to provide certain non-cash
considerations to current California employees who were included in the lawsuit. The non-cash considerations include a desig-
nated number of paid days off according to longevity of employment, modifications to the Company’s human resources depart-
ment, and changes in certain operational procedures at the Company’s correctional facilities in California. The settlement
encompasses all current and former employees in California through the approval date of the settlement and constitutes a full
and final settlement of all actual and potential wage and hour claims against the Company in California for the period preced-
ing July 29, 2004.

In June 2004, the Company received notice of a third-party claim for property damage incurred during 2002 and 2001 at sev-
eral detention facilities that the Company’s Australian subsidiary formerly operated pursuant to its discontinued contract with
DIMIA. The claim did not specify the amount of damages the third-party may be seeking. Although the claim is in the initial
stages and the Company is still in the process of fully evaluating its merits, the Company believes that it has defenses to the alle-
gations underlying the claim and intends to vigorously defend the Company’s rights. While the plaintiff in this case has not quan-
tified its damage claim and the outcome of the matters discussed above cannot be predicted with certainty, based on informa-
tion known to date, and management’s preliminary review of the claim, the Company believes that, if settled unfavorably, this
matter could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition and results of operations. The Company is unin-
sured for any damages or costs that it may incur as a result of this claim, including the expenses of defending the claim.

The nature of the Company’s business exposes it to various types of claims or litigation against the Company, including, but
not limited to, civil rights claims relating to conditions of confinement and/or mistreatment, sexual misconduct claims brought
by prisoners or detainees, medical malpractice claims, claims relating to employment matters (including, but not limited to, employ-
ment discrimination claims, union grievances and wage and hour claims), property loss claims, environmental claims, automo-
bile liability claims, indemnification claims by our customers and other third parties, contractual claims and claims for person-
al injury or other damages resulting from contact with the Company’s facilities, programs, personnel or prisoners, including dam-
ages arising from a prisoner’s escape or from a disturbance or riot at a facility. Except as otherwise disclosed above, the
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    Annual   
Fiscal Year   Rental   

    (In thousands)    
 2005   $ 7,929  
 2006     7,641  
 2007     7,640  
 2008     4,040  
 2009     4,068  
 Thereafter     14,477  
        
    $ 45,795  

        Restated     Restated   
Fiscal Year   2004     2003     2002   
    (In thousands, except per share data)   
 Net income   $ 16,815    $ 44,761    $ 21,120  
 Basic earnings per share:                      
     Weighted average shares outstanding     9,384      15,618      21,148  
                    
     Per share amount   $ 1.79    $ 2.87    $ 1.00  
                    
 Diluted earnings per share:                      
     Weighted average shares outstanding     9,384      15,618      21,148  
   Effect of dilutive securities:                      
     Employee and director stock options     354      211      216  
                    
     Weighted average shares assuming dilution     9,738      15,829      21,364  
                    
     Per share amount   $ 1.73    $ 2.83    $ 0.99  
                    



The following table summarizes information about the stock options outstanding at January 2, 2005:

The Company had 19,900 options available to be granted at January 2, 2005 under the aforementioned stock plans.

14. Retirement and Deferred Compensation Plans
The Company has two noncontributory defined benefit pension plans covering certain of the Company’s executives. Retirement

benefits are based on years of service, employees’ average compensation for the last five years prior to retirement and social secu-
rity benefits. Currently, the plans are not funded. The Company purchased and is the beneficiary of life insurance policies for
certain participants enrolled in the plans.

In 2001, the Company established non-qualified deferred compensation agreements with three key executives. These agree-
ments were modified in 2002, and again in 2003. The current agreements provide for a lump sum payment when the executives
retire, no sooner than age 55.

The following table summarizes key information related to these pension plans and retirement agreements which includes
information as required by FAS 132, “Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits”. The table illus-
trates the reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the benefit obligation showing the effects during the period attrib-
utable to each of the following: service cost, interest cost, plan amendments, termination benefits, actuarial gains and losses. The
assumptions used in the Company’s calculation of accrued pension costs are based on market information and the Company’s
historical rates for employment compensation and discount rates, respectively.

In accordance with FAS 132, the Company has also disclosed contributions and payment of benefits related to the plans. There
were no assets in the plan at January 2, 2005 or December 28, 2003. All changes as a result of the adjustments to the accumu-
lated benefit obligation are included below and shown net of tax in the Consolidated Statement of Shareholders’ Equity and
Comprehensive Income. There were no significant transactions between the employer or related parties and the plan during the
period.

For fiscal 2004, options to purchase 362,447 shares of the Company’s common stock with exercise prices ranging from $21.50
to $26.88 per share and expiration dates between 2006 and 2014 were outstanding at January 2, 2005, but were not included in
the computation of diluted EPS because their effect would be anti-dilutive.

For fiscal 2003, options to purchase 735,600 shares of the Company’s common stock with exercise prices ranging from $15.40
to $29.56 per share and expiration dates between 2006 and 2012 were outstanding at December 28, 2003, but were not includ-
ed in the computation of diluted EPS because their effect would be anti-dilutive.

For fiscal 2002, options to purchase 784,600 shares of the Company’s common stock with exercise prices ranging from $14.69
to $26.88 per share and expiration dates between 2006 and 2012 were outstanding at December 29, 2002, but were not includ-
ed in the computation of diluted EPS because their effect would be anti-dilutive.

13. Stock Options
The Company has four stock option plans: The Wackenhut Corrections Corporation 1994 Stock Option Plan (First Plan), the

Wackenhut Corrections Corporation 1994 Stock Option Plan (Second Plan), the 1995 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan
(Third Plan) and the Wackenhut Corrections Corporation 1999 Stock Option Plan (Fourth Plan). The Wackenhut Corrections
Corporation 1994 Stock Option Plan (First Plan) has expired and has no outstanding stock options.

Under the Second Plan and Fourth Plan, the Company may grant options to key employees for up to 1,500,000 and 1,150,000
shares of common stock, respectively. Under the terms of these plans, the exercise price per share and vesting period is deter-
mined at the sole discretion of the Board of Directors. All options that have been granted under these plans are exercisable at
the fair market value of the common stock at the date of the grant. Generally, the options vest and become exercisable ratably
over a four-year period, beginning immediately on the date of the grant. However, the Board of Directors has exercised its dis-
cretion and has granted options that vest 100% immediately. All options under the Second Plan and Fourth Plan expire no later
than ten years after the date of the grant.

Under the Third Plan, the Company may grant up to 110,000 shares of common stock to non-employee directors of the Company.
Under the terms of this plan, options are granted at the fair market value of the common stock at the date of the grant, become
exercisable immediately, and expire ten years after the date of the grant.

A summary of the status of the Company’s stock option plans is presented below. 
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    2004     2003     2002   
                    
        Wtd. Avg.         Wtd. Avg.         Wtd. Avg.   
        Exercise         Exercise         Exercise   
Fiscal Year   Shares     Price     Shares     Price     Shares     Price   

                                      
Outstanding at beginning 
of year     1,614,374    $ 14.21      1,410,306    $ 14.26      1,417,102    $ 12.40  
Granted     160,374      22.00      305,000      12.67      330,000      15.41  
Exercised     174,839      9.10      86,932      8.93      268,396      4.72  
Forfeited/ Cancelled     8,400      22.93      14,000      17.36      68,400      18.67  
                                      
Options outstanding at end 
of year     1,591,509      15.49      1,614,374      14.21      1,410,306      14.26  
                                      
Options exercisable at end 
of year 

  
  1,381,692

    
$ 15.26

    
  1,443,032

    
$ 14.39

    
  1,410,306

    
$ 14.26

  

                                      

   Options Outstanding     Options Exercisable   
              
        Wtd. Avg.     Wtd. Avg.         Wtd. Avg.   
    Number     Remaining     Exercise     Number     Exercise   

Exercise Prices   Outstanding     
Contractual 

Life 
    Price     Exercisable     Price   

                                
 $7.88 — $7.88     2,000      5.3    $ 7.88      2,000    $ 7.88  
 $8.44 — $8.44     189,500      5.1      8.44      189,500      8.44  
 $8.88 — $8.88     1,000      5.7      8.88      1,000      8.88  
 $9.30 — $9.30     190,235      6.1      9.30      190,235      9.30  
 $9.51 — $13.75     107,200      7.2      9.92      71,072      10.12  
 $14.00 — $14.00     208,000      8.3      14.00      133,821      14.00  
 $14.69 — $14.69     25,000      4.7      14.69      25,000      14.69  
 $15.40 — $15.40     299,000      7.1      15.40      299,000      15.40  
 $15.90 — $18.63     202,127      5.2      18.41      181,614      18.43  
 $20.25 — $26.88     367,447      4.7      23.39      288,450      23.48  
                                
      1,591,509      6.1      15.49      1,381,692      15.26  



The Company also has a non-qualified deferred compensation plan for employees who are ineligible to participate in its qual-
ified 401(k) plan. Eligible employees may defer a fixed percentage of their salary, which earns interest at a rate equal to the prime
rate less 0.75%. The Company matches employee contributions up to $400 each year based on the employee’s years of service.
Payments will be made at retirement age of 65 or at termination of employment. The Company recognized expense of $0.1 mil-
lion, $0.1 million and $0.2 million in 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively. The liability for this plan at year-end 2004 and 2003
was $2.1 million and $1.6 million, respectively, and is included in accrued expense in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

The Company expects to make the following benefit payments based on eligible retirement dates:

15. Business Segment and Geographic Information
The Company operates in one industry segment encompassing the development and management of privatized government

institutions located in the United States, Australia, which includes New Zealand, South Africa and the United Kingdom.

The Company operates and tracks its results in geographic operating segments. Information about the Company’s operations
in different geographical regions is shown below. Revenues are attributed to geographical areas based on location of operations
and long-lived assets consist of property, plant and equipment.

In 2004, the allocation of certain general and administrative expenses was changed. Prior year amounts have been reclassi-
fied to be consistent with the current year presentation.

The accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit plans was $11.7 million and $11.4 million at January 2, 2005 and
December 28, 2003, respectively. The accrued benefit liability for the three plans at January 2, 2005 are as follows, $1.1 mil-
lion for the executive retirement plan, $0.6 million for the officer retirement plan and $8.9 million for the three key executives’
plans.

The Company has established a deferred compensation agreement for non-employee directors, which allow eligible direc-
tors to defer their compensation in either the form of cash or stock. Participants may elect lump sum or monthly payments to be
made at least one year after the deferral is made or at the time the participant ceases to be a director. The Company recognized
total compensation expense under this plan of $0.1 million, $0.1 and $0 million for 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively. Payouts
under the plan were $0.1 and $0 million in 2004 and 2003 respectively. The liability for the deferred compensation was $0.5
million and $0.5 million at year-end 2004 and 2003, respectively, and is included in “Accrued expenses” in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets.
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    2004     2003   
              
 Change in Projected Benefit Obligation               
 Projected Benefit Obligation, Beginning of Year   $ 13,408    $ 9,139  
 Service Cost     313      253  
 Interest Cost     836      768  
 Plan Amendments     —      2,293  
 Actuarial Loss     (102)     1,025  
 Benefits Paid     (32)     (70) 
              
   Projected Benefit Obligation, End of Year   $ 14,423    $ 13,408  
 Change in Plan Assets               
 Plan Assets at Fair Value, Beginning of Year   $ —    $ —  
 Company Contributions     32      70  
 Benefits Paid     (32)     (70) 
              
 Plan Assets at Fair Value, End of Year   $ —    $ —  
 Reconciliation of Prepaid (Accrued) and Total Amount Recognized               
 Funded Status of the Plan   $ (14,423)   $ (13,408) 
 Unrecognized Prior Service Cost     1,141      2,220  
 Unrecognized Net Loss     2,719      3,226  
              
 Accrued Pension Cost   $ (10,563)   $ (7,962) 
 Accrued Benefit Liability     (11,748)     (11,442) 
 Intangible Asset     1,141      2,220  
 Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income     44      1,260  
              
 Total Recognized   $ (10,563)   $ (7,962) 

                    
    Fiscal 2004     Fiscal 2003   
              
 Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost               
 Service Cost   $ 314    $ 253  
 Interest Cost     836      768  
 Amortization of:               
   Unrecognized Prior Service Cost     1,078      1,079  
   Unrecognized Net Loss     404      178  
              
 Net Periodic Pension Cost   $ 2,632    $ 2,278  
 Weighted Average Assumptions for Expense               
 Discount Rate     5.75%     6.25% 
 Expected Return on Plan Assets     N/A      N/A  
 Rate of Compensation Increase     5.50%     5.50% 

 

    Pension   
Fiscal Year   Benefits   

    (In thousands)    
 2005   $ 11,052  
 2006     45  
 2007     60  
 2008     65  
 2009     121  
 2010-2014     975  
        
    $ 12,318  

                            
        Restated     Restated   
Fiscal Year   2004     2003     2002   

          (In thousands)           
 Revenues:                      
   U.S. operations   $ 510,603    $ 482,754    $ 451,465  
   Australian operations     88,887      72,063      57,763  
   South Africa operations     15,058      12,624      7,934  
                    
 Total revenues   $ 614,548    $ 567,441    $ 517,162  
                    
 Operating Income:                      
   U.S. operations   $ 28,641    $ 21,313    $ 20,417  
   Australian operations     6,945      5,675      3,072  
   South Africa operations     3,724      3,152      369  
                    
 Total operating income   $ 39,310    $ 30,140    $ 23,858  
                    
 Long-Lived Assets:                      
   U.S. operations   $ 189,355    $ 193,472    $ 199,496  
   Australian operations     7,095      6,872      5,802  
   South Africa operations     294      210      207  
                    
 Total long-lived assets   $ 196,744    $ 200,554    $ 205,505  



16. Income Taxes
The United States and foreign components of Income before income taxes, minority interest and equity income from affili-

ates are as follows:

Taxes on income consist of the following components:

The Company’s international operation represents its wholly owned Australian subsidiaries, and one of the Company’s joint
ventures in South Africa, SACM. Through the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, GEO Group Australia Pty. Limited, the
Company currently manages six correctional facilities, including a facility in New Zealand. Through the Company’s joint ven-
ture SACM, the Company currently manages one facility.

Equity in Earnings of Affiliates
Equity in earnings of affiliates for 2004 includes one of our joint ventures in South Africa, SACS. Equity in earnings of affil-

iates for 2003 and 2002 represent the operations of the Company’s 50% owned joint ventures in the United Kingdom (Premier
Custodial Group Limited) and SACS. These entities and their subsidiaries are accounted for under the equity method.

The Company sold its interest in Premier Custodial Group Limited on July 2, 2003 for approximately $80.7 million and rec-
ognized a gain of approximately $61.0 million. Total equity in the undistributed earnings for Premier Custodial Group Limited,
before income taxes, for fiscal 2003, and 2002 was $3.0 million, and $10.2 million, respectively.

The following table summarizes certain financial information pertaining to this joint venture for the period from December
30, 2002 through the date of sale of the UK joint venture on July 2, 2003 and for the fiscal year ended December 29, 2002 (in
thousands):

A summary of financial data for SACS is as follows:

SACS commenced operation in fiscal 2002. Total equity in undistributed loss for SACS before income taxes, for fiscal 2004,
2003 and 2002 was $(0.1) million, $(0.4) million, and $(1.5) million, respectively.

Business Concentration 
Except for the major customers noted in the following table, no single customer provided more than 10% of the Company’s

consolidated revenues during fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002:

Concentration of credit risk related to accounts receivable is reflective of the related revenues.
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   2003     2002   
             
Statement of Operations Data               
Revenues   $ 104,080    $ 153,533  
Operating (loss) income     (2,981)     7,992  
Net income   $ 3,486    $ 11,264  

                            
Fiscal Year   2004     2003     2002   

          (In thousands)         
 Statement of Operations Data                      
   Revenues   $ 31,175    $ 24,801    $ 8,073  
   Operating income     11,118      7,528      226  
   Net (loss) income     —      (817)     226  
 Balance Sheet Data                      
   Current assets     14,250      8,154         
   Noncurrent assets     74,648      61,342         
   Current liabilities     5,094      2,896         
   Non current liabilities     83,474      69,749         
   Shareholders’ equity (deficit)     330      (3,150)        

       Restated     Restated   

   2004     2003     2002   

         (In thousands)         
Income from continuing operations:                     
  United States   $ 9,395    $ 66,184    $ 19,367  
  Foreign     17,058      11,979      5,601  
                   
     26,453      78,163      24,968  
                   
Discontinued operations:                     
  Income (loss) from operation of discontinued                     
    business     (878)     4,527      4,189  
                   
    Total   $ 25,575    $ 82,690    $ 29,157  
 

Customer   2004     2003     2002   
                    

 Various agencies of the U.S. Federal Government   27 %     27%     27 % 
 Various agencies of the State of Texas   9 %     12%     13 % 
 Various agencies of the State of Florida   12 %     12%     14 % 

 

      Restated     Restated   
  2004     2003     2002   
        (In thousands)         

Federal income taxes:                      
 Current   $ (147)   $ 29,378    $ 8,354  
 Deferred     2,050      1,790      (875) 

                  
    1,903      31,168      7,479  
                  

State income taxes:                      
 Current     627      2,345      2,262  
 Deferred     469      226      (51) 

                  
    1,096      2,571      2,211  
                  

Foreign:                      
 Current     4,399      5,252      1,036  
 Deferred     915      (1,786)     586  

                  
    5,314      3,466      1,622  
                  

Total U.S. and foreign     8,313      37,205      11,312  
                  

Discontinued operations:                      
 Income from operations of discontinued business     (263)     1,329      1,257  

                  
   Total   $ 8,050    $ 38,534    $ 12,569  



A reconciliation of the statutory U.S. federal tax rate (35.0%) and the effective income tax rate is as follows:

The components of the net current deferred income tax asset at fiscal year end are as follows:

The components of the net non-current deferred income tax liability and asset at fiscal year end are as follows:

The exercise of non-qualified stock options which have been granted under the Company’s stock option plans give rise to com-
pensation which is includable in the taxable income of the applicable employees and deducted by the Company for federal and
state income tax purposes. Such compensation results from increases in the fair market value of the Company’s common stock
subsequent to the date of grant. In accordance with APB No. 25, such compensation is not recognized as an expense for finan-
cial accounting purposes and related tax benefits are credited directly to additional paid-in-capital.

The 2004 income tax expense includes a benefit from the realization of approximately $3.4 million of foreign tax credits relat-
ed to the gain on sale of PCG in July 2003. This benefit was realized in 2004 as a result of the Company completing its analy-
sis of its earnings and profits in PCG and determining the amount of available foreign tax credits which could be applied against
the gain from the sale.
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During 2004, the Company adjusted its tax provision to reflect an adjustment to its treatment of certain executive compen-
sation. During the fiscal years ended 2003 and 2002, along with the period ending June 27, 2004, the Company calculated its
tax provision as if its executive bonus plan met the Internal Revenue Service code section 162(m) requirements for deductibil-
ity. During 2004, the Company discovered that the plan did not meet certain specific requirements of section 162(m). The Company
recognized $1.4 million of additional tax provision under section 162(m) for 2004, including $0.6 million to correct its tax pro-
vision for the fiscal years ended 2003 and 2002.

On October 22, 2004, the President of the United States signed into law the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (“AJCA”).
A key provision of the AJCA creates a temporary incentive for U.S. corporations to repatriate undistributed income earned abroad
by providing an 85 percent dividends received deduction for certain dividends from controlled foreign corporations. In December
2004, the Company repatriated approximately $17.0 million in incentive dividends, as defined in the AJCA, and recognized an
income tax benefit of $0.2 million. On November 19, 2004, a technical correction bill, the Tax Technical Corrections Act of 2004,
was introduced in the House of Representatives to clarify key elements in the AJCA. In January 2005, the Treasury Department
began to issue the first of a series of clarifying guidance documents related to the AJCA. If a technical correction bill similar to
the Tax Technical Corrections Act of 2004 is enacted, the Company would recognize an additional tax benefit of $1.7 million.
While it is expected that new legislation will be introduced into Congress to provide additional clarifying language on key ele-
ments of the provision, there can be no assurance that such legislation will be enacted.

17. Related Party Transactions with The Wackenhut Corporation
Related party transactions occurred in the past in the normal course of business between the Company and TWC. Such

transactions included the purchase of goods and services and corporate costs for management support, office space, insurance
and interest expense. No related party transactions occurred during fiscal year 2004.

The Company incurred the following expenses related to transactions with TWC in the following years (in thousands):

General and administrative expenses represented charges for management and support services. TWC previously provided
various general and administrative services to the Company under a services agreement, including payroll services, human resources
support, tax services and information technology support services through December 31, 2002. Beginning January 1, 2003, the
only service provided was for information technology support through year-end 2003. The Company began handling informa-
tion technology support services internally effective January 1, 2004, and no longer relies on TWC for any services. All of the
services formerly provided by TWC to the Company were pursuant to negotiated annual rates with TWC based upon the level
of service to be provided under the services agreement. The Company believes that such rates were on terms no less favorable
than the Company could obtain from unaffiliated third parties.

The Company also leased office space from TWC for its corporate headquarters under a non-cancelable operating lease that
expired February 11, 2011. This lease was terminated effective July 19, 2003 as a result of the share purchase agreement.
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        Restated     Restated   
    2004     2003     2002   
          (In thousands)         
 Continuing operations:                      
   Provisions using statutory federal income tax rate   $ 9,258    $ 27,356    $ 8,739  
   State income taxes, net of federal tax benefit     712      1,658      1,394  
   Change in control costs     —      —      896  
   Basis difference PCG stock     (3,351)     7,048      —  
   Section 965 benefit     (197)     —      —  
   Non-performance based compensation     1,417      —      —  
   Other, net     474      1,143      283  
                    
     Total continuing operations     8,313      37,205      11,312  
                    
 Discontinued operations:                      
   Taxes from operations of discontinued business     (263)     1,329      1,257  
                    
     Provision for income taxes   $ 8,050    $ 38,534    $ 12,569  
                    

        Restated   
    2004     2003   
     (In thousands)     
 Uniforms   $ (207)   $ (174) 
 Allowance for doubtful accounts     426      484  
 Accrued vacation     2,524      2,403  
 Accrued liabilities     10,028      10,386  
              
   Total   $ 12,771    $ 13,099  

                  
Fiscal Year   2003     2002   

              
 General and administrative expenses   $ 1,750    $ 2,591  
 Casualty insurance premiums     —      17,973  
 Rent     501      514  
 Net interest expense     —      32  
              
    $ 2,251    $ 21,110  
              

                    
        Restated   
    2004     2003   
     (In thousands)     
 Depreciation   $ (9,808)   $ (10,994) 
 Deferred revenue     2,886      5,718  
 Deferred compensation     5,231      5,340  
 Residual U.S. tax liability on repatriated earnings     (4,611)     (2,119) 
 Foreign deferred tax assets     4,700      7,474  
 Other, net     113      (47) 
              
   Total (liability) asset   $ (1,489)   $ 5,372  
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18. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)
The Company’s selected quarterly financial data has been restated, see Note 2. A summary of the restated data for the fis-

cal years ended January 2, 2005 and December 28, 2003, is as follows:
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    First Quarter     Second Quarter   
              
    Unadjusted     Restated     Change     Unadjusted     Restated     Change   
                                      
2004                                           
Revenues   $ 142,551    $ 146,058    $ 3,507    $ 146,726    $ 150,308    $ 3,582  
Operating income   $ 6,758    $ 7,565    $ 807    $ 9,678    $ 10,485    $ 807  
Income from continuing 
operations   $ 2,150    $ 2,045    $ (105)   $ 4,093    $ 3,986    $ (107) 
Income (loss) from discontinued 
operations, net of tax   $ 249    $ 249    $ —    $ (354)   $ (354)   $ —  
Basic earnings per share                                           
Income from continuing 
operations   $ 0.23    $ 0.22    $ (0.01)   $ 0.44    $ 0.43    $ (0.01) 
Income (loss) from discontinued 
operations   $ 0.03    $ 0.03    $ —    $ (0.04)   $ (0.04)   $ —  

                                      
Net income per share   $ 0.26    $ 0.25    $ (0.01)   $ 0.40    $ 0.39    $ (0.01) 
Diluted earnings per share                                           
Income from continuing 
operations   $ 0.22    $ 0.21    $ (0.01)   $ 0.42    $ 0.41    $ (0.01) 
Income (loss) from discontinued 
operations   $ 0.03    $ 0.03    $ —    $ (0.04)   $ (0.04)   $ —  

                                      
Net income per share   $ 0.25    $ 0.24    $ (0.01)   $ 0.38    $ 0.37    $ (0.01) 

 

    Third Quarter       
          Fourth   
    Unadjusted     Restated     Change     Quarter(b)   
                          
 Revenues   $ 148,279    $ 152,035    $ 3,756    $ 166,148  
 Operating income   $ 13,018    $ 14,045    $ 1,027    $ 7,215  
 Income from continuing operations   $ 5,981(a)   $ 5,874(a)   $ (107)   $ 5,525(c) 
 Income from discontinued operations, net of 
tax   $ (240)   $ (240)   $ —    $ (270) 
 Basic earnings per share                             
 Income from continuing operations   $ 0.64    $ 0.63    $ (0.01)   $ 0.58  
 Income from discontinued operations   $ (0.03)   $ (0.03)   $ —    $ (0.03) 
                          
 Net income per share   $ 0.61    $ 0.60    $ (0.01)   $ 0.55  
 Diluted earnings per share                             
 Income from continuing operations   $ 0.62    $ 0.60    $ (0.01)   $ 0.57  
 Income from discontinued operations   $ (0.03)   $ (0.02)   $ —    $ (0.03) 
                          
 Net income per share   $ 0.59    $ 0.58    $ (0.01)   $ 0.54  
                                                  

 

 
 
 

  First Quarter     Second Quarter   

              
    Unadjusted     Restated     Change     Unadjusted     Restated     Change   
                                      
 2003                                           
 Revenues   $ 130,800    $ 133,574    $ 2,774    $ 137,168    $ 140,268    $ 3,100  
 Operating income   $ 8,519    $ 9,014    $ 495    $ 8,519    $ 9,278    $ 759  
 Income from continuing 
operations   $ 4,341    $ 4,214    $ (127)   $ 5,300    $ 5,174    $ (126) 
 Income (loss) from discontinued 
operations, net of tax   $ 831    $ 831    $ —    $ 999    $ 999    $ —  
 Basic earnings per share                                           
 Income from continuing 
operations   $ 0.20    $ 0.20    $ —    $ 0.25    $ 0.24    $ (0.01) 
 Income (loss) from discontinued 
operations   $ 0.04    $ 0.04    $ —    $ 0.05    $ 0.05    $ —  

                                      
 Net income per share   $ 0.24    $ 0.24    $ —    $ 0.30    $ 0.29    $ (0.01) 
 Diluted earnings per share                                           
 Income from continuing 
operations   $ 0.20    $ 0.20    $ —    $ 0.24    $ 0.24    $ —  
 Income (loss) from discontinued 
operations   $ 0.04    $ 0.04    $ —    $ 0.05    $ 0.05    $ —  

                                      
 Net income per share   $ 0.24    $ 0.24    $ —    $ 0.29    $ 0.29    $ —  
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    Third Quarter     Fourth Quarter   
              
    Unadjusted     Restated     Change     Unadjusted     Restated     Change   
                                      
 Revenues   $ 141,778    $ 144,757    $ 2,979    $ 145,071    $ 148,842    $ 3,771  
 Operating income   $ 2,099    $ 2,764    $ 665    $ 8,093    $ 9,082    $ 989  
 Income from continuing 
operations   $ 29,651(d)   $ 29,524(d)   $ (127)   $ 2,778    $ 2,652    $ (126) 
 Income from 
discontinued operations, 
net of tax 

  
$ 717

    
$ 717

    
$ —

    
$ 651

    
$ 651

    
$ —

  

 Basic earnings per share                                          
 Income from continuing 
operations   $ 2.79    $ 2.78    $ (0.01)   $ 0.30    $ 0.28    $ (0.02) 
 Income from 
discontinued operations   $ 0.07    $ 0.07    $ —    $ 0.07    $ 0.07    $ —  
                                      
 Net income per share   $ 2.86    $ 2.85    $ (0.01)   $ 0.37    $ 0.35    $ (0.02) 
 Diluted earnings per 
share Income from 
continuing operations   $ 2.72    $ 2.71    $ (0.01)   $ 0.28    $ 0.27    $ (0.01) 
 Income from 
discontinued operations   $ 0.07    $ 0.07    $ —    $ 0.07    $ 0.07    $ —  

                                      
 Net income per share   $ 2.79(e)   $ 2.78(e)   $ (0.01)(e)   $ 0.35(e)   $ 0.34(e)   $ (0.01)(e) 

 

a) Includes a $4.2 million pre-tax reduction in our general liability, auto liability and worker’s compensation insurance
reserves.

b) Includes 14 weeks of operations.

c) Includes a $3.0 million write-off for our Jena, Louisiana facility.

d) Includes a gain of approximately $61.0 million for the sale of the UK joint venture (See Note 15), a pre-tax charge of
approximately $5.0 million related to the Jena, Louisiana lease and a charge of approximately $2.0 million related to the write-
off of deferred financing fees from the extinguishment of debt.

e) Earnings per share for the third and fourth quarter of 2003 reflect lower weighted average shares outstanding due to
the purchase of the 12,000,000 shares from Group 4 Falck in July 2003 (See Note 11).
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FFoorrwwaarrdd-LLooookkiinngg SSttaatteemmeennttss - SSaaffee HHaarrbboorr

This Annual Report contains "forward-looking" state-
ments within the meaning of Section 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section
21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended. "Forward-looking" statements are any
statements that are not based on historical informa-
tion. Statements other than statements of historical
facts included in this report, including, without limita-
tion, statements regarding our future financial posi-
tion, business strategy, budgets, projected costs
and plans and objectives of management for future
operations, are "forward-looking" statements.
Forward-looking statements generally can be identi-
fied by the use of forward-looking terminology such
as "may," "will," "expect," "anticipate," "intend," "plan,"
"believe," "seek," "estimate" or "continue" or the nega-
tive of such words or variations of such words and
similar expressions. These statements are not guar-
antees of future performance and involve certain
risks, uncertainties and assumptions, which are diffi-
cult to predict. Therefore, actual outcomes and
results may differ materially from what is expressed
or forecasted in such forward-looking statements
and we can give no assurance that such forward-
looking statements will prove to be correct. Important
factors that could cause actual results to differ mate-
rially from those expressed or implied by the for-
ward-looking statements, or "cautionary statements,"
include, but are not limited to: (1) our ability to timely
build and/or open facilities as planned, profitably
manage such facilities and successfully integrate
such facilities into our operations without substantial
additional costs; (2) the instability of foreign
exchange rates, exposing us to currency risks in
Australia, New Zealand and South Africa, or other
countries in which we may choose to conduct our
business; (3) an increase in unreimbursed labor
rates; (4) our ability to expand and diversify our cor-
rectional and mental health services; (5) our ability to
win management contracts for which we have sub-
mitted proposals and to retain existing management
contracts; (6) our ability to raise new project devel-
opment capital given the often short-term nature of
the customers' commitment to use newly developed
facilities; (7) our ability to reactivate our Jena,
Louisiana facility, or to sublease or coordinate the
sale of the facility with the owner of the property,
Correctional Properties Trust, or CPV; (8) our ability
to accurately project the size and growth of the
domestic and international privatized corrections
industry; (9) our ability to estimate the government's
level of dependency on privatized correctional serv-
ices; (10) our ability to develop long-term earnings
visibility; (11) our ability to obtain future financing at
competitive rates; (12) our exposure to rising general
insurance costs; (13) our exposure to claims for
which we are uninsured; (14) our exposure to rising
inmate medical costs; (15) our ability to maintain
occupancy rates at our facilities; (16) our ability to
manage costs and expenses relating to ongoing liti-
gation arising from our operations; (17) our ability to
accurately estimate on an annual basis, loss
reserves related to general liability, workers compen-
sation and automobile liability claims; (18) the ability
of our government customers to secure budgetary
appropriations to fund their payment obligations to
us; and (19) other factors contained in our filings
with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or
the SEC, including, but not limited to, those detailed
in our annual report on Form 10-K, our Form 10-Qs
and our Form 8-Ks filed with the SEC. We undertake
no obligation to update publicly any forward-looking
statements, whether as a result of new information,
future events or otherwise. All subsequent written
and oral forward-looking statements attributable to
us, or persons acting on our behalf, are expressly
qualified in their entirety by the cautionary state-
ments referred to above.


